



# Exploring cellular toxicity mechanisms and immunotherapeutic potential of TDP-43 in ALS/FTD

Dissertation

zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Naturwissenschaften an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

vorgelegt von

Henrick Riemenschneider

aus

Marburg

Jahr

2023

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität München

Betreuer:	Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Dr. h.c. Christian Haass
Zweitgutachterin:	PD Dr. rer. nat. Florence Bareyre
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. med. Thomas Gudermann
Tan dan mu'n dliab an Deilfan m	
i ag der mundlichen Prufung:	26. Juli 2024

Meinen Großeltern -

in unendlicher Dankbarkeit und Liebe

Don't ever let somebody tell you... you can't do something. Not even me. You got a dream... you gotta protect it. People can't do somethin' themselves, they wanna tell you you can't do it. If you want somethin', go get it. Period.

- Chris Gardner in "The Pursuit of Happyness"

# Table of contents

List of abbreviations	4
Publications of this thesis	8
Zusammenfassung	9
Summary	12
I. Introduction	14
1. The ALS/FTD disease spectrum	14
1.1. Clinical manifestations	14
1.1.1. ALS	14
1.1.2. FTD	15
1.1.3. ALS/FTD	16
1.2. Genetics	16
1.3. Neuropathology	18
1.4. Current treatment options	21
2. TDP-43 as the central protein in ALS/FTD	23
2.1. TDP-43 structure	23
2.2. Physiological TDP-43 functions	25
2.3. Types of TDP-43 self-assembly and their implications in dise	ease27
2.3.1. TDP-43 aggregation	27
2.3.2. The amyloidogenic nature of TDP-43	28
2.3.3. The toxic potential of TDP-43 aggregates	31
2.3.4. TDP-43 C-terminal fragments	34
2.3.5. Liquid-Liquid Phase Separation of TDP-43	36
2.3.6. Aberrant phase transitions within stress granules may d	rive
TDP-43 proteinopathy	
2.3.7. Post-translational modifications beyond C-terminal	
fragmentation: phosphorylation and ubiquitination	40
2.3.8. Prion-like spreading of TDP-43	42

2.4. The protein quality control system and its relevance to TDP-43	}
proteinopathies	44
2.4.1. Molecular chaperones	44
2.4.2. The ubiquitin-proteasome system and autophagy as the	
principal cellular clearance pathways	46
3. Active and passive vaccination targeting pathological proteins in	
neurodegenerative diseases	48
3.1. Immunological basics of active and passive immunization	49
3.2. Vaccination approaches in preclinical and clinical studies	50
3.3. Proposed mechanisms of antibody therapy	52
4. Aims of this work	56
II. Publications and contributions	57
1. Publication I	57
2. Publication II	58
References	59
Acknowledgements	99
Affidavit	.101

This work is licensed under CC BY-SA 4.0 https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/

# List of abbreviations

Aa	Amino acids
Αβ	Amyloid β
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
ALS-TDP	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with underlying TDP-43 pathology
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
ASO	Antisense oligonucleotide
ATG	Autophagy-related protein
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
bvFTD	Behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia
C9orf72	Chromosome 9 open reading frame 72 (C9 for short)
CCNF	Cyclin F
CDC7	Cell division cycle kinase 7
CE	Cryptic exon
CFTR	CF transmembrane conductance regulator
CHMP2B	Charged multivesicular body protein 2B
CK1δ / ε or 2	Casein kinase $1\delta / \epsilon$ or 2
CMA	Chaperone-mediated autophagy
CNS	Central nervous system
CpG ODN	CpG oligodeoxynucleotide
CR	Conserved region (within in the C-terminal domain of TDP-43)
cryo-EM	Cryo(genic)-electron microscopy
cryo-ET	Cryo(genic)-electron tomography
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CTD	C-terminal domain
CTF	C-terminal fragment (of TDP-43)
DN	Dystrophic neurite
DPR protein	Dipeptide repeat protein
DUB	Deubiquitinating enzyme
EIF4G1	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4 gamma 1
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum

Fab	Antigen-binding fragment
fALS/fFTD	Familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis / familial frontotemporal
	dementia
Fc	Crystallizable fragment
FcR (FcγR / FcRn)	Fc receptor (class γ / neonatal)
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FTD	Frontotemporal dementia
FTLD	Frontotemporal lobar degeneration
FTLD-TDP	Frontotemporal lobar degeneration with underlying TDP-43
	pathology
FUS	Fused in sarcoma
G3BP1	G3BP stress granule assembly factor 1
GCI	Glial cytoplasmic inclusion
GOF	Gain-of-function
GRN	Progranulin
HDAC6	Histone deacetylase 6
hnRNP	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein
hnRNPA1 / A2B1	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A1 / A2B1
HSF-1	Heat-shock transcription factor-1
HSP	Heat-shock protein
IDR	Intrinsically disordered region
lgG	Immunoglobulin G
LARKS	Low-complexity, aromatic-rich, kinked segments
LATE	Limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy
LCD	Low-complexity domain
LLPS	Liquid-liquid phase separation
LMN	Lower motor neuron
LOF	Loss-of-function
IvPPA	Logopenic variant primary progressive aphasia
MAb	Monoclonal antibody
MAPT	Microtubule-associated protein tau
MATR3	Matrin 3
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex

MLO	Membraneless organelle
MND	Motor neuron disease
NCI	Neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions
NES	Nuclear export signal
NfL	Neurofilament light chain
NFT	Neurofibrillary tangle
nfvPPA	Non-fluent variant primary progressive aphasia
NLS	Nuclear localization signal
NMD	Nonsense-mediated decay
NNI	Neuronal nuclear inclusions
NTD	N-terminal domain
OPTN	Optineurin
ρ38α ΜΑΡΚ	P38α mitogen-activated protein kinase
PABP-1	Poly-A binding protein-1
PAR	Poly(ADP-ribose)
PET	Positron emission tomography
PP1	Protein phosphatase 1
PPA	Primary progressive aphasia
PQC	Protein quality control
PrLD	Prion-like domain
PrP	Prion protein
pTDP-43	Phosphorylated TDP-43
PTM	Post-translational modification
RBP	RNA-binding protein
rNLS8	Regulatable NLS8 (or NEFH-tTA/tetO-hTDP-43∆NLS bigenic
	mice)
RNP	Ribonucleoprotein
RRM	RNA recognition motif
sALS / sFTD	Sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis / sporadic frontotemporal
	dementia
scFv	Single-chain variable fragment
SG	Stress granule
SOD1	Superoxide dismutase 1

SQSTM1	Sequestosome 1 / p62
SUMO	Small ubiquitin-related modifier
svPPA	Semantic variant primary progressive aphasia
TARDBP	Transactive response (TAR) DNA-binding protein
TBK1	TANK binding kinase 1
TDP-43	Transactive response (TAR) DNA-binding protein of 43 kDa
TfR	Transferrin receptor
TIA1	T-cell-restricted intracellular antigen 1
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TMEM106B	Transmembrane protein 106B
TRIM21	Tripartite motif-containing protein 21
TTBK1 / 2	Tau tubulin kinase 1 / 2
UBE2E3	Ubiquitin conjugating enzyme E2 E3
UBQLN2	Ubiquilin 2
UMN	Upper motor neuron
UPS	Ubiquitin-proteasome system
VCP	Valosin containing protein

# Publications of this thesis

# I. Gel-like inclusions of C-terminal fragments of TDP-43 sequester stalled proteasomes in neurons

**Riemenschneider, H.**\*, Guo, Q.\*, Bader, J., Frottin, F., Farny, D., Kleinberger, G., Haass, C., Mann, M., Hartl, F. U., Baumeister, W., Hipp, M. S., Meissner, F., Fernández-Busnadiego, R., Edbauer, D.

(\* co-first authorship)

EMBO Rep 2022 Apr 19. Volume: 23(6), e53890 doi: 10.15252/embr.202153890

# II. Targeting the glycine-rich domain of TDP-43 with antibodies prevents its aggregation *in vitro* and reduces neurofilament levels *in vivo*

**Riemenschneider, H.**, Simonetti, F.<sup>#</sup>, Sheth, U.<sup>#</sup>, Katona, E.<sup>#</sup>, Roth, S., Hutten, S., Farny, D., Michaelsen, M., Nuscher, B., Schmidt, M. K., Flatley, A., Schepers, A., Gruijs da Silva, L. A., Zhou, Q., Klopstock, T., Liesz, A., Arzberger, T., Herms, J., Feederle, R., Gendron, T. F., Dormann, D., Edbauer, D.

(<sup>#</sup> equal contribution)

Acta Neuropathol Commun 2023 Jul 11. Volume: 11(1), 112 doi: 10.1186/s40478-023-01592-z

# Zusammenfassung

Die Amyotrophe Lateralsklerose (ALS) und die Frontotemporale Demenz (FTD) sind zwei tödlich verlaufende neurodegenerative Erkrankungen, die aufgrund ihrer sich stark überschneidenden klinischen, genetischen und pathologischen Merkmale heute als Endpunkte eines kontinuierlichen Krankheitsspektrums angesehen werden. Eine der auffälligsten Gemeinsamkeiten ist das Vorhandensein von charakteristischen neuronalen, zytoplasmatischen Einschlüssen, die TDP-43 enthalten und bei fast allen ALS-Fällen sowie bei etwa der Hälfte der FTD-Patienten nachgewiesen werden können.

TDP-43 ist ein vorwiegend nukleäres RNA-bindendes Protein, das entscheidend an Spleißvorgängen beteiligt ist und aus einer gefalteten N-terminalen und einer weitgehend unstrukturierten C-terminalen Domäne besteht, die durch zwei RNA-bindende Domänen (*engl.* RRM1 & RRM2) voneinander getrennt sind. Bei ALS und FTD verlagert sich TDP-43 allerdings aus dem Zellkern und aggregiert im Zytoplasma von Neuronen und Gliazellen, was zu einer dualen Schädigung durch Funktionsverlust im Zellkern und toxischen Funktionsgewinn im Zytoplasma führt. In Einschlüssen liegt TDP-43 hyperphosphoryliert, ubiquitiniert und häufig in C-terminale Fragmente (CTFs) gespalten vor. Da TDP-43-positive Ablagerungen stark mit der Neurodegeneration bei ALS/FTD korrelieren, ist die Untersuchung ihrer Bildung, Struktur und neurotoxischen Mechanismen von großer Bedeutung für ein tieferes Verständnis der Pathogenese und könnte neue therapeutische Optionen eröffnen.

Immer mehr Hinweise legen nahe, dass sich TDP-43 in flüssigkeitsähnliche zelluläre Kompartimente aufteilen kann, die durch einen als Phasentrennung bekannten Prozess entstehen. Unter pathologischen Bedingungen kann phasensepariertes TDP-43, vermutlich über Zwischenzustände, in feste Einschlüsse übergehen. Die Ultrastruktur von aggregiertem TDP-43 ist seit Langem umstritten. Neuere Daten haben jedoch gezeigt, dass es zumindest im Endstadium der Krankheit eine amyloidähnliche Konformation annimmt, die typischerweise auch bei Proteinen anderer neurodegenerativer Erkrankungen beobachtet wird.

Aufgrund der Bedeutung von TDP-43-Einschlüssen für ALS und FTD habe ich im ersten Projekt dieser Arbeit die **Aggregations- und Toxizitätsmechanismen des am häufigsten nachgewiesenen und zur Aggregation neigenden CTF "TDP-25"** (ein 25 kDa großes TDP-43-Fragment) analysiert. Zu diesem Zweck etablierte ich Zellkulturmodelle aus primären Neuronen, die Wildtyp-TDP-25 oder eine TDP-25-Variante mit mehreren unabhängig voneinander pathogenen ALS-Mutationen exprimieren. Die Eigenschaften der resultierenden Einschlüsse habe ich mit denen bekannter flüssigkeitsund festkörperähnlicher zellulärer Kompartimente verglichen. Während die **TDP-25-Aggregate gelartige biophysikalische Eigenschaften** aufwiesen, ergab eine

9

kollaborative Untersuchung ihrer Ultrastruktur in situ mittels Kryo-Elektronentomographie, dass sie amorph sind. Erstaunlicherweise sequestrieren TDP-25-Einschlüsse 26S-Proteasomen, die praktisch alle in einem Substrat-verarbeitenden Übergangszustand "blockiert" vorliegen, was auf ihre proteolytische Inaktivität hindeutet. In Übereinstimmung mit der Anhäufung von funktionell beeinträchtigten Proteasomen konnte ich zeigen, dass die zelluläre Proteostase in TDP-25-exprimierenden Zellen beeinträchtigt war, was durch ALS-Mutationen weiter verstärkt wurde (Publikation I). Wie für die meisten anderen neurodegenerativen Erkrankungen gibt es auch für ALS/FTD kaum wirksame, geschweige denn kurative Therapien. Ein vielversprechender therapeutischer Ansatz ist jedoch die Bekämpfung der zur Aggregation neigenden Proteine durch aktive oder passive Immunisierung. Dies wurde kürzlich durch die deutliche Reduktion von Amyloid- $\beta$  (A $\beta$ )-Plaques und die klinische Verbesserung bei Alzheimer-Patienten nach Behandlung mit potenten monoklonalen Antikörpern (engl. mAbs) gegen Aß gezeigt. Auf Grundlage dieser Erkenntnisse und einzelner vielversprechender Ergebnisse von TDP-43-Antikörpertherapien in Mausmodellen habe ich eine systematische Suche nach sicheren und wirksamen Epitopen mittels aktiver Immunisierung durchgeführt. Dazu habe ich 15 Peptidantigene mit hoher prognostizierter Immunogenität ausgewählt, die zusammen das gesamte TDP-43-Protein abbilden. Bei der Immunisierung von Wildtyp-Mäusen wurden die Ovalbumin-konjugierten Peptide gut vertragen und die meisten von ihnen riefen deutliche Antikörperantworten hervor, sodass wir ein Panel neuer mAbs für künftige passive Immunisierungsstudien erstellen konnten. Anschließend kombinierte ich die zwei immunogensten Peptide aus jeder der vier Hauptdomänen von TDP-43, um ein induzierbares, aggressives ALS-Mausmodell (rNLS8) in einem präventiven Ansatz aktiv zu immunisieren. In Übereinstimmung mit den initialen Ergebnissen konnte ich für alle Peptidkombinationen antigenspezifische Antikörperantworten nachweisen. Unerwarteterweise verursachten die beiden hoch immunogenen N-terminalen Peptide eine Mausstamm-spezifische, akute Letalität, was ihre weitere Verwendung verhinderte. Innerhalb weniger Wochen nach Transgeninduktion entwickeln rNLS8-Mäuse ALS/FTD-ähnliche Merkmale wie Körpergewichtsverlust, phosphorylierte TDP-43-Aggregate, Neuroinflammation, transkriptomische Veränderungen sowie neuroaxonale Schäden (gemessen an erhöhten Konzentrationen der leichten Kette des Neurofilaments, engl. NfL). Während die meisten Peptidkonjugate keine Wirkung zeigten, reduzierten Epitope in der C-terminalen Domäne von TDP-43 die NfL-Spiegel oder verbesserten die transkriptomischen Veränderungen leicht.

Darüber hinaus habe ich verschiedene *In-vitro*-Assays verwendet, um die Wirkungen der neuen mAbs auf krankheitsrelevante Prozesse zu untersuchen. **Nur solche mAbs, die gegen die C-terminale Domäne gerichtet sind, unterdrückten signifikant die**  **Phasentrennung, Aggregation sowie Aggregataufnahme in neuronenähnliche Zellen**. Dies steht im Einklang mit den positiven *In-vivo*-Effekten, wenn die C-terminale Region durch aktive Immunisierung adressiert wird (<u>Publikation II</u>).

Insgesamt unterstreicht meine hier vorgestellte Arbeit die Beeinträchtigung des Proteasoms als einen zentralen Pathomechanismus bei ALS/FTD und hebt bisher ungenutzte aktive sowie potentiell passive Immunisierungen, die auf die Cterminale Domäne von TDP-43 abzielen, als vielversprechende therapeutische Möglichkeiten zur Bekämpfung dieser Erkrankungen hervor.

# Summary

The two fatal neurodegenerative diseases, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and frontotemporal dementia (FTD), are considered to be at the extreme ends of a continuous disease spectrum due to their highly overlapping clinical, genetic, and pathological features. One of the most striking commonalities is the presence of characteristic neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions containing TDP-43, which are detected in almost all ALS cases as well as in about half of FTD patients.

TDP-43 is a predominantly nuclear RNA-binding protein that is critically involved in splicing and consists of a folded N-terminal and a largely unstructured C-terminal domain separated by two RNA recognition motifs (RRM1 & RRM2). However, in ALS and FTD, TDP-43 is mislocalized from the nucleus and aggregates in the cytoplasm of neurons and glia, suggesting a dual loss of nuclear function and cytoplasmic gain-of-function toxicity. TDP-43 within inclusions is hyperphosphorylated, ubiquitinated, and often cleaved into Cterminal fragments (CTFs). As TDP-43-positive deposits correlate strongly with neurodegeneration in ALS/FTD, the study of their formation, structure, and neurotoxic mechanisms is of great importance for a deeper understanding of disease pathogenesis and may open up new therapeutic options.

A growing body of evidence indicates that TDP-43 can partition into liquid-like cellular compartments that form through a process known as phase separation. Under pathological conditions, phase-separated TDP-43 may transition into solid inclusions, presumably through intermediate states. The ultrastructure of aggregated TDP-43 has long been debated, but recent data have revealed that, at least in end-stage disease, it adopts an amyloid-like conformation typical of proteins involved in neurodegenerative diseases.

Given the importance of TDP-43 inclusions in ALS and FTD, in the first project of this thesis, I analyzed the **aggregation and toxicity mechanisms of the most frequently detected CTF, the aggregation-prone "TDP-25"** (a TDP-43 fragment with a size of 25 kDa). To this end, I established primary neuron culture models expressing wild-type TDP-25 or a TDP-25 variant containing multiple independently pathogenic ALS mutations, and compared the properties of the resulting inclusions with those of known liquid- and solid-like cellular compartments. While I found the **TDP-25 aggregates to have gel-like biophysical properties**, a collaborative investigation of their *in situ* ultrastructure by cryoelectron tomography revealed that they are amorphous. Importantly, **TDP-25 inclusions sequester 26S proteasomes**, virtually all of which are locked in a substrate processing state, implying their **proteolytic inactivity**.

Consistent with the sequestration of functionally compromised proteasomes, I observed that **cellular proteostasis was impaired in TDP-25 expressing cells**, which was **exacerbated by ALS-causing mutations** (<u>publication I</u>).

As with most other neurodegenerative diseases, effective, let alone curative, therapies for ALS/FTD are sorely lacking. However, targeting aggregation-prone proteins via active or passive vaccination represents a promising therapeutic approach, as recently evidenced by the striking clearance of amyloid  $\beta$  (A $\beta$ ) plaques and clinical improvement in Alzheimer's disease patients following treatment with potent A $\beta$  monoclonal antibodies (mAbs).

Based on these findings and the encouraging results of single TDP-43 antibody therapies in mouse models, I conducted a systematic search for safe and effective epitopes in **TDP-43 using active vaccination**. For this purpose, I selected 15 peptide antigens with high predicted antigenicity scores that collectively map the entire TDP-43 protein. When used to immunize wild-type mice, the ovalbumin-conjugated peptides were well tolerated and most induced detectable antibody responses, allowing us to generate a panel of novel mAbs for future passive vaccination studies. Next, I combined the two most immunogenic peptides from each of the four major domains of TDP-43 to actively immunize an inducible, aggressive ALS mouse model (rNLS8) in a preventive approach. In line with the initial findings, I detected antigen-specific antibody responses for all peptide combinations. Unexpectedly, the two highly antigenic N-terminal peptides caused acute lethality in a strain-specific manner, thus precluding their further use. Within weeks after transgene induction, rNLS8 mice develop ALS/FTD-like features such as body weight loss, phosphorylated TDP-43 aggregates, neuroinflammation, transcriptomic changes, and neuroaxonal damage (as assessed by elevated levels of neurofilament light chain, NfL). While most peptide conjugates were ineffective, targeting epitopes in the Cterminal domain of TDP-43 reduced NfL levels or slightly ameliorated transcriptomic alterations.

Furthermore, I used different *in vitro* assays to study the impact of novel mAbs on diseaserelevant processes. Only **mAbs directed against the C-terminal domain markedly suppressed phase separation, aggregation, and aggregate uptake in neuron-like cells**, resonating with the beneficial *in vivo* effects when addressing this region via active immunization (<u>publication II</u>).

In conclusion, my work presented here emphasizes proteasome impairment as a cardinal pathomechanism in ALS/FTD and highlights previously unexploited active and potentially passive vaccination targeting the C-terminal domain of TDP-43 as promising therapeutic avenues to combat these diseases.

# I. Introduction

## 1. The ALS/FTD disease spectrum

#### 1.1. Clinical manifestations

#### 1.1.1. ALS

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), more commonly referred to as Lou Gehrig's disease in the United States, is a multisystemic and currently incurable neurological disorder marked by progredient loss of upper and lower motor neurons (UMNs, LMNs) in the central nervous system (CNS). While the cell bodies of motor neurons are localized in the motor cortex (UMNs), brainstem and spinal cord (LMNs), their long axons project either directly or indirectly to peripheral muscles to innervate them. This neuro-muscular connection forms the basis of all (in)voluntary movement in humans, and the progressive degeneration of motor neurons in patients with ALS consequentially results in spasticity, hyperreflexia (due to UMN loss), as well as fasciculations, muscle weakness and atrophy (due to LMN loss) (van Es *et al.*, 2017).

The first symptoms typically appear in the fifth decade of life (van Es et al., 2017). However, the heterogeneous age of onset, clinical manifestations, and progression rates of ALS complicate and often delay clinical diagnosis by approximately one year (Richards et al., 2020). More than half of ALS patients have pure motor involvement (classical ALS). Depending on whether the degeneration begins in the cervical and lumbar regions of the spinal cord or in the brainstem, the initial symptoms may vary: while 2/3 of cases present with spinal-onset disease, usually manifesting as unilateral weakness of the upper or lower limb muscles, the remaining 1/3 of bulbar-onset cases suffer from spastic dysarthria and dysphagia due to weakness of the pharyngeal, tongue, and facial muscles (van Es et al., 2017; Feldman et al., 2022). Bulbar-onset patients generally have a worse prognosis, as do the very few cases that present with respiratory onset (Chiò et al., 2011; van Es et al., 2017). Rarer variants of ALS with exclusive upper or lower motor neuron involvement include primary lateral sclerosis or flail arm, flail leg, and progressive muscular atrophy, respectively (Feldman et al., 2022). After focal onset, the disease gradually spreads to other regions of the body (Ravits & La Spada, 2009), eventually affecting the diaphragm and causing death from respiratory failure 3-4 years after the onset of symptoms (van Es et al., 2017). In ventilated patients, pneumonia is a life-threatening complication (Burkhardt et al., 2017). Overall, ALS is the most common motor neuron disease (MND) in adults, with an average global prevalence of ~4.4 per 100,000 individuals (Xu et al., 2020) and a lifetime risk of ~1/350 for men and ~1/440 for women (Ryan et al., 2019). As with other neurodegenerative diseases (Dorsey *et al.*, 2007; Hebert *et al.*, 2013), the number of ALS cases is predicted to increase in the upcoming years (Arthur *et al.*, 2016).

#### 1.1.2. FTD

The umbrella term frontotemporal dementia (FTD) encompasses several clinically diverse syndromes that primarily affect patients' behavior or language functions. FTD accounts for 5-15% of all cases of dementia and, unlike the far more prevalent Alzheimer's disease (AD), mostly develops in the presenium (age <65 years) (Rademakers *et al.*, 2012). The estimated lifetime risk is ~1/750, whereas the overall population prevalence of 11 per 100,000 individuals slightly exceeds that of ALS (Coyle-Gilchrist *et al.*, 2016). Depending on which region of the frontal and temporal lobes degenerates predominantly, FTD is clinically divided into behavioral variant FTD (bvFTD) and primary progressive aphasia (PPA), with the latter including a semantic variant (svPPA) and a non-fluent variant (nfvPPA) (Sivasathiaseelan *et al.*, 2019).

Among these subtypes, bvFTD is the most common and hereditary form (Rohrer *et al.*, 2009). It regularly manifests with profound personality changes and progredient executive dysfunction, such as apathy, compulsive routines, reduced empathy, altered eating behavior, or loss of social/emotional awareness, while visuospatial functions and episodic memory are usually preserved (Rascovsky *et al.*, 2011; Sivasathiaseelan *et al.*, 2019).

Beyond bvFTD, asymmetric (usually left hemispheric) atrophy in specific frontal or temporal areas of the language network represents the neuroanatomical correlate of PPA. It causes patients to suffer from advancing deterioration of language abilities and verbal expression (Sivasathiaseelan *et al.*, 2019). The semantic variant (also known as semantic dementia) is primarily characterized by a loss of vocabulary, which results in difficulty naming familiar objects and comprehending individual words. In the non-fluent or agrammatic variant, speech production and sentence formation are impaired, leading to slurred speech and progressive grammar deficits. A third subtype of PPA, the logopenic variant (lvPPA), is most commonly associated with AD neuropathology (Mesulam *et al.*, 2008; Rabinovici *et al.*, 2008) and exhibits word-finding pauses as well as problems recalling sentences and phrases owing to defects in the verbal working memory (Gorno-Tempini *et al.*, 2008). Although often distinct at onset, clinical variants of FTD may converge during disease progression as larger, initially uninvolved CNS areas become affected (Kertesz *et al.*, 2005).

On average, people with FTD have a life expectancy of 6-11 years from symptom onset (Bang *et al.*, 2015), with semantic dementia sometimes reported to have a longer survival time (Roberson *et al.*, 2005).

#### 1.1.3. ALS/FTD

A growing body of evidence indicates that, in addition to the classical and isolated presentations of ALS and FTD, a substantial proportion of affected individuals exhibit clinical features of both disorders. In fact, up to 50% of patients diagnosed with ALS show signs of FTD and have cognitive (ALSci, ALS with cognitive impairment), behavioral (ALSbi, ALS with behavioral impairment), or combined (ALScbi) symptoms (Strong *et al.*, 2009; van Es *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, 10-15% of patients even meet the full diagnostic criteria for FTD (ALS-FTD), most of whom develop bvFTD (Phukan *et al.*, 2012). Conversely, mild motor symptoms are observed in ~30% of FTD patients, while one in eight FTD cases develops manifest ALS (Lomen-Hoerth *et al.*, 2002; Burrell *et al.*, 2011). The co-occurrence of motor deficits with behavioral and cognitive symptoms not only requires additional care management, but is also associated with a more aggressive disease course and shorter survival (Hodges *et al.*, 2003; Olney *et al.*, 2005).

The evident clinical overlap between ALS and FTD has led to the concept that these disorders should not be regarded as two separate, unrelated entities, but rather as opposite ends of a broad disease continuum along which diverse clinical presentations exist. This notion is strongly supported by the genetic and neuropathological characteristics of both diseases, as discussed in the following two sections.

#### 1.2. Genetics

Based on the familial occurrence of the disease, patients of the ALS/FTD spectrum are categorized as either sporadic (sALS or sFTD, without a clear family history) or familial (fALS or fFTD). While up to 95% of ALS cases are considered sporadic and only 5-10% are of the familial form (Byrne *et al.*, 2011), 30-40% of FTD patients have a family history of dementia (Rohrer *et al.*, 2009; Greaves & Rohrer, 2019).

With advances in genomic sequencing technologies, familial clusters of ALS and FTD have been attributed to monogenic mutations, most of which are inherited in an autosomal dominant manner. Importantly, pathogenic gene variants are also detected in ~10% of seemingly sporadic ALS and FTD cases (Turner *et al.*, 2017). The first ALS gene identified was *SOD1*, whose mutations are highly penetrant and account for ~20% of fALS (Rosen *et al.*, 1993; Zou *et al.*, 2017). While *SOD1* (superoxide dismutase 1) normally encodes an antioxidant enzyme (Fridovich, 1995; Zelko *et al.*, 2002), its ALS-associated missense mutations result in a misfolded and aggregation-prone protein that is thought to exert toxic gain-of-function effects (Gurney *et al.*, 1994; Shibata *et al.*, 1996; Bruijn *et al.*, 1998). Whereas *SOD1* variants are almost exclusively linked to pure ALS, the two most commonly affected genes in FTD but not ALS are *MAPT* (microtubule-associated protein tau) and *GRN* (progranulin) (Bennion Callister & Pickering-Brown, 2014), each responsible for 5-20% of all fFTD cases (Rademakers *et al.*, 2004; Gijselinck *et al.*, 2008).

FTD-causing mutations in the *MAPT* gene (Hutton *et al.*, 1998; Poorkaj *et al.*, 1998; Spillantini *et al.*, 1998) lead to neuronal aggregation of the encoded protein, tau, and heterozygous loss-of-function (LOF) mutations in *GRN* result in null alleles, causing FTD via haploinsufficiency (Baker *et al.*, 2006; Cruts *et al.*, 2006). Although certain genetic mutations are found exclusively in ALS or FTD, many other genes have been causally linked to both, with the same mutations sometimes leading to strikingly different clinical presentations within affected pedigrees. This observation reinforces the notion that ALS and FTD represent two extreme poles of a continuous disease spectrum.

Among such gene variants, a first intronic hexanucleotide repeat expansion of GGGGCC  $(G_4C_2)$ , located between two alternative start exons of the C9orf72 (chromosome 9 open reading frame 72) gene, has emerged as the most frequent genetic cause of both familial and sporadic forms of pure and mixed ALS/FTD (C9-ALS/FTD). In people of European descent, the C9orf72 mutation affects 10% of all patients, including 40% of fALS, 25% of fFTD, and 80% of fALS-FTD cases (DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011; Renton et al., 2011; Smeyers et al., 2021), but is uncommon in Asian populations (Majounie et al., 2012). While the  $G_4C_2$  repeat size is generally below 30 in healthy individuals, it increases to several hundred or even thousands in heterozygous mutation carriers (DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011). Apart from the previously discussed variants responsible for the majority of genetic ALS and FTD cases, several other disease-associated genes have been uncovered, each of which is affected in no more than 5% of familial cases and even fewer sporadic cases. For example, FUS (fused in sarcoma) mutations underlie an aggressive, juvenile form of ALS (Kwiatkowski et al., 2009; Vance et al., 2009; Bäumer et al., 2010), but appear to be absent in isolated FTD, even though the FUS protein aggregates in both diseases (Kwiatkowski et al., 2009; Neumann, Rademakers, et al., 2009; Vance et al., 2009).

A seminal discovery was the identification of rare ALS/FTD-causing missense mutations in *TARDBP* (TAR DNA binding protein; Kabashi *et al.*, 2008; Sreedharan *et al.*, 2008). Since the *TARDBP* gene encodes TDP-43, the protein found aggregated in a large number of ALS and FTD patients (*see next section*), the existence of disease-causing gene variants implies a pivotal role for TDP-43 in the pathogenesis of these diseases. Following an autosomal dominant inheritance pattern (Rutherford *et al.*, 2008), *TARDBP* mutations are most prevalent in fALS (~3% of cases), but are also found in sALS (~1.5%), ALS/FTD, and, although extremely uncommon, in pure FTD (Buratti, 2015). Importantly, the >50 identified point mutations are predominantly located in the C-terminal region of TDP-43 and their effects have been extensively studied *in vitro* and *in vivo*. While no consensus pathomechanism can be delineated, several functional consequences of these variants are discussed, including an increased tendency to aggregate as well as altered protein stability, subcellular localization, and protein-protein interactions (Buratti, 2015). Many of the more than 40 genes causally linked to the ALS/FTD spectrum to date cluster into key molecular pathways known to be affected in disease (Nguyen *et al.*, 2018). For instance, disease-associated variants in *TARDBP* and *FUS*, but also in *TIA1* (T-cell-restricted intracellular antigen 1; Mackenzie *et al.*, 2017), *MATR3* (matrin 3; Johnson *et al.*, 2014), *hnRNPA1*, and *hnRNPA2B1* (heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A1/A2B1; Kim *et al.*, 2013) perturb different steps of cellular RNA metabolism.

Moreover, pathogenic mutations in *C9orf72*, *TBK1* (TANK binding kinase 1; Cirulli *et al.*, 2015; Freischmidt *et al.*, 2015), *OPTN* (optineurin; Maruyama *et al.*, 2010), *UBQLN2* (ubiquilin 2; Deng *et al.*, 2011), *VCP* (valosin containing protein; Watts *et al.*, 2004; Johnson *et al.*, 2010), *SQSTM1* (sequestosome 1/p62; Fecto *et al.*, 2011), *CHMP2B* (charged multivesicular body protein 2B; Skibinski *et al.*, 2005), and *CCNF* (cyclin F; Williams *et al.*, 2016) impair protein clearance by interfering with autophagy and the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS). Genetic variants in other pathways result in mitochondrial dysfunction or impaired cytoskeletal dynamics and axonal transport.

In addition to the causative mutations, several genes modify the risk of developing ALS or FTD, of which *TMEM106B* (transmembrane protein 106B) is an important example. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the coding and, more commonly, non-coding regions of *TMEM106B* greatly influence the risk of FTD, especially in heterozygous *GRN* mutation carriers (Van Deerlin *et al.*, 2010), but the underlying molecular mechanisms remain unclear.

Over the past 30 years, the discovery of genes associated with ALS and FTD has not only revealed common pathophysiological pathways, but has also paved the way for novel therapeutic interventions, some of which are currently entering the clinic. The list of established ALS/FTD genes continues to grow, accelerated by more accessible, cost-effective, and sophisticated sequencing methods. The ever-increasing use of artificial intelligence will further help to deepen the analysis of massive datasets, as recently exemplified by the use of machine learning algorithms to identify structural variants in risk genes for Lewy body dementia and FTD/ALS (Kaivola *et al.*, 2023).

#### 1.3. Neuropathology

Proteinaceous deposits detected in post-mortem CNS tissue are the molecular pathological signatures of various neurodegenerative disorders, including ALS and FTD, and explain why such diseases are termed "proteinopathies". These proteinopathies are categorized according to the principal protein constituents that accumulate in detergent-resistant, extra-, or intracellular inclusions. In a landmark discovery in 2006, ALS and FTD, whose neuropathological correlate is called frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD), were both found to be associated with inclusions that are immunopositive for the ubiquitously expressed DNA/RNA-binding protein TDP-43 (Arai *et al.*, 2006; Neumann *et al.*, 2006). Over the years, TDP-43 has been found aggregated within neuronal and glial

inclusions in almost all ALS cases (~97%, ALS-TDP) and in about half of all FTD patients (FTLD-TDP), classifying these diseases as TDP-43 proteinopathies (Ling *et al.*, 2013). In addition to the profound clinical and genetic overlap between ALS and FTD, the presence of TDP-43 pathology represents another crucial piece of the puzzle in completing the full picture of a disease continuum.

The affected CNS areas, these are first and foremost the motor cortex, brainstem, and anterior horn of the spinal cord in ALS as well as the frontotemporal cortex and dentate granule cells of the hippocampus in FTD, show p62-positive inclusions of ubiquitinated and hyperphosphorylated TDP-43 (Arai et al., 2006; Neumann et al., 2006; Hasegawa et al., 2008; Neumann, Kwong, et al., 2009; Mackenzie & Neumann, 2016). These deposits can appear as cytoplasmic or neuritic, less frequently nuclear, inclusions with compact round, skein-like, or granular morphology (Neumann et al., 2006; Davidson et al., 2007; Mori et al., 2008; Mackenzie et al., 2010). Phosphorylation in the C-terminal region of TDP-43, particularly at serines 403/404 and 409/410, is a highly disease-specific signature and allows sensitive detection of TDP-43 inclusions in post-mortem tissue (Neumann et al., 2006; Hasegawa et al., 2008; Neumann, Kwong, et al., 2009; Neumann et al., 2020). Moreover, C-terminal fragments (CTFs) derived from the full-length TDP-43 protein, among which TDP of ~25 kDa size (TDP-25) is the most prevalent, are detected mainly in cortical brain areas of FTD and ALS patients, but to a much lesser degree in the spinal cord of the latter (Neumann et al., 2006; Igaz et al., 2008; Arai et al., 2010; Tsuji, Nonaka, et al., 2012). Cytoplasmic accumulation and aggregation of TDP-43 is associated with clearance from the nuclear compartment where it predominantly resides under physiological conditions (Ayala, Zago, et al., 2008). This nuclear-to-cytoplasmic mislocalization is thought to be a central element in the pathogenesis of TDP-43 proteinopathies (Suk & Rousseaux, 2020).

Aberrant TDP-43 immunoreactivity in FTLD can be further subdivided into types A to E, depending on the morphological appearance, extent, and regional pattern of neuronal inclusions (Neumann *et al.*, 2021): FTLD-TDP type A is marked by abundant neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions (NCIs) as well as short, thick dystrophic neurites (DNs) in the upper cortical layers and manifests clinically as bvFTD or nfvPPA. FTD-causing mutations in *GRN* always lead to FTLD-TDP type A (Mackenzie *et al.*, 2006; Cairns *et al.*, 2007; Mackenzie & Neumann, 2017). A medium to large number of NCIs extending into deep cortical layers (mostly with a diffuse granular appearance) and a sparse amount of DNs characterize FTLD-TDP type B. Variants in *C9orf72* and *TBK1* can result in either FTLD-TDP type A or B (Snowden *et al.*, 2012; Koriath *et al.*, 2017). Long, thick DNs with scarce NCIs define FTLD-TDP type C, the most prevalent pathology in svPPA patients, whereas FTLD-TDP type D, so far exclusively linked to *VCP* mutations (Forman *et al.*, 2006; Neumann, Mackenzie, *et al.*, 2007), shows numerous neuronal nuclear inclusions (NNIs),

short DNs, and few NCIs. More recently, type E has been described with granulofilamentous NCIs and multiple fine-grained deposits in all layers of the neocortex (Lee *et al.*, 2017). Additionally, glial cytoplasmic inclusions (GCIs), predominantly in oligodendrocytes, are found in both FTLD-TDP and ALS-TDP (Mackenzie *et al.*, 2007; Neumann, Kwong, *et al.*, 2007).

TDP-43-negative FTLD cases mostly have tau-positive inclusions (FTLD-tau, ~45% of all FTD cases), while a minority show deposits that contain the RNA-binding protein FUS (termed FTLD-FET because other members of the FET protein family co-aggregate, ~9%) or that are solely positive for markers of the ubiquitin-proteasome system (FTLD-UPS, ~1%) (Neumann, Rademakers, *et al.*, 2009; Neumann *et al.*, 2011; Ling *et al.*, 2013).

As for ALS, those patients with pathogenic familial *SOD1* and *FUS* variants do not display TDP-43 pathology, but instead develop intracellular ubiquitinated SOD1- and FUS-positive inclusions, respectively (ALS-SOD1, 2% and ALS-FUS, <1%) (Mackenzie *et al.*, 2007; Tan *et al.*, 2007; Kwiatkowski *et al.*, 2009; Vance *et al.*, 2009).

Beyond ALS and FTD, TDP-43 pathology is also evident in several other neurodegenerative conditions. In 20-50% of AD cases, TDP-43 inclusions are detected in the limbic system (Amador-Ortiz et al., 2007; Higashi et al., 2007; Uryu et al., 2008; Arai et al., 2009), in addition to typical extracellular amyloid  $\beta$  (A $\beta$ ) plaques (Masters et al., 1985) and intracellular tau-reactive neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) (Grundke-Iqbal et al., 1986; Kosik et al., 1986; Goedert et al., 1988; Wischik et al., 1988). Importantly, the cooccurrence of TDP-43 pathology positively correlates with clinical severity and regional degeneration in AD (Josephs et al., 2008; Tremblay et al., 2011; Josephs et al., 2014). Another recently described TDP-43 proteinopathy, named "limbic-predominant agerelated TDP-43 encephalopathy" (LATE), occurs primarily in adults over the age of 80 and manifests with amnestic symptoms resembling AD (Nelson et al., 2019). LATE neuropathology is dominated by TDP-43 inclusions in the amygdala and other limbic regions, along with reduced cortical atrophy compared to FTD and only modest Aβ and NFT burden, although AD pathology may coexist. It has been estimated that up to 20% of clinically diagnosed AD patients aged  $\geq$  80 years may suffer from LATE and that LATE may be 100 times more common than FTD (Nelson et al., 2019), rendering it a potentially relevant topic for future TDP-43 research. Furthermore, pathological TDP-43 has also been described in Parkinson's disease ± dementia (Nakashima-Yasuda et al., 2007), dementia with Lewy bodies (Higashi et al., 2007; Arai et al., 2009), Huntington's disease (Schwab et al., 2008), and Guam Parkinson dementia complex (Hasegawa et al., 2007; Geser et al., 2008).

It should be noted, however, that even apparently neurologically unaffected individuals often develop some degree of neuropathological alteration with aging (Davis *et al.*, 1999; Elobeid *et al.*, 2016). Consistent with this notion, cytoplasmic inclusions of phosphorylated

TDP-43 have been reported in up to 30% of apparently healthy individuals aged 65 years or older (Geser *et al.*, 2010; Arnold *et al.*, 2013).

Finally, besides abnormal TDP-43 immunoreactivity, C9-ALS/FTD patients share additional unique neuropathological features. The massively expanded intronic hexanucleotide repeat in the *C9orf72* gene is bidirectionally transcribed into sense and antisense transcripts which accumulate as mostly nuclear RNA foci in neurons (DeJesus-Hernandez *et al.*, 2011; Gendron *et al.*, 2013; Lagier-Tourenne *et al.*, 2013; Mizielinska *et al.*, 2013; Mori, Weng, *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, through the unconventional process of repeat-associated non-AUG (RAN) translation (Zu *et al.*, 2011), these repetitive RNA transcripts give rise to five distinct dipeptide repeat (DPR) proteins – poly-GA (glycine-alanine), poly-GP (glycine-proline), poly-GR (glycine-arginine), poly-PR (proline-arginine), and poly-PA (proline-alanine) – that aggregate into cytoplasmic inclusions (Ash *et al.*, 2013; Gendron *et al.*, 2013; Mori, Arzberger, *et al.*, 2013; Mori, Weng, *et al.*, 2013; Zu *et al.*, 2013). Both RNA foci and DPR proteins have been demonstrated to exert toxic gain-of-functions, such as sequestration of critical cellular proteins, which may consequently promote TDP-43 pathology (Gitler & Tsuiji, 2016).

#### **1.4. Current treatment options**

To date, treatment options for ALS remain scarce, with only three, at best moderately effective, drugs approved since the disease was first described more than 150 years ago. Riluzole, an anti-glutamatergic compound thought to reduce excitotoxicity (Malgouris et al., 1989; Kretschmer et al., 1998; S. J. Wang et al., 2004), is currently the only drug approved in the European Union and has been reported to extend median survival by 2-3 months (Bensimon et al., 1994; Lacomblez et al., 1996; Bensimon et al., 2002; Miller et al., 2012). However, the clinical potential of riluzole may have been underestimated, as recent data suggest a survival benefit of up to 19 months upon treatment (Andrews et al., 2020). Edaravone, a free-radical scavenger that counteracts oxidative stress in cerebral ischemia (Abe et al., 1988), has not yet been shown to extend survival, but to reduce functional decline in a well-defined subset of ALS patients (Koji et al., 2017). This has allowed market access in several countries, including Japan and the United States, but not in the European Union. Nevertheless, the clinical utility of edaravone in broader populations remains questionable (Lunetta et al., 2020; Witzel et al., 2022). The most recent drug approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is AMX0035, a combination of the two small molecules taurursodiol and sodium phenylbutyrate, which is thought to alleviate mitochondrial dysfunction and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress (Paganoni et al., 2020). Initial clinical trials indicated a slowing of disease progression and a 6.5-month increase in survival (Paganoni et al., 2020; Paganoni et al., 2021). In addition to pharmacotherapy, progressive body weight loss due to chewing and swallowing

difficulties often requires nutritional support (e.g., via percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy), while respiratory insufficiency demands (non-invasive) ventilation. Both interventions have been reported to prolong survival in ALS patients (Spataro *et al.*, 2011; Andersen *et al.*, 2012).

For FTD, no disease-modifying medication is currently available, making the situation as unsatisfactory as for ALS. Symptomatic treatment of the diverse clinical presentations relies on the off-label use of drugs approved for other neurological disorders. Supported by reports of serotoninergic deficiency in FTD (Murley & Rowe, 2018), selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, a widely used class of antidepressants, appear to improve behavioral symptoms, while being well tolerated (Hughes et al., 2015). Trazodone, an antidepressant with agonistic and antagonistic effects on different serotonin receptors, has likewise been shown to alleviate behavioral, but not cognitive symptoms in FTD patients (Lebert et al., 2004). Although antipsychotics can improve agitation and psychosis (Moretti et al., 2003), they should be prescribed with caution due to increased mortality and extrapyramidal side effects to which FTD patients are especially susceptible (Pijnenburg et al., 2003). The therapeutic benefit of dopaminergic drugs such as bromocriptine for the language variant of FTD (Reed et al., 2004) or carbidopa/levodopa to treat Parkinsonian symptoms (Chow & Mendez, 2002) remains controversial. Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and the NMDA receptor inhibitor memantine, all routinely used to treat mild cognitive impairment or AD, failed to slow cognitive decline in FTD and even had adverse effects (Mendez et al., 2007). Overall, evidence for off-label medications is limited, and nonpharmacologic interventions such as speech and occupational therapy add to the sparse treatment options for FTD. Meanwhile, some genetic forms of ALS/FTD have been therapeutically targeted using antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs). ASOs are short, synthetic DNA sequences that selectively bind to (pre-)mRNAs to induce their degradation via the endonuclease RNAse H or to modulate alternative splicing by steric blockade (Bennett, 2019). Through these mechanisms, they can both suppress the expression of unwanted or toxic proteins and correct splicing defects to restore normal gene expression. In a Phase III study, tofersen, an ASO directed against both wild-type and mutant SOD1 mRNA, demonstrated safety and reduced cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of SOD1 and neurofilament light chain (NfL), the latter being a component of the axonal cytoskeleton and now routinely used as a biomarker showing elevated levels in ALS/FTD biofluids (Verde et al., 2021). Based on these findings, tofersen received accelerated FDA approval for the treatment of ALS, even though the trial did not statistically meet the primary clinical endpoints (Miller et al., 2022; Blair, 2023). Equally promising is the development of ulefnersen, formerly known as jacifusen, which targets the P525L mutant FUS associated with aggressive early-onset ALS and has shown improvements in clinical and pathological parameters in compassionate use cases (Korobeynikov et al., 2022). Ulefnersen is currently being

evaluated in a Phase III clinical trial. In contrast, further development of two independent ASOs directed against the sense-strand mediated RNA and DPR protein toxicity in *C9orf72* ALS/FTD was discontinued after Phase I/II trials revealed no improvement or even worsening of clinical outcomes (Wave Life Sciences, 23 May 2023; Biogen & Ionis Pharmaceuticals, 28 March 2022). However, antisense-targeting oligonucleotides, which have not yet been clinically tested, may perform better (Rothstein *et al.*, 2023). While the efficacy of some of these ASO therapies is encouraging and demonstrates that

the disease course of ALS/FTD can be significantly improved, these interventions are relevant for only a small proportion of patients. The vast majority of cases do not have a causative gene variant, so there remains an urgent need for adequate treatments. Given the success of lowering disease-causing proteins with ASO therapy, strategies to modify pathological TDP-43 appear to be an attractive approach for patients with underlying TDP-43 proteinopathy.

## 2. TDP-43 as the central protein in ALS/FTD

#### 2.1. TDP-43 structure

As outlined in the previous sections, TDP-43 plays a central role in the pathogenesis of ALS and FTD. Transactive response (TAR) DNA-binding protein of 43 kDa, or TDP-43 for short, is an essential 414 amino acid long protein with strong evolutionary conservation regarding sequence, structure, and function (H. Y. Wang *et al.*, 2004; Ayala *et al.*, 2005; Romano *et al.*, 2014). In humans, the TDP-43 protein is encoded by *TARDBP*, a six-exon gene located on chromosome 1 (H. Y. Wang *et al.*, 2004).

Structurally, TDP-43 consists of four major functional domains: a well-folded N-terminal domain (NTD), two highly conserved RNA recognition motifs (RRM1 and RRM2), and an unstructured glycine-rich C-terminal domain (CTD) (François-Moutal *et al.*, 2019) (**Figure 1**).

Multiple independent studies have reported that the N-terminal region (amino acids, aa 1-100) reversibly homo-dimerizes or -oligomerizes, which appears to be crucial for proper physiological functions of TDP-43, such as splicing regulation (Shiina *et al.*, 2010; Chang *et al.*, 2012; Wang *et al.*, 2013; Y. J. Zhang *et al.*, 2013; Afroz *et al.*, 2017; Jiang *et al.*, 2017; Mompeán *et al.*, 2017; Wang *et al.*, 2018). While the NTD has been shown to be required for the toxic aggregation of TDP-43 *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Y. J. Zhang *et al.*, 2013; Sasaguri *et al.*, 2016), it remains disputed whether its self-assembly promotes or inhibits the pathological aggregation of the full-length protein (Y. J. Zhang *et al.*, 2013; Afroz *et al.*, 2017; Jiang *et al.*, 2017). However, monomeric TDP-43 that is unable to N-terminally multimerize due to the insertion of mutations has recently been demonstrated to induce TDP-43 insolubility and further pathology (Afroz *et al.*, 2017; Oiwa *et al.*, 2023). These findings resonate with an aggregation-preventing effect of the multimerized (presumably tetrameric) NTD (Afroz *et al.*, 2017; Jiang *et al.*, 2017). Notably, the NTD is involved in sequestration of full-length TDP-43 into inclusions (Budini *et al.*, 2015; Romano *et al.*, 2015). Cellular studies have shown that the first ten N-terminal residues of TDP-43 are crucial for its functions, as their loss disrupts the proper folding, dimerization, and exonskipping activity of TDP-43 (Y. J. Zhang *et al.*, 2013).

The N-terminal region also contains a conventional bipartite nuclear localization signal (NLS, aa 82-98) that mediates active nuclear import of TDP-43 through interaction with importin- $\alpha/\beta$  and whose disruption leads to cytoplasmic mislocalization and aggregation of TDP-43 (Winton *et al.*, 2008; Barmada *et al.*, 2010; Nishimura *et al.*, 2010).

As a member of the large family of heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins (hnRNPs), TDP-43 interacts with nucleic acids primarily through its tandem RRM domains (RRM1: aa 106-176 and RRM2: aa 191-262) (Buratti & Baralle, 2001; Ayala *et al.*, 2005; Lukavsky *et al.*, 2013; Kuo *et al.*, 2014). Both RRM domains cooperatively mediate the preferential binding of TDP-43 to (TG)/(UG)-rich sequences within DNA/RNA molecules (Ayala *et al.*, 2005; Kuo *et al.*, 2009; Buratti *et al.*, 2010; Sephton *et al.*, 2011; Lukavsky *et al.*, 2013; Kuo *et al.*, 2009; Buratti *et al.*, 2010; Sephton *et al.*, 2011; Lukavsky *et al.*, 2013; Kuo *et al.*, 2014). A previously proposed nuclear export signal (NES, aa 239-249) within RRM2 (Ayala, Zago, *et al.*, 2008; Winton *et al.*, 2008) could not be validated to have an effect on TDP-43 localization (Archbold *et al.*, 2018; Ederle *et al.*, 2018; Pinarbasi *et al.*, 2018). Instead, passive diffusion controlled by RNA binding likely governs TDP-43 nuclear export (Ederle *et al.*, 2018; Pinarbasi *et al.*, 2018; Duan *et al.*, 2022; Dos Passos *et al.*, 2023).

Of the four functional domains within the TDP-43 protein, the approximately 140-residue spanning CTD (aa 274-414) has probably received the most attention to date as it harbors the majority of disease-causing mutations and many disease-specific post-translational modification (PTM) sites (Buratti, 2015; Sternburg *et al.*, 2022). Unlike the well-structured NTD and RRM domains, the C-terminal region is characterized by high intrinsic disorder and low sequence complexity (relative overrepresentation of glycine (G), serine (S), glutamine (Q), and asparagine (N) residues), which is why it is also referred to as a low-complexity domain (LCD) or glycine-rich domain (Santamaria *et al.*, 2017). At the subdomain level, the core segment of the CTD (aa 318-369) is flanked by two intrinsically disordered regions (IDRs) (aa 274-317 and 370-414), also termed GaroS1/2 due to the abundance of glycines, serines, and aromatic residues (Mompean *et al.*, 2016). The core segment itself consists of a hydrophobic patch (aa 318-340) and a Q/N-rich region (aa 341-369) (Fuentealba *et al.*, 2010), which can adopt either helical or amyloid-like conformations (Jiang *et al.*, 2013; Mompeán *et al.*, 2014; Conicella *et al.*, 2016; Lim *et al.*, 2016; Guenther, Cao, *et al.*, 2018; Cao *et al.*, 2019).

The CTD is reminiscent of a prion-like domain (PrLD) (Alberti *et al.*, 2009), regions that confer self-templating properties involved in protein spreading and that are commonly found in RNA-binding proteins (RBPs) associated with neurodegenerative diseases (King *et al.*, 2012).The CTD is engaged in protein-protein interactions (Buratti *et al.*, 2005; D'Ambrogio *et al.*, 2009; Cassel & Reitz, 2013; Majumder *et al.*, 2016), is relevant for splicing function (Ayala *et al.*, 2005; D'Ambrogio *et al.*, 2009; Ayala *et al.*, 2011), and triggers phase separation and aggregation, both disease-linked processes that will be discussed in the next sections.

The disordered, unfolded CTD, along with the flexible linkers bridging the different domains, poses a challenge to the experimental determination of the still unresolved structure of the entire TDP-43 protein (François-Moutal *et al.*, 2019).



**Figure 1**: TDP-43 is a multi-domain hnRNP protein with a folded N-terminal region, nucleic acid binding domains, and a largely unstructured C-terminal domain (CTD) driving self-assembly. The most prominent post-translational modifications (*discussed in detail in the following sections*) include proteolytic cleavage into C-terminal fragments of ~25 kDa size ('TDP-25'), disease-specific phosphorylation (P) of serines 375, 379, 403/404, 409/410, and ubiquitination (Ub), which has been experimentally confirmed at lysine 263 in the CTD, among other sites. Most of the ALS/FTD-associated *TARDBP* mutations are concentrated in the CTD, with those relevant to this work highlighted in bold. *NTD*, N-terminal domain; *NLS*, nuclear localization signal; *RRM1/2*, RNA recognitions motifs; *GaroS1/2*, intrinsically disordered regions enriched in glycines, aromatic residues, and serines;  $\Phi$ , hydrophobic patch; Q/N, glutamine- and asparagine-rich domain.

#### 2.2. Physiological TDP-43 functions

TDP-43 is a ubiquitously expressed and abundant protein (Huang *et al.*, 2010). It has a predominant nuclear localization, but due to its ability to shuttle between the nucleus and the cytoplasm, TDP-43 is also found at 30% in the cytoplasmic compartment and to a minor extent in mitochondria (Wang *et al.*, 2002; Ayala, Zago, *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2016; Huang *et al.*, 2020).

Initially, TDP-43 was reported to bind to the transactive response (TAR) DNA sequence of the HIV-1 genome, thereby regulating viral gene expression (Ou *et al.*, 1995). A few years later, Buratti and colleagues demonstrated that TDP-43 also associates with UG-rich RNA and modulates pre-mRNA alternative splicing of human *CFTR* exon 9 (Buratti *et al.*, 2001). Using more global approaches, TDP-43 has been found to interact with more than 6,000 mRNA targets, many of which are critically involved in neuronal development, synaptic integrity, and neurological diseases (Polymenidou *et al.*, 2011; Sephton *et al.*, 2011; Tollervey *et al.*, 2011; Xiao *et al.*, 2011). TDP-43 preferably binds to GU/UG tandem repeats within intronic regions, 3'-untranslated regions (3'-UTRs), splice sites, or non-coding RNAs, and thus controls alternative splicing.

An important interaction of TDP-43 is with its own pre-mRNA. Through alternative splicing of an intron in the 3'-UTR, leading to nonsense-mediated decay (NMD), this negative feedback loop autoregulates and tightly maintains physiological TDP-43 levels (Ayala et al., 2011; Polymenidou et al., 2011; Avendano-Vazquez et al., 2012). Nuclear loss of TDP-43 in model systems and disease causes abnormalities in mRNA splicing, which in turn leads to misregulation of up to thousands of genes and consequently disruption of cellular integrity (Polymenidou et al., 2011; Tollervey et al., 2011; Highley et al., 2014; C. Yang et al., 2014). A central mechanism of how TDP-43 regulates splicing events is by constitutively suppressing so-called "cryptic exons" (CEs) from being integrated into mRNA transcripts (Ling et al., 2015): CEs are exon-like intronic sequences that are normally spliced out during RNA maturation. TDP-43 binds to UG dinucleotide repeats near and within CEs, preventing their incorporation into final transcripts and thus acting as a splicing repressor. However, upon nuclear loss or malfunction of TDP-43, CEs are no longer repressed from insertion into mRNA, resulting in erroneous transcripts containing in-frame or frameshift mutations, premature stop codons (leading to NMD), alternative transcription start sites, or alternative polyadenylation sites (Mehta et al., 2023).

For example, the expression of *STMN2*, one of the most abundant transcripts in human motor neurons and fundamental to axonal regeneration (Mason *et al.*, 2002), is dramatically reduced upon loss of nuclear TDP-43 by incorporation of a cryptic exon containing a premature polyadenylation site and an in-frame stop codon (Klim *et al.*, 2019; Melamed *et al.*, 2019). The resulting shortened, though highly expressed transcript is predicted to yield a truncated stathmin-2 protein variant at the expense of full-length, functional stathmin-2 (Melamed *et al.*, 2019; Baughn *et al.*, 2023). In post-mortem frontal cortices, expression of the mis-spliced *STMN2* transcript is associated with FTLD-TDP, but not with other FTLD subtypes (Prudencio *et al.*, 2020). Importantly, since loss of stathmin-2 from the adult mammalian CNS induces progressive ALS-resembling motor symptoms (López-Erauskin *et al.*, 2023), restoration of stathmin-2 levels, e.g., via ASO-mediated correction of its aberrant splicing (Baughn *et al.*, 2023), provides a novel

therapeutic strategy for targeting TDP-43 proteinopathies. Another cryptic exon of strong interest is found in the *UNC13A* gene, a known major genetic risk factor for ALS (van Es *et al.*, 2009), and the TDP-43-dependent loss of the encoded protein, a critical factor for synaptic functionality (Augustin *et al.*, 1999), is likely of pathological relevance (Brown *et al.*, 2022; X. R. Ma *et al.*, 2022).

Importantly, the role of TDP-43 as a key neuronal RNA-binding protein extends far beyond the regulation of mRNA transcription and splicing, encompassing essentially all facets of RNA metabolism. This includes the regulation of mRNA stability in the cytoplasm via interaction with the 3'-UTRs of different transcripts such as *NFL* (Strong *et al.*, 2007), *HDAC6* (Fiesel *et al.*, 2010; Kim *et al.*, 2010) and *G3BP1* (McDonald *et al.*, 2011; Sidibé *et al.*, 2021). By forming ribonucleoprotein (RNP) granules through assembly with RNA and other RBPs, TDP-43 ferries synaptic transcripts along microtubules to axon terminals and dendrites for local translation. The latter is also controlled by TDP-43 (Wang *et al.*, 2008; Fallini *et al.*, 2012; Alami *et al.*, 2014; Coyne *et al.*, 2014; Nagano *et al.*, 2020).

Furthermore, TDP-43 modulates the production and maturation of non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs), including microRNAs (miRNAs) and long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs). Regulation of miRNAs by TDP-43 can occur through direct binding to (precursor) miRNAs or through modulation of Drosha and Dicer levels, thereby affecting the miRNA pool globally (Gregory *et al.*, 2004; Kawahara & Mieda-Sato, 2012; Di Carlo *et al.*, 2013; Colombrita *et al.*, 2015). As a result, several miRNAs have been shown to be misregulated upon loss of TDP-43 (Buratti *et al.*, 2010; Z. Zhang *et al.*, 2013; Fan *et al.*, 2014; King *et al.*, 2014). Association of TDP-43 with the abundant lncRNAs *MALAT1* and *NEAT1*, both of which are involved in RNA processing steps (Clemson *et al.*, 2009; Tripathi *et al.*, 2010; Tollervey *et al.*, 2011), was found to reduce TDP-43 toxicity (Liu *et al.*, 2020; Wang *et al.*, 2020).

TDP-43 also regulates transposable elements (mainly by repressing them), and its depletion from the nucleus is accompanied by enhanced chromatin accessibility of genomic regions containing transposable elements (W. Li *et al.*, 2012; Krug *et al.*, 2017; Liu *et al.*, 2019; Romano *et al.*, 2020). Taken together, TDP-43 acts as a central regulator of RNA metabolism, and its disease-associated perturbations consequently disrupt RNA homeostasis with detrimental effects on neuronal health.

#### 2.3. Types of TDP-43 self-assembly and their implications in disease

#### 2.3.1. TDP-43 aggregation

Extra- and intracellular protein deposits hallmark nearly all neurodegenerative diseases and result from the accumulation of misfolded polypeptides that associate irregularly into large assemblies known as aggregates. Aggregates are characterized by insolubility in aqueous solutions or detergents and a non-native secondary structure (Kopito, 2000).

Regarding TDP-43, early work in yeast models demonstrated that this protein is prone to aggregation, a feature that is enhanced upon the introduction of ALS-linked mutations (Johnson *et al.*, 2008; Johnson *et al.*, 2009). Ever since, numerous efforts have been made to identify the regions that drive TDP-43 aggregation, and most reports have concluded that the CTD plays a vital role in this process. While several data indicated that the Cterminal region or subdomains therein are essential and on their own sufficient to mediate aggregation and, in some cases, pathology (Guo et al., 2011; Budini et al., 2012; Jiang et al., 2013; Mompeán et al., 2014; Jiang et al., 2016), others reported that the CTD in combination with the RRM2 domain is capable of forming aggregates (Johnson et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2010; Fallini et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2013). However, additional aggregation cores outside the CTD have been identified as well, including such within the RRM1 (Shodai et al., 2013; Chiang et al., 2016; Zacco et al., 2018) and the RRM2 domains (Saini & Chauhan, 2011; Shodai et al., 2012; Guenther, Ge, et al., 2018; Tavella et al., 2018), which may likewise contribute to TDP-43 aggregation in disease. Notably, specific binding of TDP-43 to RNA sequences has been shown to maintain its solubility and decrease its aggregation propensity (Ishiguro et al., 2017; French et al., 2019; Mann et al., 2019; Zacco et al., 2019; Rengifo-Gonzalez et al., 2021). As mentioned previously, the N-terminus was demonstrated to be crucial for aggregation of full-length TDP-43 and associated toxicity (Y. J. Zhang et al., 2013; Sasaguri et al., 2016), but several lines of evidence indicate that N-terminal dimerization, which is known to be stabilized by RNA binding (Y. Sun et al., 2014), prevents toxic TDP-43 aggregation (Afroz et al., 2017; Jiang et al., 2017; Miura et al., 2023; Oiwa et al., 2023). The aggregation behavior of TDP-43 CTFs found in disease is of particular relevance for this work and will be discussed separately below (see section 2.3.4.).

#### 2.3.2. The amyloidogenic nature of TDP-43

Unraveling the (ultra)structures of misfolded, aggregated proteins in disease-characteristic inclusions is a major area of research, as it provides insights into the molecular events underlying neurodegeneration and potentially enables the (rational) design of novel therapies.

In most neurodegenerative disorders, the major protein components accumulated within the deposits adopt a conformational state termed amyloid. Amyloids consist of unbranched fibrils characterized by cross- $\beta$  sheet structures: peptide  $\beta$ -strands, which run perpendicular to the fibril axis, stack flat on top of each other by the thousands to form  $\beta$ sheets. These  $\beta$ -sheets are stabilized by interstrand hydrogen bonding and typically orientate parallel to each other (Sunde *et al.*, 1997; Sawaya *et al.*, 2021). The massively layered  $\beta$ -sheets build up elongated protofilaments that bundle together and give rise to a (mature) fibril.

The opposing  $\beta$ -sheet layers frequently build adherent contacts via their side chains, socalled "steric zippers", thereby releasing solvent molecules and increasing entropy (Sawaya *et al.*, 2021). The resulting ladder of side chains often reinforces the fibrillar structure by participating in non-covalent interactions such as van der Waals contacts,  $\pi$ - $\pi$  stacking, or hydrogen bonding. "Steric zipper" motifs have also been described for short segments in TDP-43 RRM2 (Guenther, Ge, *et al.*, 2018). The cross- $\beta$  sheet architecture confers enormous stability to the amyloids, which is reflected in their resilience to proteolysis, detergents, and chemical denaturation (Balbirnie *et al.*, 2001). Structural analysis has revealed that the amyloid core of fibril-forming protein sequences consists of comparatively short segments (ranging from a dozen to more than 100 residues) (Sawaya *et al.*, 2021), with flanking regions often forming a "fuzzy coat" surrounding it (Ulamec *et al.*, 2020).

Key methods for studying amyloids include cryo-electron microscopy (cryo-EM) and cryoelectron tomography (cryo-ET), whose technical advances have revolutionized the field by yielding the first atomic-/near-atomic-resolution structures. Since then, not only fibrils generated from recombinant or synthetic peptides have been investigated, but also those isolated from patient brain tissue. For instance, tau fibrils extracted from various tauopathies, including AD (Fitzpatrick *et al.*, 2017; Falcon, Zhang, Schweighauser, *et al.*, 2018), chronic traumatic encephalopathy (Falcon *et al.*, 2019), Pick's disease (Falcon, Zhang, Murzin, *et al.*, 2018), and corticobasal degeneration (Zhang *et al.*, 2020) adopt distinct amyloid conformations (or polymorphs) (Shi *et al.*, 2021), which may imply the need for different therapies.

The question of whether TDP-43 in pathological deposits is of amyloid nature has led to conflicting answers. Utilizing well-established organic amyloid-binding dyes such as Congo red, fluorescent thioflavin T or S, as well as electron microscopic imaging of immunolabeled TDP-43 inclusions from ALS/FTD brain and spinal cord tissue, some studies found no evidence of amyloid properties (Cairns *et al.*, 2007; Kwong *et al.*, 2008; Johnson *et al.*, 2009). However, other groups in fact reported filaments of 10-20 nm diameter and positivity for thioflavin staining, albeit with some heterogeneity of results (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2008; Lin & Dickson, 2008; Mori *et al.*, 2008; Bigio *et al.*, 2013; Nonaka *et al.*, 2013; Robinson *et al.*, 2013).

Compelling evidence suggests that the amyloidogenic properties stem mainly from the C-terminal prion-like, low-complexity domain (**Figure 2**). Collectively, data from *in vitro* experiments indicate that (I) not only the entire CTD, but also several shorter fragments thereof can form amyloids and self-aggregate, (II) TDP-43 fibrils display structural polymorphism, (III) the sparse amyloidogenic cores outside the CTD are located in the

RRM domains and not in the NTD, (IV) essentially any subdomain of the CTD may be capable of driving fibrillization, but the double-helical hydrophobic patch and the Q/N-rich region are thought to be of particular importance, (V) no clear consensus sequence can be deduced as the minimal amyloid core.

A major breakthrough was the recent solution of the atomic structure of TDP-43 filaments isolated from post-mortem cortical brain tissue of ALS/FTLD patients (Arseni et al., 2022; Arseni et al., 2023). The amyloid-atypical, double spiral-shaped fold in cases with ALS/FTLD-TDP type B pathology encompasses residues 282-360 and is composed of several small  $\beta$ -sheets and  $\beta$ -turns, reminiscent of *in vitro* structures of other hnRNPs (Arseni et al., 2022). The lack of deeper grooves on the surface may explain why amyloid dyes or positron emission tomography (PET) tracers have often failed in staining pathological TDP-43. In contrast, the conformation in FTLD-TDP type A is distinctly different, resembling a chevron-like shape (Arseni et al., 2023). The fold, which spans ten additional residues (272-360), presumably engages a cofactor and is stabilized by a citrullinated arginine residue, underscoring the importance of PTMs for protein conformation. While both fibril types are composed of a single protofilament and do not resemble any of the TDP-43 in vitro structures, the disease-dependent structural polymorphism may underlie the clinical and neuropathological variability of FTLD-TDP, as has been speculated for tauopathies and synucleinopathies (Schweighauser et al., 2020; Shi et al., 2021).



**Figure 2**: (A) Most of the reported amyloidogenic regions of TDP-43 are located in its CTD. *In vitro* amyloid fibrils have been derived from extremely short peptides (as few as six amino acids), but also from the entire CTD. (B) Recent structures of pathological TDP-43 amyloid filaments from ALS with type B FTLD-TDP (image from the RCSB PDB (RCSB.org) of PDB ID 7PY2, https://doi.org/10.2210/pdb7py2/pdb) (Arseni *et al.*, 2022) and type A FTLD-TDP (variant 1, image from the RCSB PDB of PDB ID 8CG3, https://doi.org/10.2210/pdb8cg3/pdb) (Arseni *et al.*, 2023) differ significantly from *in vitro* structures, but confirm the filament core resides in the TDP-43 CTD.

### 2.3.3. The toxic potential of TDP-43 aggregates

Aggregation of TDP-43 is generally thought to contribute to the toxicity in ALS/FTD. Consistent with this paradigm, TDP-43-positive inclusions correlate well with key clinical features and the extent of neurodegeneration in disease-affected brain regions (Geser *et* 

*al.*, 2009; Mackenzie *et al.*, 2013; Brettschneider, Arai, *et al.*, 2014), and sporadic ALS cases with an exceptionally long disease duration show only mild TDP-43 pathology (Nishihira *et al.*, 2009). Many *in vitro* and *in vivo* models support a toxic role for TDP-43 aggregates in disease. For example, delivery of purified TDP-43-positive inclusion bodies into neuron-like cells causes toxicity (Capitini *et al.*, 2014). Intracellular TDP-43 aggregation is often induced by overexpression of either wild-type, disease-mutated, or cytoplasmically mislocalized TDP-43 and is associated with profound toxicity and reduced viability (Winton *et al.*, 2008; Johnson *et al.*, 2009; Wegorzewska *et al.*, 2009; Barmada *et al.*, 2010; Wils *et al.*, 2010; Igaz *et al.*, 2011; Walker, Spiller, *et al.*, 2015). Mechanistically, aggregated proteins may acquire novel and toxic functions, e.g., by sequestering and thus reducing the functional pool of cellular components (Olzscha *et al.*, 2011; Yang & Hu, 2016). These findings suggest a toxic gain-of-function (GOF) of TDP-43 as a cardinal disease mechanism.

However, despite the high toxicity observed in mammalian overexpression models, TDP-43 inclusions are only occasionally detected (Barmada *et al.*, 2010; Walker, Spiller, *et al.*, 2015). In fact, abnormally elevated nuclear and/or cytoplasmic TDP-43 levels alone – in the absence of aggregate formation – are highly cytotoxic (Barmada *et al.*, 2010; Igaz *et al.*, 2011; R. Liu *et al.*, 2013; Yamashita *et al.*, 2014). These observations challenge the relevance of TDP-43 aggregates, while a toxic GOF due to excessive quantities and/or altered subcellular localization of TDP-43 may still be at play.

A common strategy to mimic the cytoplasmic aggregation of TDP-43 observed in ALS/FTD patients is its overexpression with a dysfunctional NLS (" $\Delta$ NLS") (Winton *et al.*, 2008). As elucidated above, this causes toxicity in vitro and in vivo (Winton et al., 2008; Barmada et al., 2010; Igaz et al., 2011). During disease, increased redistribution of TDP-43 to the cytoplasm may result from ALS-linked gene variants (Barmada et al., 2010; Kabashi et al., 2010; De Marco et al., 2011), elevated cellular stress (Colombrita et al., 2009; Liu-Yesucevitz et al., 2010; Dewey et al., 2011) or impaired degradation (van Eersel et al., 2011), and such abnormal cytoplasmic enrichment may eventually lead to pre-inclusions and subsequently to mature aggregates (Giordana et al., 2010). In line with the general lack of nuclear immunoreactivity in inclusion-harboring cells in ALS/FTD post-mortem tissue, cytoplasmic TDP-43 aggregates have been reported to recruit endogenous, nuclear TDP-43 ('sink mechanism'), resulting in a loss of function (LOF) (Winton et al., 2008; Budini et al., 2012). Interestingly, sequestration of nuclear TDP-43 appears to be relevant for the toxicity of cytoplasmic TDP-43 (Y. J. Zhang et al., 2013). Given the multitude of functions of TDP-43 in the nuclear compartment, such loss of TDP-43 is thought to be another fundamental disease mechanism in the pathogenesis of TDP-43 proteinopathies, in addition to the proposed GOF toxicity (Lee et al., 2011). Knockdown of the TDP-43 encoding gene decreases neurite outgrowth and viability in different cell

culture models (Ayala, Misteli, *et al.*, 2008; Iguchi *et al.*, 2009; Fiesel *et al.*, 2011). Similarly, global loss of TDP-43 during embryogenesis or postnatally results in enhanced lethality (Feiguin *et al.*, 2009; Chiang *et al.*, 2010; Kraemer *et al.*, 2010; Sephton *et al.*, 2010; Wu *et al.*, 2010; Schmid *et al.*, 2013), and partial loss as well as conditional knockout in relevant tissues induces disease-resembling motor and degenerative phenotypes (Kabashi *et al.*, 2010; Wu *et al.*, 2012; Iguchi *et al.*, 2013; C. Yang *et al.*, 2014). Taken together, both abnormally high and low levels of TDP-43 are detrimental to cells, a situation that is physiologically prevented by the conserved autoregulatory feedback loop. Accumulating evidence suggests that a loss of regular TDP-43 function occurs early in the disease course (Irwin *et al.*, 2023), likely preceding inclusion formation, although gain- and loss-of-function toxicity do not necessarily develop as sequential events.

The effects of cytoplasmic TDP-43 aggregation can be studied *in vivo* using transgenic mouse models. Among the most widely used models is the "rNLS8" (regulatable NLS8) line generated by Walker and colleagues (Walker, Spiller, *et al.*, 2015). It overexpresses human TDP-43 with a disrupted NLS (hTDP-43 $\Delta$ NLS) pan-neuronally in a doxycycline-controlled fashion using the neurofilament heavy chain (*NEFH*) promoter. Doxycycline supplementation in the diet enables transgene repression during critical stages of neurodevelopment. Upon removal of doxycycline, mice develop cytoplasmic ubiquitinated and phosphorylated TDP-43 inclusions in the brain and spinal cord, as well as nuclear clearance of endogenous mouse TDP-43. Thus, this model mimics both TDP-43 gain- and loss-of-function mechanisms of neurotoxicity. The rNLS8 mice exhibit progredient neuronal degeneration, muscle denervation, severe motor dysfunction, body weight loss, and premature death (Walker, Spiller, *et al.*, 2015). Remarkably, re-suppression of the *hTDP-43* $\Delta$ NLS transgene a few weeks after induction largely eliminates TDP-43 pathology and improves the phenotype even at advanced stages of the disease, implying that deposited TDP-43 can be cleared from neurons in this model.

Furthermore, rNLS8 mice recapitulate additional hallmarks of ALS/FTD, namely astrogliosis and microgliosis (Walker, Spiller, *et al.*, 2015; Spiller *et al.*, 2018; Hunter *et al.*, 2021; Swanson *et al.*, 2023). As CNS-resident glial cells, astrocytes and microglia have diverse roles in maintaining homeostasis and preserving neuronal integrity, but are also fundamentally involved in the pathogenesis of several neurodegenerative diseases, including ALS and FTD, where they can have both protective and detrimental effects (Kwon & Koh, 2020). Activated microglia have been detected in autopsy cases as well as in living ALS and FTD patients by brain PET scans (Cagnin *et al.*, 2004; Henkel *et al.*, 2004; Turner *et al.*, 2004; Corcia *et al.*, 2012), and both wild-type and pathological TDP-43 can cause a proinflammatory microglial activation (Swarup, Phaneuf, Dupre, *et al.*, 2011; Zhao *et al.*, 2015). In addition, global loss as well as aggregation or disease-specific
mutation of TDP-43 has been implicated in the reactive transformation of astrocytes (Tong *et al.*, 2013; C. Yang *et al.*, 2014; Peng *et al.*, 2020; Velebit *et al.*, 2020), and astrogliosis is evident in ALS post-mortem tissue (Schiffer *et al.*, 1996). Sustained, excessive activation of glial cells is thought to drive inflammation through multiple pathways, such as secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, ultimately leading to neuronal damage (Kempuraj *et al.*, 2016). At the same time, inflammation triggers cytoplasmic TDP-43 mislocalization in microglia and astrocytes (Correia *et al.*, 2015), which in turn may potentiate the abovementioned effects. Altogether, astro- and microgliosis are considered critical factors in TDP-43-mediated toxicity in disease.

It should be noted that in addition to macroaggregates, small misfolded or oligomerized protein species may also confer toxicity. Several lines of evidence acquired over the years, particularly from studies on Aβ, suggest that soluble oligomers may be the primary toxic species (Sengupta *et al.*, 2016) and that mature fibrillar aggregates, rather than acting as the pathogenic form, may represent a protective "junkyard" for misfolded proteins to prevent toxicity of aggregate precursors (Treusch *et al.*, 2009). For TDP-43, disease-associated oligomeric species have been detected in FTLD-TDP, and these oligomers have indeed demonstrated neurotoxic properties (Fang *et al.*, 2014; Kao *et al.*, 2015). The role of TDP-43 aggregates, including oligomeric species, in neuronal and glial

degeneration remains debatable and experimentally difficult to dissect because of the typically concomitant toxic effects of nuclear and cytoplasmic overexpression as well as nuclear clearance of endogenous TDP-43 leading to a loss of function. From the data collected so far, it seems plausible that TDP-43 aggregates are neither innocent bystanders nor the sole cause of TDP-43 proteinopathies, but are likely to fuel the degenerative processes observed in ALS and FTD, not least by entrapping endogenous TDP-43, which in turn generates a viscous cycle of GOF and LOF toxicity. Further research is needed to discern toxic and protective TDP-43 species, with the goal of developing effective therapeutic interventions for these protein misfolding diseases.

#### 2.3.4. TDP-43 C-terminal fragments

In addition to a high-molecular-weight smear and a band at ~45 kDa corresponding to polyubiquitinated and hyperphosphorylated TDP-43, immunoblotting of detergentinsoluble fractions of ALS/FTD brain homogenates typically reveals one or more truncated forms of TDP-43 (Neumann *et al.*, 2006; Hasegawa *et al.*, 2008; Igaz *et al.*, 2008; Tsuji, Arai, *et al.*, 2012). Irrespective of ALS or FTD, these low-molecular-weight species are found almost exclusively in aggregates of disease-affected brain regions (mainly frontal and temporal cortices), but rarely in the spinal cord, and are detected solely with C-terminal but not N-terminal antibodies, indicating that they represent TDP-43 C-terminal fragments (CTFs) (Neumann *et al.*, 2006; Hasegawa *et al.*, 2008; Igaz *et al.*, 2008; Tsuji, Arai, *et al.*, 2012; Tsuji, Nonaka, *et al.*, 2012). N-terminally truncated fragments in the range of ~22-27 kDa with a predominant band at ~25 kDa (TDP-25) are most reliably and abundantly detected, but shorter (~15-19 kDa) and longer (~35 kDa, TDP-35) variants have also been reported (Neumann *et al.*, 2006; Zhang *et al.*, 2007; Hasegawa *et al.*, 2008; Igaz *et al.*, 2008; Neumann, Kwong, *et al.*, 2009; Tsuji, Arai, *et al.*, 2012; Tsuji, Nonaka, *et al.*, 2012). TDP-25 fragments exhibit a disease-specific phosphorylation pattern and in some cases may even exceed the amount of the full-length protein. Despite being a hallmark of various TDP-43 proteinopathies, CTFs have not been found to correlate with disease subtype or neurodegeneration (Lee *et al.*, 2011; Berning & Walker, 2019).

TDP-35 and TDP-25 are thought to originate from proteolytic cleavage of the full-length protein by activated caspases 3, 4, and 7 (Zhang *et al.*, 2007; Dormann *et al.*, 2009; Zhang *et al.*, 2009; Nishimoto *et al.*, 2010; Suzuki *et al.*, 2011; De Marco *et al.*, 2014; Li *et al.*, 2015), Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent calpains (Yamashita *et al.*, 2012; Z. Yang *et al.*, 2014), or asparaginyl endopeptidase (Herskowitz *et al.*, 2012). Apart from enzymatic cleavage by cysteine proteases, TDP-25 and TDP-35 may also result from translation of truncated alternative transcripts (Nishimoto *et al.*, 2010; Xiao *et al.*, 2015).

In cultured neurons, overexpressed CTFs, first and foremost TDP-25, are substantially more aggregation-prone than full-length TDP-43 and form insoluble, ubiquitinated, and hyperphosphorylated inclusions in the cytoplasm due to the absence of an intact NLS (Igaz et al., 2009; Nonaka et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009; Che et al., 2011; Fallini et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2013). However, the cytotoxic potential of TDP-43 CTFs in in vitro systems remains controversial: several studies attributed a certain toxicity to TDP-25 CTFs (Yang et al., 2010; Chou et al., 2015), with some reports suggesting that it exceeds the toxicity of TDP-43 or TDP-35 (Zhang et al., 2009; X. Wang et al., 2015), while others showed the opposite effect (Suzuki et al., 2011; Yamashita et al., 2014). Interestingly, the harmful effects of TDP-25 seem to depend on its cytoplasmic localization (Kitamura et al., 2016). CTFs have been shown to interfere with RNA processing when overexpressed in cells, as exemplified by altered CFTR exon skipping (Igaz et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2010; Che et al., 2011). This may be due in part to the recruitment of endogenous TDP-43, which has been convincingly demonstrated for TDP-35 through cooperation with RNA (Nonaka et al., 2009; Che et al., 2015; Jiang et al., 2022), but is less clear for TDP-25 (Nonaka et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009; Kitamura et al., 2016). Furthermore, TDP-35 sequesters other RBPs into cytoplasmic aggregates (Jiang et al., 2022), whereas cytosolic TDP-25 coaggregates with nucleoporins and nucleocytoplasmic transport factors, consequently perturbing nuclear core complexes and overall protein and RNA trafficking between the nuclear and cytoplasmic compartments (Woerner et al., 2016; Chou et al., 2018). Nuclear

35

pore pathology has been extensively described in the context of cytoplasmic aggregation of full-length TDP-43 (Gasset-Rosa *et al.*, 2019), *C9orf72* pathology (Freibaum *et al.*, 2015; Jovicic *et al.*, 2015; Zhang *et al.*, 2015; Zhang *et al.*, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2018; Coyne *et al.*, 2020) and sporadic ALS cases (Kinoshita *et al.*, 2009; Shang *et al.*, 2017; Aizawa *et al.*, 2019; Coyne *et al.*, 2021), highlighting dysfunctional nucleocytoplasmic transport as a prevailing pathogenic mechanism in ALS/FTD.

In contrast to rapid inclusion formation in cell culture, TDP-25 barely aggregates when overexpressed either pan-neuronally or regionally in forebrain neurons in transgenic rodent models, although it is found to be disease-specifically phosphorylated (Caccamo et al., 2012; Dayton et al., 2013; Walker, Tripathy, et al., 2015; Tsuiji et al., 2017). This is accompanied by a moderate cognitive or motor phenotype and subtle signs of neurodegeneration, indicating that CTFs alone are insufficient to fully recapitulate the human diseases, at least in these models. Furthermore, despite the strong phenotype of some mouse lines expressing wild-type or mutant TDP-43, CTFs are detected inconsistently and generally at low levels, at later stages of the disease, and with a predominance of TDP-35 (Stallings et al., 2010; Wils et al., 2010; Igaz et al., 2011; Swarup, Phaneuf, Bareil, et al., 2011; Walker, Spiller, et al., 2015). However, an early study reported that TDP-25 was present before symptoms were observed, suggesting that CTFs may contribute to disease onset (Wegorzewska et al., 2009). Interestingly, TDP-43(M337V) mutant pigs (G. Wang et al., 2015) and macagues (Yin et al., 2019) resemble the human fragmentation pattern comparatively better than mice. Indeed, while primate caspase 4 generates TDP-43 CTFs, its mouse homolog, caspase 11, does not (Yin et al., 2019), implying that mice may not be the ideal organism to study the pathobiology of TDP-43 CTFs.

Overall, aggregation-prone TDP-43 CTFs, especially TDP-25, hallmark ALS/FTD with regional heterogeneity, possibly due to cell type-specific abundance of cleaving proteases, alternative splice transcripts, or differences in degradation pathways (Berning & Walker, 2019), but current *in vitro* and *in vivo* models argue that they are not the main culprits in TDP-43 proteinopathies. Nonetheless, cytosolic CTF aggregates may exert gain-of-function toxicity, for example by recruiting nuclear pore proteins (Chou *et al.*, 2018), and thus contribute to disease.

#### 2.3.5. Liquid-Liquid Phase Separation of TDP-43

Just like vinegar in oil, intracellular macromolecules like proteins and nucleic acids can (self-)assemble and compartmentalize into structures called biomolecular condensates (Banani *et al.*, 2017; Shin & Brangwynne, 2017). These condensates typically arise from the process of liquid-liquid phase separation (LLPS), in which macromolecular components segregate ("demix") into two separate, coexisting phases: a dilute phase

depleted of macromolecules and a dense phase enriched with these components. The dense phase often forms droplets with "liquid" properties, i.e., they display rapid fusion, fission, and exchange of components with the surrounding milieu (Mathieu et al., 2020). LLPS is often a reversible process and highly dependent on physical-chemical conditions (e.g., temperature, pH, salt concentration) as well as the concentrations of the macromolecules involved (Alberti & Dormann, 2019). Inside cells, phase separation (or biomolecular condensation) gives rise to diverse membraneless organelles (MLOs), such as nucleoli and stress granules (SGs) (Alberti & Dormann, 2019). MLOs are typically composed of a variety of different RNAs as well as RBPs and are referred to as RNP granules. Many disease-associated RBPs that partition into phase-separated RNP granules contain intrinsically disordered regions (IDRs). These are regions that lack a stable, well-folded three-dimensional structure and that often represent low-complexity domains (LCDs) (King et al., 2012; Banani et al., 2017). Intrinsically disordered, prion-like LCDs, in cooperation with RRMs, allow RBPs to engage in multiple weak and temporary RNA-RNA, protein-RNA, and protein-protein interactions (e.g., dipole–dipole,  $\pi$ -stacking, cation– $\pi$  interactions) (Nedelsky & Taylor, 2019). This results in a molecular network and provides the basis for the phase separation behavior of RBPs. Indeed, multivalency, i.e., the number of interactions a macromolecule can have with other biomolecules to create a non-covalent, transient network of contact sites, is a key determinant of LLPS (P. Li et al., 2012; Alberti & Dormann, 2019).

In keeping with this concept, the prion-like LCD in the C-terminal region of TDP-43 has been shown to be critical and sufficient by itself to drive self-assembly via LLPS in vitro and in living mammalian cells (Conicella et al., 2016; Schmidt & Rohatgi, 2016; Li, Chen, et al., 2018; Li, Chiang, et al., 2018; Babinchak et al., 2019; Hallegger et al., 2021). In particular, an evolutionarily highly conserved region (CR) of ~20 amino acids (319-341) within the mostly unstructured CTD can adopt a transient α-helical conformation at high TDP-43 concentrations, which, with the support of the adjacent IDRs (GaroS1/2), allows weak, homotypic contacts that promote TDP-43 condensation (Conicella et al., 2016; Hallegger et al., 2021). Consequently, deletion of the CR, introduction of ALS-causing mutations (e.g., Q331K, G335D, M337V), or mutations in other critical residues (e.g., W334G) in this region significantly impair TDP-43 phase separation (Conicella et al., 2016; Li, Chen, et al., 2018; Li, Chiang, et al., 2018; Conicella et al., 2020; Hallegger et al., 2021; Mohanty et al., 2023). However, the CR may instead drive self-assembly and phase separation through the formation of labile cross  $\beta$ -structures formed via mainchain hydrogen bonding (Lin et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2022). Another short, structured motif in the CTD that is relevant to its self-assembly is called LARKS (low-complexity, aromaticrich, kinked segments) (Guenther, Cao, et al., 2018; Hughes et al., 2018). These special β-sheet segments, frequently found in phase-separating proteins, allow for weak, transient amyloid-like adhesion between LCDs, while ALS-related TDP-43 mutations switch LARKS into irreversibly aggregated assemblies (Guenther, Cao, *et al.*, 2018).

Moreover, multivalent association with RNA modulates biomolecular condensation of TDP-43. At high concentrations in the nucleoplasm, RNA solubilizes prion-like RBPs such as TDP-43, whereas a lower abundance of RNA in the cytosol allows their demixing (Maharana *et al.*, 2018). Total RNA and, to a greater extent, short RNA stretches with high affinity for TDP-43 can impede the phase separation and aggregation of TDP-43 (Mann *et al.*, 2019; Rengifo-Gonzalez *et al.*, 2021). In contrast, other studies suggest that specific TDP-43 target RNAs can trigger the formation of condensates with liquid-like properties (Wang *et al.*, 2020; Grese *et al.*, 2021). This discrepancy may be due to differences in RNA sequence, length, or concentration.

Several lines of evidence indicate that phase separation of TDP-43 is relevant for at least some of its main functions, namely binding and regulation of specific RNA transcripts (Hallegger *et al.*, 2021), autoregulation (Hallegger *et al.*, 2021; Koehler *et al.*, 2022) and splicing activity (Wang *et al.*, 2018; Conicella *et al.*, 2020), although the latter was not found to be affected by some condensation-deficient variants (Schmidt *et al.*, 2019; Gruijs da Silva *et al.*, 2022). The fact that TDP-43 LLPS deficiency causes neuronal and behavioral deficits as well as perturbations in global protein synthesis (Gao *et al.*, 2021) argues for a biological relevance of TDP-43 biomolecular condensation. Nonetheless, more rigorous and holistic approaches are needed to determine exactly how TDP-43 functionality is modulated by its phase separation behavior.

# 2.3.6. Aberrant phase transitions within stress granules may drive TDP-43 proteinopathy

Although biomolecular condensation is essential for many intracellular processes, it is also associated with disease, particularly neurodegeneration. *In vitro*, several ALS/FTD-associated, LCD-harboring RBPs can undergo LLPS to form liquid droplets that slowly convert into gel-like states and eventually into solid-like, fibrillar assemblies (Kato *et al.*, 2012; Lin *et al.*, 2015; Alberti & Hyman, 2016; Boeynaems *et al.*, 2018). Such a liquid-to-solid phase transition (also referred to as "maturation" or "molecular aging") has been observed for FUS (Murakami *et al.*, 2015; Patel *et al.*, 2015), hnRNPA1/hnRNPA2 (Kim *et al.*, 2013; Molliex *et al.*, 2015) as well as TDP-43 LCD (Babinchak *et al.*, 2019; Zhuo *et al.*, 2020; Shuster & Lee, 2022) and is typically promoted by disease-causing mutations. Based on stronger intermolecular interactions, the resulting structures exhibit diverse material properties and can represent (disordered) hydrogels, glass-like assemblies and, ultimately and irreversibly, high-order crystal-like amyloid fibers reminiscent of pathological aggregates (Alberti & Hyman, 2016). With respect to TDP-43, it is important to note that droplets do not necessarily develop into fibrils (Conicella *et al.*, 2016; Li, Chen,

*et al.*, 2018; Li, Chiang, *et al.*, 2018; Conicella *et al.*, 2020) and that fibrils can form independently of droplets (Lim *et al.*, 2016; Shenoy *et al.*, 2020).

In cells, a membraneless compartment thought to be involved in disease-promoting aberrant phase transitions of RBPs is the cytoplasmic SG. These large, complex RNP granules represent a rapid pro-survival response to various types of stress (e.g., heat shock, oxidative and osmotic stress) and are readily disassembled after the insult is removed and the cell recovers (Anderson & Kedersha, 2008).

Notably, multiple ALS/FTD-linked RBPs, including FUS, hnRNPA1/A2, TIA1, ataxin-2, and TDP-43, are constituents of SGs to which they are recruited upon cellular stress, while disease-associated mutations in these proteins enhance their recruitment to SGs or alter key SG features (Li *et al.*, 2013). For example, TDP-43, whose association with SGs depends on its cytoplasmic localization as well as its RRM1 and CTD domains (Bentmann *et al.*, 2012), is not critical for SG formation but is relevant for SG assembly, dynamics, and maintenance, in part by controlling the key SG components G3BP1 and TIA1 (Colombrita *et al.*, 2009; Liu-Yesucevitz *et al.*, 2010; McDonald *et al.*, 2011; Aulas *et al.*, 2012; Aulas *et al.*, 2015; Khalfallah *et al.*, 2018). However, several disease-associated mutations within TDP-43 have been reported to increase the size and number of SGs (Dewey *et al.*, 2011; Liu-Yesucevitz *et al.*, 2014) and disrupt their dynamics (Q. Ding *et al.*, 2021).

Importantly, several SG marker proteins such as TIA1, EIF4G1, and PABP-1 are found within pathological FUS and TDP-43 inclusions in post-mortem tissue from ALS/FTD cases (Fujita *et al.*, 2008; Volkening *et al.*, 2009; Bäumer *et al.*, 2010; Dormann *et al.*, 2010; Liu-Yesucevitz *et al.*, 2010; Bentmann *et al.*, 2012; McGurk *et al.*, 2014).

Together, these findings have led to the paradigm that in disease, initially dynamic, reversible, and cytoprotective SGs may convert into pathological, insoluble, and presumably neurotoxic aggregates (Dewey *et al.*, 2012; Wolozin, 2012; Bentmann *et al.*, 2013; Li *et al.*, 2013; Aulas & Vande Velde, 2015; Molliex *et al.*, 2015). Such an abnormal phase transition may be attributed to the irregular persistence and perturbed dynamics of SGs caused by increased cytoplasmic localization of recruited RBPs (Dormann & Haass, 2011), RBP mutations that promote solidification, decreased clearance mechanisms (Buchan *et al.*, 2013), or prolonged cellular stress (Bowden & Dormann, 2016).

Although experimental data from living cells argue for a direct transition of SGs into pathogenic, cytotoxic inclusions (Zhang *et al.*, 2019), stress-induced insoluble aggregates may also evolve independently of SGs, and indeed SGs may even protect RBPs from being trapped in cytoplasmic inclusions (McGurk *et al.*, 2018; Gasset-Rosa *et al.*, 2019; Mann *et al.*, 2019; Lu *et al.*, 2022). Apart from LLPS, aggresomes may alternatively mediate the self-assembly of TDP-43 into aggregates (Watanabe *et al.*, 2020; Pérez-Berlanga *et al.*, 2023).

In summary, while several data suggest that initially dynamic SGs can transform into pathological TDP-43 deposits, the role of SGs in the context of ALS/FTD is likely more nuanced and alternative aggregation pathways may (also) trigger inclusion formation.

## 2.3.7. Post-translational modifications beyond C-terminal fragmentation: phosphorylation and ubiquitination

The repertoire of post-translational modifications (PTMs) associated with pathological TDP-43 is not limited to irreversible proteolysis resulting in C-terminal fragments. Other modifications include the reversible covalent addition of chemical groups through enzymes, causing altered conformation, functionality, localization, or stability of a protein after its synthesis (de Hoog & Mann, 2004; Buratti, 2018). Among the first and most extensively studied PTMs of TDP-43 is its phosphorylation, which has been identified so far mainly at serines 409/410, 403/404 and 379 in the C-terminal region and has emerged as a hallmark of TDP-43 proteinopathies (Arai et al., 2006; Neumann et al., 2006; Hasegawa et al., 2008; Inukai et al., 2008; Neumann, Kwong, et al., 2009). Phosphoantibodies against serines 409/410 have specific proven to be sensitive immunohistological tools for assessing TDP-43 pathology in post-mortem tissue (Hasegawa et al., 2008; Neumann, Kwong, et al., 2009). The importance of TDP-43 phosphorylation in ALS/FTD is further highlighted by the fact that approximately half of the known disease-causing variants within TARDBP insert or remove putative phosphorylation sites on serines/threonines or generate the phosphomimetic residues glutamate and aspartate (Buratti, 2015). As with the vast majority of ALS/FTD-linked TARDBP mutations, essentially all disease-specific phosphorylation sites discovered to date in ALS samples are located in the LCD of TDP-43 (Kametani et al., 2016), although other phosphorylated residues outside the CTD have recently been identified (Cracco et al., 2022) and may come into focus in the future. Several kinases have been demonstrated to directly phosphorylate TDP-43 in vitro or in vivo, including CK1 (Hasegawa et al., 2008; Kametani et al., 2009) - more specifically CK1δ (Nonaka et al., 2016) and CK1ε (Choksi et al., 2014; Gu et al., 2020) -, CK2 (Carlomagno et al., 2014), TTBK1/2 (Liachko et al., 2014; Taylor et al., 2018), CDC7 (Liachko et al., 2013), and p38α MAPK (Aikio et al., 2021). By contrast, TDP-43 has been shown to be dephosphorylated by the cellular phosphatases calcineurin (Liachko et al., 2016) and PP1 (Gu et al., 2018).

Importantly, as reported by several independent groups, phosphorylation of TDP-43 and its CTFs is associated with their aberrant accumulation, mislocalization to the cytoplasm, reduced solubility, increased oligomerization/aggregation propensity, and enhanced cytotoxicity, collectively indicating a pathological role of this PTM (Liachko *et al.*, 2010; Liachko *et al.*, 2013; Choksi *et al.*, 2014; Liachko *et al.*, 2014; Liachko *et al.*, 2016; Nonaka *et al.*, 2016). According to these data, inhibition of TDP-43 phosphorylating protein kinases

appears to be an attractive treatment option and, in agreement with this hypothesis, has revealed beneficial effects both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Liachko *et al.*, 2013; Salado *et al.*, 2014; Martínez-González *et al.*, 2020). In stark contrast to these findings, C-terminal hyperphosphorylation, as mimicked by introducing glutamate/aspartate residues at known phosphorylation sites, was found to increase TDP-43 solubility and decrease its propensity to self-associate into condensates or aggregates (Brady *et al.*, 2011; Li *et al.*, 2011; Gruijs da Silva *et al.*, 2022). The enhanced liquid character of TDP-43 was accompanied by reduced toxicity in cells and *in vivo* (Brady *et al.*, 2011; Li *et al.*, 2011) and may therefore reflect a defensive cellular reaction to combat aberrant TDP-43 self-assembly (Gruijs da Silva *et al.*, 2022). It is widely assumed that phosphorylation in the CTD occurs rather late in the disease course, only after TDP-43 has become insoluble and aggregated (Dormann *et al.*, 2009; Brady *et al.*, 2011; Li *et al.*, 2011; Zhang *et al.*, 2019), which could be interpreted as an effort to induce its clearance (François-Moutal *et al.*, 2019).

Many additional PTMs of TDP-43 have been discovered in the past years, including oxidation, acetylation, SUMOylation as well as non-covalent attachment of poly(ADP-ribose) (PAR) units (PARylation), and their effects have begun to be studied in more detail (Cohen *et al.*, 2012; Cohen *et al.*, 2015; McGurk *et al.*, 2018; Sternburg *et al.*, 2022).

The last TDP-43 modification to be mentioned here is ubiquitination, which represents the signature by which TDP-43 was initially identified in tau-negative FTLD cases (Neumann *et al.*, 2006). The process of (poly)ubiquitination involves the covalent attachment of the small regulatory protein ubiquitin to specific lysine (or N-terminal methionine) residues of a substrate, thereby influencing its fate (Pickart & Eddins, 2004). The modification can occur in several fashions, that is, by conjugation of a single ubiquitin molecule to either a single lysine (K) residue (monoubiquitination) or to multiple lysines (multimonoubiquitination) (Komander & Rape, 2012). Moreover, the extension of a substrate-bound ubiquitin with additional ubiquitin molecules results in various types of polyubiquitin chains, of which the K48 and K63 chains are most relevant as degradation signals in the context of neurodegeneration (Le Guerroué & Youle, 2021). (Poly)ubiquitination is mediated by an ATP-dependent multi-step cascade involving the consecutive activity of E1 (ubiquitin-activating), E2 (ubiquitin-conjugating), and E3 (ubiquitin ligase) enzymes (Komander & Rape, 2012), which typically route their substrates for degradation via the proteasome (*see section 2.4.2.*)

With respect to TDP-43, the E3 ubiquitin ligase parkin as well as the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme UBE2E3 were found to (poly)ubiquitinate TDP-43, increasing its cytoplasmic accumulation and insolubility (Hebron *et al.*, 2013; Hans *et al.*, 2014). These findings are somewhat surprising, since (poly)ubiquitination of aggregation-prone proteins is generally regarded as a stimulus for their proteolysis. However, polymeric ubiquitin chains have indeed been reported to promote protein aggregation (Morimoto *et al.*, 2015), suggesting

that the consequences of this PTM may be more complex. Of the 20 lysine residues in TDP-43, predominantly located in the NTD and RRM1 domains, multiple have been identified as ubiquitination sites, including K84 in the NLS, with relevance for the nuclear import of TDP-43, and several others in the RRM1 domain (K102, K114, K145, K181), which affect TDP-43's aggregation (Dammer *et al.*, 2012; Hans *et al.*, 2018). Additionally, K263 of the C-terminal region was found to be ubiquitinated in both full-length and fragmented TDP-43 (Hans *et al.*, 2018).

In conclusion, the rapidly growing understanding of TDP-43 PTMs reveals that they affect a variety of physiological as well as pathophysiological aspects of TDP-43 biology (e.g., splicing activity, LLPS, and aggregation behavior). Importantly, the identification of truly disease-specific and -relevant PTMs of TDP-43 may pave the way for attractive therapeutic strategies, as these would target the main culprit in ALS/FTD without interfering with normal TDP-43 functions.

#### 2.3.8. Prion-like spreading of TDP-43

Although protein aggregates were originally thought to arise autonomously in affected cells (Goedert *et al.*, 2010), compelling evidence has accumulated over the past decades that seeding and spreading of pathological protein species, reminiscent of prion diseases, are key features of several neurodegenerative disorders. Prion diseases are rare transmissible neurodegenerative conditions characterized by aggregation of the endogenous prion protein (PrP) and comprise (variant) Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease or kuru. In these "protein-only" diseases, normal intracellular PrP (PrP<sup>C</sup>) conformationally changes to a  $\beta$ -sheet-enriched structure (PrP<sup>Sc</sup>) that confers protease resistance. Importantly, even small amounts of PrP<sup>Sc</sup> can induce pathological misfolding and aggregation of the native soluble protein ("seeding" activity), resulting in recurrent self-templating of the aberrant protein. Seeding-competent PrPSc species, whose levels increase as aggregates fragment, are released into the extracellular space and taken up by surrounding cells or otherwise transferred intercellularly, allowing pathology to spread throughout the brain (Prusiner, 1982, 2013). Similar to prions, seeded aggregation and spreading have been reported for proteins involved in other neurodegenerative diseases such as A $\beta$ , tau, or  $\alpha$ synuclein (Brundin et al., 2010). Recent clinical, neuropathological, biochemical, and structural data imply a similar pathogenic mechanism driving TDP-43 proteinopathies.

For example, the onset of symptoms in ALS is typically focal and asymmetric, but as the disease progresses, additional sites become affected and clinical signs spread throughout the body (Ravits *et al.*, 2007; Ravits & La Spada, 2009). Consistently, neuropathologists classify ALS and FTD into stages based on regional staining patterns of phosphorylated TDP-43 (pTDP-43) in the CNS, all of which suggest that the pathology propagates from a focal site as the disease advances. In ALS, TDP-43 deposits first appear in the UMNs in

the motor cortex, as well as in the LMNs in the lower brainstem and spinal cord, before the pathology reaches the prefrontal neocortical area and eventually the temporal lobe and hippocampus (Braak *et al.*, 2013; Brettschneider *et al.*, 2013). Conversely, TDP-43 pathology in FTD, particularly in the behavioral variant, begins focally in the prefrontal neocortex or amygdala before expanding to other areas of the frontal cortex and hippocampus and ultimately invading cortical and spinal cord regions as well as the occipital neocortex (Brettschneider, Del Tredici, *et al.*, 2014).

Another key feature of prions and prion-like proteins is the occurrence of distinct molecular conformers or "strains", that underlie different clinical presentations, progression rates, and disease severity. The existence of separate pathogenic TDP-43 strains is suggested by (I) varying distribution patterns and morphologies of TDP-43 inclusions in different FTLD subtypes, (II) specific immunoblot profiles of disease-associated TDP-43 isolated from these subtypes (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2008; Tsuji, Arai, *et al.*, 2012), and (III) distinct amyloid-like filament structures of TDP-43 in FTLD-TDP types A and B (Arseni *et al.*, 2022; Arseni *et al.*, 2023). Importantly, within the same FTLD subtype, TDP-43 ultrastructures and banding patterns are identical between brain regions, fueling the concept of intercellular transmission in TDP-43 proteinopathies (Tsuji, Arai, *et al.*, 2012; Arseni *et al.*, 2023).

During the last few years, a series of experiments have investigated the cell-to-cell transmission and seeding potential of TDP-43 in both in vitro and in vivo models. Recombinant fibrillar TDP-43 or fragments thereof, but also insoluble TDP-43 extracted from ALS/FTD brains, have been shown to seed aggregation of endogenous TDP-43 into disease-resembling inclusions in various human cell lines (Furukawa et al., 2011; Nonaka et al., 2013; Feiler et al., 2015; Shimonaka et al., 2016; Laferrière et al., 2019). In addition, multiple studies indicate cell-to-cell propagation of pathological TDP-43 in cellular (Nonaka et al., 2013; Feiler et al., 2015; Sackmann et al., 2020) and animal models (Iguchi et al., 2016; Porta et al., 2018). Injection of synthetic TDP-43 fibrils or patient brain extracts into mouse brains induced ALS-like symptoms by temporal spread of TDP-43 pathology along axonal connections of the pyramidal tract (Porta et al., 2018; X. Ding et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2021), consistent with an assumed propagation along neural projections in humans (Brettschneider et al., 2013; Brettschneider, Del Tredici, et al., 2014). There is evidence that TDP-43, like other prion-like proteins, is transferred between cells via exosomes (Nonaka et al., 2013; Feiler et al., 2015; Iguchi et al., 2016), which are endocytosed by nearby cells or transmitted via synapses or tunneling nanotubes (Ding et al., 2015). However, the exact mechanisms of TDP-43 transmission remain elusive. An amyloid-like conformation of TDP-43 has been shown to be indispensable for its prion-like behavior. Loss of a detergent-, heat-, and proteinase-resistant but formic acid-sensitive  $\beta$ -sheet conformation abolished templated aggregation of patient material (Nonaka et al., 2013).

In particular, an amyloid core (residues 279-360) in the prion-like C-terminal domain, which highly overlaps with the sequence of pathological TDP-43 filaments isolated from ALS/FTD brains (Arseni *et al.*, 2022; Arseni *et al.*, 2023), appears to be essential for seeding activity and is presumably exposed in disease after proteolytic cleavage of full-length TDP-43 (Kumar *et al.*, 2023).

Overall, numerous studies, ranging from human post-mortem analyses to *in vivo* models, have provided substantial support for a prion-like spreading of pathological TDP-43 in neurodegenerative diseases. This has not only advanced the mechanistic understanding of TDP-43 proteinopathies, but also opens the door to novel therapeutic concepts for these disorders.

# 2.4. The protein quality control system and its relevance to TDP-43 proteinopathies

The accumulation of ubiquitinated TDP-43 aggregates suggests degradation efforts by the principal protein clearance pathways, autophagy and the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS), which together with molecular chaperones establish an intricate network that acts as a protein quality control (PQC) system to ensure cellular protein homeostasis (proteostasis). The control mechanisms range from mediating proper protein (re)folding upon translation to eliminating misfolded and dysfunctional proteins, and are especially relevant in post-mitotic cells such as neurons (Ciechanover & Kwon, 2017). Genetically encoded defects in the PQC machinery have long been associated with ALS/FTD. In line with this notion, an age-related decline in the functionality of the proteostasis network, including reduced protein turnover, coincides well with an increased risk of neurodegenerative diseases in the elderly, suggesting a causal relationship (Vilchez *et al.*, 2014; Sabath *et al.*, 2020; Kluever *et al.*, 2022). These observations, together with the fact that neurodegenerative disorders are generally associated with protein misfolding and aggregation, argue that the PCQ system takes on special significance in the pathogenesis of these diseases.

#### 2.4.1. Molecular chaperones

Molecular chaperones, most of which are classified as heat-shock proteins (HSPs) based on their induction by stressors such as heat shock (Garrido *et al.*, 2001), account for nearly 10% of the cellular proteome (Finka & Goloubinoff, 2013) and are grouped into different families according to their size (HSP100, HSP90, HSP70, HSP60, HSP40, and small HSPs) (Kästle & Grune, 2012). The main function of molecular chaperones is to guide the correct folding of newly synthesized proteins as well as the unfolding/refolding of damaged or conformationally aberrant protein species, thus guaranteeing structural (and functional) integrity of client proteins (Hartl *et al.*, 2011). This is achieved by sensing and transiently interacting with abnormally exposed hydrophobic residues in non-natively folded proteins, thereby preventing aberrant contacts that potentially lead to aggregation (Buchner, 1996). However, if proteins remain misfolded, chaperones can route them for degradation via either the UPS or autophagy (Ciechanover & Kwon, 2017). As chaperones diminish the pool of misfolded protein species, they prevent aggregate formation. Furthermore, by consuming ATP, chaperones can act as "disaggregases" for pre-existing aggregates (Doyle & Wickner, 2009; Shorter, 2011). Molecular chaperones are functionally supported by co-chaperones such as the large family of HSP40 (DnaJ) proteins that regulate ATP hydrolysis of HSP70 (Liberek *et al.*, 1991; Fan *et al.*, 2003).

Owing to their potential to counteract protein misfolding and aggregation, chaperones have been associated with beneficial effects on neurodegeneration-related proteins, including TDP-43. For example, upregulation of the small heat-shock protein B8 (HSPB8) has been shown to reduce the accumulation and aggregation of TDP-43, TDP-35, and especially TDP-25 through autophagic clearance and to attenuate the associated neurotoxicity in cells and in vivo (Crippa, Carra, et al., 2010; Crippa, Sau, et al., 2010; Gregory et al., 2012; Crippa, Cicardi, et al., 2016; Crippa, D'Agostino, et al., 2016). A closely related small HSP, HSPB1, localizes to cytoplasmic TDP-43 droplets and inhibits their transition into fibrils, while depletion of HSPB1, as observed in ALS spinal cords, promotes abnormal TDP-43 phase separation and mislocalization (Lu et al., 2022). Moreover, an HSP90 ATPase inhibitor, which also modulates the activity of other HSPs, was reported to reduce TDP-43 levels (Jinwal et al., 2012) and inhibit reactive oxygen species (ROS)-stimulated TDP-43 aggregation (Chang et al., 2013). HSP70 is another molecular chaperone involved in TDP-43 self-assembly: it stabilizes RNA-deficient TDP-43 as the core component of liquid-like "anisosomes", but loss of its ATP activity transforms TDP-43 into gels, which presumably precede intracellular aggregates (Yu et al., 2021; Lu et al., 2022). Indeed, the interaction of HSP40/HSP70 chaperones with TDP-43 has previously been shown to maintain its solubility and diminish its stress-induced aggregation (Gregory et al., 2012; Udan-Johns et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2016).

The heat-shock transcription factor-1 (HSF-1), a key transcription factor that upregulates levels of cellular chaperones (Trinklein *et al.*, 2004), including those of HSP40/HSP70, mitigates TDP-43 pathology (Chen *et al.*, 2016; Wang *et al.*, 2017). Lastly, an engineered variant of the yeast-derived disaggregase HSP104 has been demonstrated to dissolve not only TDP-43, but also  $\alpha$ -synuclein and FUS aggregates and mitigate associated toxicities (Jackrel *et al.*, 2014; Tariq *et al.*, 2019). Taken together, these data emphasize that enhancing chaperone activity offers an attractive therapeutic concept for the treatment of TDP-43-associated diseases. However, since chaperones have also been implicated in cancer promotion (Calderwood & Murshid, 2017), caution must be exercised in the development of such therapies.

# 2.4.2. The ubiquitin-proteasome system and autophagy as the principal cellular clearance pathways

If refolding attempts by chaperones fail, misfolded and damaged soluble proteins, but also short-lived regulatory proteins, are typically ubiquitinated by a cascade involving E1, E2, and E3 enzymes described earlier (*see section 2.3.7.*). Such polyubiquitinated substrates are typically degraded by one of the proteolytic "workhorses" in eukaryotic cells, the 26S proteasome. The 26S proteasome is a 2.5 MDa multi-subunit complex consisting of a barrel-shaped 20S core particle capped on one or both sides by a 19S regulatory particle (Bard *et al.*, 2018). Subunits of the regulatory particle recognize the polyubiquitin chains of substrates, which are removed by deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) prior to degradation. Utilizing the energy from ATP hydrolysis, the 19S particle unfolds the bound substrates and translocates them through a narrow pore into the 20S core particle, which functions as a catalytic chamber for the actual proteolytic cleavage, leaving behind small peptides in the range of 8-12 amino acids that are further degraded by carboxy- or aminopeptidases or used for antigen presentation (Ciechanover & Kwon, 2015, 2017; Rousseau & Bertolotti, 2018).

The second highly conserved and vital cellular degradation pathway is autophagy, which either non-selectively (bulk autophagy) or selectively (using receptors to recognize only specific substrates such as organelles or aggregates) targets cytosolic material for digestion within lysosomes (Glick et al., 2010). Depending on how cargo is directed to lysosomes, autophagy can be subdivided into macroautophagy, microautophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA). The best characterized variant, macroautophagy (hereafter simply referred to as autophagy), encompasses a multi-step process: upon initiation, a phagophore is formed at dysfunctional proteins, pathogens, or organelles, which expands into a closed double-membrane vesicle called an autophagosome. The autophagosome then fuses with the lysosome to produce an autolysosome, in which hydrolases digest the engulfed cargo before releasing the end products back into the cytosol (Feng et al., 2014). Autophagy is viewed as a pro-survival cellular response to a wide range of stresses, including nutritional, ER, and oxidative stress (Murrow & Debnath, 2013). While the proteasome can efficiently break down soluble misfolded and short-lived proteins, the autophagic machinery primarily deals with long-lived and larger, aggregated protein species ("aggrephagy") (Lamark & Johansen, 2012; Kocaturk & Gozuacik, 2018; X. Ma et al., 2022). Autophagy and the UPS are not completely independent proteolytic systems, but interplay in a delicate and complex fashion, resulting in both mutual compensatory and inhibitory effects. In fact, several proteins function at the crossroad of both clearance pathways, such as the multi-functional p62/SQSTM1, which is not only a classical autophagy receptor, but also directs ubiguitinated proteins to 26S proteasomes (Cohen-Kaplan et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2016). Moreover, the linkage pattern of polyubiquitin

chains is thought to determine the proteolytic route, with the K48 and K63 chains representing the prime signal for proteasomal and autophagic clearance, respectively (Tan *et al.*, 2008; Ciechanover & Stanhill, 2014).

The importance of the UPS and autophagy in the ALS/FTD disease spectrum has been strongly evidenced at multiple levels. As mentioned above, mutations in genes linked to the proteostasis network increase the risk of developing ALS and/or FTD, disrupt protein clearance pathways, and lead to the accumulation of TDP-43 (Filimonenko et al., 2007; Gitcho et al., 2009; Ju et al., 2009; Deng et al., 2011; Goode et al., 2016). Autophagy and the UPS have also been implicated in the pathophysiology of sporadic ALS/FTD: ubiquitin homeostasis and proteasomal activity are compromised in sALS (Kabashi et al., 2012; Farrawell et al., 2020), and autophagosomes are enriched in the spinal cord of such cases (Sasaki, 2011). Moreover, in mice, knockout of the essential proteasome subunit Rpt3 specifically in motor neurons results in ALS-like motor dysfunction, neuronal loss, as well as TDP-43 mislocalization and accumulation (Tashiro et al., 2012), whereas loss of the key autophagy inducers Atg5 or Atg7 in the CNS leads to a neurodegenerative phenotype accompanied by the accumulation of ubiquitin-positive inclusions (Hara et al., 2006; Komatsu et al., 2006). The presence of p62- and ubiguitin-positive inclusions containing misfolded and aggregated ALS/FTD-linked proteins indicates that degradation by the UPS, autophagy, or both is dysfunctional and/or overwhelmed.

Both the proteasomal and autophagic machinery are involved in the turnover of TDP-43 and its CTFs, and consequently their blockade results in the accumulation and aggregation of TDP-43 protein species (Urushitani et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010; Brady et al., 2011; Scotter et al., 2014; Cascella et al., 2017; Cicardi et al., 2018). Following the consensus of protein clearance pathways, soluble TDP-43 is thought to be mainly eliminated by the UPS, whereas oligomeric/microaggregated TDP-43 species are preferentially removed by autophagy, and large macroaggregates are unlikely to be efficiently degraded (Scotter et al., 2014; Cascella et al., 2017). Interestingly, TDP-43 aggregates contain both K48- and K63-linked polyubiquitin chains, presumably because non-degradable K48-labeled substrates are tagged with K63 ubiguitin for autophagic processing (Seyfried et al., 2010; Scotter et al., 2014). Inhibition of the proteasome in cells causes nuclear or cytoplasmic TDP-43 demixing (Yu et al., 2021; Lu et al., 2022) and mislocalization to the cytoplasm, accompanied by the formation of phosphorylated and ubiquitinated aggregates (van Eersel et al., 2011), all features linked to TDP-43-driven neurodegeneration. Of note, the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib may similarly induce TDP-43 dysfunction, which could underlie the peripheral neuropathy observed in multiple myeloma patients treated with this drug (Argyriou et al., 2008; Klim et al., 2021). TDP-25 has been reported to be mainly proteolyzed by the UPS pathway (Liu et al., 2014), while disease-specific C-terminal hyperphosphorylation confers stability towards its

proteasomal breakdown (Zhang *et al.*, 2010). However, TDP-43 also impacts the UPS functionality: aggregation of disease-mutated TDP-43 results in UPS malfunction, sequesters ubiquitin, and thus reduces the cellular ubiquitin pool (Farrawell *et al.*, 2020). Impairment of proteasome activity by (aggregated) protein species may in turn prevent their own clearance, exacerbating the dysfunction in a vicious cycle.

Likewise, the relationship between TDP-43 and the autophagic system is not one-sided. On the one hand, small-molecule activators of autophagy have been convincingly demonstrated to booster TDP-43 turnover and/or to mitigate associated pathology, toxicity, and phenotypic abnormalities *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Caccamo *et al.*, 2009; Wang *et al.*, 2012; Barmada *et al.*, 2014; X. Wang *et al.*, 2015; Imamura *et al.*, 2017; Zhou *et al.*, 2018; Kumar *et al.*, 2021; Lee *et al.*, 2021; Chu *et al.*, 2023). On the other hand, loss of TDP-43 leads to (I) depletion of the crucial autophagy gene *ATG7*, whose upregulation attenuates motor dysfunction in TDP-43-deficient flies (Bose *et al.*, 2011; Donde *et al.*, 2020), (II) a decrease in dynactin 1 and HDAC6, two proteins relevant for proper autophagic function (Fiesel *et al.*, 2010; Xia *et al.*, 2016), and (III) a downregulation of parkin, which is involved in mitophagy (Polymenidou *et al.*, 2011; Lagier-Tourenne *et al.*, 2012), altogether suggesting that TDP-43 dysfunction negatively affects autophagy. Furthermore, TDP-43 has also been shown to be cleared by CMA (Ormeño *et al.*, 2020) and the endo-lysosomal system (Liu *et al.*, 2017; Leibiger *et al.*, 2018).

Collectively, these data establish a strong, mutual link between TDP-43 pathology and cellular degradation pathways. Enhancing their functionality to remove aberrantly accumulated TDP-43 is considered a promising target for intervention in ALS and FTD.

# 3. Active and passive vaccination targeting pathological proteins in neurodegenerative diseases

The invention of vaccination (hereafter used synonymously with "immunization" for simplicity) is undoubtedly one of the greatest achievements in medicine, and its worldwide use, primarily against infectious diseases, saves millions of lives every year (Pollard & Bijker, 2021). By targeting inclusion-forming proteins, immunization strategies can also be applied to neurodegenerative disorders, and many of these approaches have shown promising preclinical effects. The following sections summarize the immunological basis, relevant examples, and commonly proposed mechanisms by which antibody-based approaches can be directed against pathological proteins in neurodegenerative diseases, including TDP-43 in ALS/FTD.

#### 3.1. Immunological basics of active and passive immunization

In general, immunization can be divided into an active and a passive variant, both of which equip the body with antibodies. Conventional antibodies are Y-shaped, modular macromolecules consisting of antigen-binding regions (antigen-binding fragment, Fab) that confer high epitope specificity and constant regions (crystallizable fragment, Fc) as the tail that mediate effector functions through interactions with Fc receptors (FcRs) or complement proteins (Chiu et al., 2019). Passive vaccination refers to the administration of (nowadays mostly) human or humanized therapeutic monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), mainly delivered systemically by intravenous injection (Lu et al., 2020). Active vaccination involves the application, mostly intramuscularly, of an antigen (in the case of neurodegenerative diseases, typically a synthetic peptide fragment of an aggregationprone protein) that is recognized by the immune system and stimulates a specific immune response (Pollard & Bijker, 2021). In brief, antigen-presenting cells (APCs), such as dendritic cells, engulf the peptide antigen and subsequently degrade it into smaller peptide fragments that are presented on the cell surface via two types of major histocompatibility complex molecules (MHC I and II). In the lymph nodes, activated APCs can initiate two cascades of adaptive immunity: (a) peptide-loaded MHC class II molecules interact with naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, which in turn become activated and differentiate into Th1 or Th2 cells. Th2-driven proliferation of soluble antigen-primed B lymphocytes generates antibodysecreting plasma cells, some of which reside long-term in the bone marrow and spleen, and memory B cells that can respond rapidly and efficiently to the antigen upon reexposure (humoral immune response). This T cell-dependent B cell reaction results in high-affinity antibodies of different isotypes. (b) The second pathway, the cellular immune response, eliminates infected cells by cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> effector and memory T cells that develop from naïve CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells upon recognition of MHC I molecules on APCs and additional stimuli. The cell-mediated immune response can also be initiated by Th1 cells (Akkaya et al., 2020; Pollard & Bijker, 2021).

For active immunization in neurodegenerative diseases, a Th2-mediated humoral immune response is usually the preferred effect (Vassilakopoulou *et al.*, 2021). This requires the presence of both B and T cell epitopes in the administered active vaccine. However, the induction of cytotoxic T cells targeting epitopes within endogenous proteins is a potential safety concern. The careful selection of shorter peptides within native, aggregation-prone proteins minimizes the risk of a detrimental cellular immune response (Axelsen *et al.*, 2011), as does the conjugation of *per se* weakly immunogenic peptides to carrier proteins such as tetanus or diphtheria toxoids (Vassilakopoulou *et al.*, 2021). Carrier molecules provide T cell epitopes to elicit a robust immune response, but have no sequence homology in humans. Moreover, active vaccine formulations typically contain adjuvants, components that additionally stimulate the immune system towards an antigen. Examples

49

of adjuvants commonly used in vaccines include the well-established aluminum salts (which primarily promote Th2 immune responses), emulsions such as MF59, and immune potentiators like CpG oligodeoxynucleotides (CpG ODNs), which act as Toll-like receptor (TLR) 9 agonists (Facciolà *et al.*, 2022). The antigen-enhancing effects of vaccine adjuvants have been attributed to complex and not fully understood mechanisms, including depot effects resulting from antigen absorption and continuous release, increased antigen uptake by APCs, promotion of a local proinflammatory milieu that recruits immune cells, or direct activation of immune cells (Shi *et al.*, 2019).

The fundamental importance of epitope and adjuvant selection for active vaccines is highlighted by early work on A $\beta$  vaccines: 6% of patients immunized with the preclinically promising full-length A $\beta_{1-42}$  peptide (*see next section*) developed meningoencephalitis, leading to the termination of a clinical trial and attributed to T cell epitopes in A $\beta$  and/or the strong Th1-inducing adjuvant used (Orgogozo *et al.*, 2003; Lemere & Masliah, 2010). Today, active and passive immunotherapies target specific epitopes within neurodegeneration-related proteins, some of which are implicated in aggregation, spreading, or harmful cellular interactions. Alternatively, they may recognize disease-specific conformations (monomers, oligomers, fibrils, ...) or PTMs, thus minimizing cross-reaction with the functional native protein (Congdon *et al.*, 2022).

Specific characteristics of active and passive vaccination can be advantageous or disadvantageous depending on the therapeutic need. Active immunization is usually costeffective, requires only a few injections, and produces a long-lasting immune response (Lemere, 2013). While active vaccines induce a polyclonal antibody response (different B cells produce antibodies against multiple epitopes of the antigen), mAbs for passive immunization selectively target a single epitope. Therefore, active immunotherapy may result in broader coverage of the antigen, whereas mAbs are characterized by high specificity, both of which may be desirable but are mutually exclusive. In addition, due to immunosenescence, elderly individuals often do not respond efficiently to active vaccination, as do immunocompromised patients, and hence passive immunization is preferred (Lannfelt *et al.*, 2014). Therapeutic mAbs offer tight dosage control and immediate, reversible effects, but are expensive and require frequent administration.

#### 3.2. Vaccination approaches in preclinical and clinical studies

Tremendous efforts have been made in recent decades to explore the therapeutic potential of both active and passive vaccination in neurodegenerative diseases, with research on AD leading the way. In 1999, Schenk *et al.* showed that active vaccination using full-length  $A\beta_{1.42}$  greatly reduced plaque pathology in an AD mouse model (Schenk *et al.*, 1999). Shortly thereafter, a mAb directed against the N-terminus of A $\beta$  was reported to induce microglial clearance of A $\beta$  deposits in transgenic AD mice (Bard *et al.*, 2000).

These experiments were the starting point for numerous clinical trials testing synthetic peptides and mAbs for active and passive immunization, respectively, in AD and other neurodegenerative diseases (Mortada *et al.*, 2021). Although many of the drug candidates along the way failed to show clinical improvement (presumably in part because they were administered too late in the disease course) or caused adverse effects, the two A $\beta$ -specific mAbs aducanumab and lecanemab reduced amyloid burden, slowed cognitive decline in AD patients, and were recently approved by the FDA (Sevigny *et al.*, 2016; Budd Haeberlein *et al.*, 2022; van Dyck *et al.*, 2023). Their entry into the market can be considered historic, not only because the observed clinical benefits support a long debated pathogenic role for A $\beta$ , but also because these antibodies are the first ever disease-modifying therapeutics for AD (Cummings, 2023).

Active and passive immunotherapeutic approaches have also been developed to target tau in tauopathies and α-synuclein in synucleinopathies, and several candidates are in ongoing clinical trials. The active vaccine AADvac1, for example, is a carrier-conjugated synthetic peptide derived from the tau microtubule-binding region and is currently being investigated for the treatment of AD and nfvPPA. So far, it has been well tolerated, robustly induced a strong antigen-specific antibody response, reduced the increase in plasma NfL and, although only in a subset of patients, slowed clinical decline (Novak *et al.*, 2017; Novak *et al.*, 2021).

Immunotherapies directed against other aggregating proteins involved in the ALS/FTD spectrum are still in the preclinical stage. In this context, the abundant DPR protein poly-GA in C9-ALS/FTD is a promising target. High-affinity poly-GA antibodies, interestingly originally derived from healthy individuals, reduced levels of multiple DPR proteins, prolonged survival, and improved phenotypic abnormalities when systemically administered to a *C9orf72* mouse model (Nguyen *et al.*, 2020). Similarly, an active vaccination approach using (GA)<sub>10</sub> conjugated to the carrier protein ovalbumin resulted in a pronounced anti-GA response, lowered poly-GA accumulation, decreased aberrant microglial activation, and ameliorated the motor phenotype of transgenic poly-GA mice (Zhou *et al.*, 2020).

For TDP-43, only strategies involving the application or expression of mAbs (or fragments thereof) have been pursued to date. A full-length mAb targeting TDP-43 RRM1 was shown to reduce cytoplasmic TDP-43 as well as p65-driven NFκB activation both *in vitro* and in motor neurons of a TDP-43 mouse model after intrathecal administration (Pozzi *et al.*, 2020). A single-chain variable fragment (scFv) of this antibody ameliorated TDP-43 proteinopathy, neuroinflammation as well as cognitive and motor function when AAV-delivered in the brains of mice expressing ALS-associated *TARDBP* mutations (Pozzi *et al.*, 2019). In addition, another scFv targeting an RRM2 epitope and carrying two proteolytic signals enhanced the clearance of aggregated TDP-43 in cells and in mice that

51

were *in utero* electroporated with plasmids encoding the scFv and aggregation-prone TDP-43 (Tamaki *et al.*, 2018). Recently, the CTD of TDP-43 has been identified as another potential target domain for antibody-based therapy: following systemic application, a CTD-directed mAb was found to reduce levels of pTDP-43 and microglial inflammation in rNLS8 mice, as well as neuronal loss in an *in vivo* seeding model of TDP-43 proteinopathy (Afroz *et al.*, 2023).

#### 3.3. Proposed mechanisms of antibody therapy

To combat CNS diseases, the biggest obstacle for antibodies, whether from active or passive immunization, is crossing the tight blood-brain barrier (BBB). The BBB represents a physical barrier at the interface of blood vessels and the brain interstitium and is formed by tight junction-connected endothelial cells, pericytes, and astrocyte endfeet. It plays a protective role for the CNS by selectively regulating the bidirectional shuttling of substances between the brain and the external milieu (Daneman & Prat, 2015). Because antibodies are large (~150 kDa for immunoglobulin G, IgG) and show non-specific uptake, their CNS penetrance is generally very low, estimated at 0.01-0.4% (Pepinsky et al., 2011; St-Amour et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2022). While this limited uptake may be sufficient for the treatment of certain diseases, various (bioengineering) strategies have been explored to increase the delivery of antibodies into the CNS, e.g., by harnessing endogenous transport systems. The endothelial transferrin receptor (TfR), for instance, mediates transcellular delivery of transferrin-bound iron to the brain, but is also utilized when different types of TfR binders are introduced into macromolecular cargoes (Gosselet et al., 2021). As a result, brain concentrations of macromolecules can be substantially increased, as recently demonstrated for two mAbs that promote clearance of Aβ deposits (Weber et al., 2018; Kariolis et al., 2020; Schlepckow et al., 2020; van Lengerich et al., 2023).

Once taken up into the CNS, antibodies can exert multiple, mutually non-exclusive beneficial effects (**Figure 3**), either <u>inside or outside the cell</u>. Regardless of their intra- or extracellular localization, antibodies can prevent or reverse the formation of pathological protein assemblies such as oligomers or aggregates. The resulting smaller protein species are generally more amenable to clearance (Congdon *et al.*, 2022). In the extracellular <u>space</u>, antibodies can bind to proteins and block their uptake into neighboring cells through reduced interaction with surface receptors. This prevents cell-to-cell transmission and reduces seeding potency ("neutralizing effect") (Katsinelos *et al.*, 2019), thereby inhibiting disease propagation throughout the CNS in a prion-like fashion, as has been suggested for several neurodegeneration-related proteins, including TDP-43 (*see section 2.3.8.*). Treatment with mAbs has been shown to reduce cellular uptake and/or transmission of tau (Evans *et al.*, 2018),  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Tran *et al.*, 2014), and poly-GA (Zhou *et al.*, 2017),

and such a mechanism is also likely to underlie the neuroprotective effect of TDP-43 mAb injection in a mouse model of TDP-43 spreading (Afroz *et al.*, 2023). In addition, antibodies can enhance protein internalization and degradation by microglia (opsonization), which has been reported for A $\beta$  (Bard *et al.*, 2000), tau (Funk *et al.*, 2015),  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Bae *et al.*, 2012), and TDP-43 (Afroz *et al.*, 2023). Importantly, protein clearance relies on Fc $\gamma$  receptors (Fc $\gamma$ Rs), which are predominantly expressed on microglia and mediate the uptake of protein:antibody complexes via interaction with the Fc region of IgGs (Katsinelos *et al.*, 2019). In general, the effector functions conferred by Fc regions depend on the IgG isotype, with some of these functions being undesirable, such as inducing the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. For the latter reason, certain mAbs rely on the less potent IgG4 instead of the effective IgG1 backbone, or on mAb fragments that lack Fc regions entirely (Vidarsson *et al.*, 2014; Katsinelos *et al.*, 2019; Congdon *et al.*, 2023). Although the absence of effector functions does not generally preclude beneficial effects (Lee *et al.*, 2016), Fc $\gamma$ R-dependent microglial phagocytosis of pathological proteins is widely considered an important mode of action for antibody therapy (Novak *et al.*, 2018).

The neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn) is highly expressed on the BBB endothelium (Schlachetzki *et al.*, 2002) and putatively responsible for reverse transcytosis of pathological proteins from the brain, as suggested by work on A $\beta$  (Deane *et al.*, 2005), although the therapeutic relevance remains elusive. Peripheral A $\beta$  is bound by mAbs in the blood, which – assuming an equilibrium between the CNS and the periphery – would promote the efflux of free A $\beta$  from the brain, thereby lowering the CNS A $\beta$  burden (DeMattos *et al.*, 2001). This highly controversial "peripheral sink" mechanism has been proposed for A $\beta$ , but so far not for other amyloid-like proteins.

In contrast to the largely extracellular  $A\beta$  deposited in plaques, pathological inclusions of other neurodegeneration-associated proteins, including those of TDP-43, are predominantly found within neuronal cells. Indeed, antibodies against tau (Congdon *et al.*, 2013), poly-GA (Jambeau *et al.*, 2022), and TDP-43 (Pozzi *et al.*, 2020) have been reported to be internalized into neurons, either alone or in complexes with their target protein (Evans *et al.*, 2018). The efficacy of neuronal uptake is influenced by antibody charge, glycosylation, and isotype, among other parameters, and occurs via endocytosis (Congdon *et al.*, 2023). Inside neurons (and likely other relevant brain cells), antibodies bind to target proteins and exert their protective functions at several stages: antibodies have been detected within endosomal-lysosomal vesicles (Pozzi *et al.*, 2020), where they can promote the disassembly and enhanced lysosomal degradation of pathological proteins, as well as block their escape into the cytoplasm to induce seeding (Katsinelos *et al.*, 2019; Congdon *et al.*, 2022). Outside the vesicles, in the cytoplasmic compartment, antibodies can prevent the interaction of toxic protein species with cellular structures (e.g., membranes) as well as their release from neuronal cells.

53

An important role has recently been attributed to tripartite motif-containing protein 21 (TRIM21), a cytosolic Fc receptor and ubiquitin ligase expressed in neurons and microglia. IgG antibodies bind to protein targets with their variable regions and recruit the highly affine TRIM21 through Fc regions, and due to the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of TRIM21, the complex is targeted for proteasomal degradation (Mallery *et al.*, 2010). TRIM21-dependent, antibody-mediated clearance has been shown to reduce not only seeded aggregation of tau *in vitro* and *in vivo* (McEwan *et al.*, 2017; Mukadam *et al.*, 2023), but also cellular poly-GA (Nguyen *et al.*, 2020) and TDP-43 (Pozzi *et al.*, 2020) levels, highlighting it as a broad and critical pathway activated by antibody therapy.

Overall, after years of failed clinical trials, immunotherapeutic strategies targeting aggregating proteins in neurodegenerative diseases now appear to have reached a level of safety and efficacy that allows for market access, as demonstrated by Aβ mAbs. The growing understanding of disease mechanisms and the modes of action of antibodies in the CNS (e.g., increasing clearance, preventing the propagation and aggregation of neurotoxic proteins) makes active and passive immunization a promising therapeutic approach to combat aggregating proteins involved in disease. Emerging technologies such as the bioengineering of antibodies to confer multispecificity and multivalency, or the use of small antibody fragments such as scFvs or nanobodies, offer several advantages over classic IgGs and thus represent additional powerful tools in the future fight against neurodegenerative diseases.

#### Introduction



Figure 3: Postulated modes of action of antibodies derived from active or passive vaccination. Peripherally administered monoclonal antibodies (mAbs; passive vaccination) as well as polyclonal antibodies induced by active vaccines cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) to a minor extent. Within the central nervous system (CNS), antibodies can act extracellularly by (a) inhibiting cellular uptake and seeding activity of proteins with prionlike transmission or (b) promoting microglial clearance of protein aggregates after uptake through Fcy receptors (FcyR). Once internalized into neurons, antibodies can enhance antigen degradation by (c) lysosomes or (d) the proteasome, the latter in cooperation with the cytosolic Fc receptor TRIM21. Antibodies can also block toxic cellular interactions or (e) the release of protein aggregates. Either inside or outside neurons, antibodies are thought to (f) inhibit or reverse the formation of toxic higher-order assemblies such as oligomers or amyloids. In the periphery, (g) antibodies may sequester circulating protein species and thus "pull" pathological protein out of the brain (highly debated "peripheral sink" mechanism). Together, these non-exclusive mechanisms counteract the deleterious effects of neurodegeneration-related proteins at multiple levels. Note that this figure was created using BioRender.com.

## 4. Aims of this work

Despite the central role of TDP-43 aggregates in ALS and FTD, their native conformations within cells and their downstream toxicity mechanisms remain poorly understood. So far, structural analysis of TDP-43 has focused on purified recombinant or synthetic protein fragments and *ex vivo* patient material enriched for insoluble TDP-43 (Guenther, Cao, *et al.*, 2018; Arseni *et al.*, 2022). However, these methods have inherent limitations because the structures obtained are either derived from purely *in vitro* experiments or, in the case of patient-derived samples, can be affected by harsh extraction methods (Zielinski *et al.*, 2021), making both approaches unlikely to yield true structures in living ALS/FTD patients. In addition, these reductionist approaches completely lack information about the native cellular interactions of the aggregates, preventing deeper insight into disease mechanisms.

Therefore, in the **first project** of my doctoral studies, I aimed to decipher the structure and toxic mechanisms of the inclusion-forming "TDP-25" fragment in primary neurons. In a collaborative effort combining cryo-electron tomography (cryo-ET), proteomics, and functional assays, I intended to

- elucidate the structural architecture and material properties of TDP-25 in situ,
- identify proteins that interact with TDP-25 in neurons and,
- use these insights to uncover novel mechanisms of how TDP-25 contributes to ALS/FTD pathogenesis.

Despite much progress in understanding the role of TDP-43 in disease, targeting TDP-43 pathomechanisms therapeutically has proven difficult. This is largely explained by the fact that an excess or deficiency of TDP-43 is detrimental to neuronal health (Lee *et al.*, 2011). Encouraged by the recent success of antibody therapy against A $\beta$  in AD (Cummings, 2023), in the **second project**, I explored the therapeutic potential of active immunization targeting TDP-43. My specific aims included:

- identify safe and immunogenic epitopes within TDP-43 by actively immunizing mice with multiple peptide antigens that collectively cover the entire TDP-43 protein,
- test the therapeutic efficacy of these peptide antigens for active immunization in an ALS mouse model,
- generate a panel of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) and examine their effects on disease pathways *in vitro*, with the goal of identifying mAbs for future passive vaccination.

In summary, these projects aim to deepen the understanding of TDP-43's role in ALS/FTD and to explore novel therapeutic concepts for these incurable neurodegenerative diseases.

## **II.** Publications and contributions

## 1. Publication I

# Gel-like inclusions of C-terminal fragments of TDP-43 sequester stalled proteasomes in neurons

### Published as:

**Riemenschneider, H.\***, Guo, Q.\*, Bader, J., Frottin, F., Farny, D., Kleinberger, G., Haass, C., Mann, M., Hartl, F. U., Baumeister, W., Hipp, M. S., Meissner, F., Fernández-Busnadiego, R., & Edbauer, D. (2022). Gel-like inclusions of C-terminal fragments of TDP-43 sequester stalled proteasomes in neurons.

EMBO Rep, 23(6), e53890. doi: 10.15252/embr.202153890

(\* co-first authorship)

## Contribution:

As co-first author of this publication, I have been critically involved in the design, execution, analysis, and visualization of all the experiments presented. I cultured and infected primary neuronal cells for all experiments. I also performed immunostainings (Fig. 1A, 3E, EV3B), biochemical fractionation (Fig. 1B), FRAP experiments (Fig. 2, EV2) and, with minor assistance, flow cytometry reporter assays (Fig. 3F, EV3C). I analyzed and visualized the collected data from these experiments. For the cryo-ET experiments (Fig. 1C-F, EV1), I provided TDP-25-expressing neuronal cells. For the interactome studies (Fig. 3A-D, EV3A and D), I conducted the co-immunoprecipitation experiments, analyzed parts of the data, and prepared the figures. The shared first authorship is explained by the combination of expertise in primary neuron cultures (including biochemical and functional assays) (myself) and cryo-electron tomography (Q. Guo). Only the synergy of these techniques allowed for the deep insights revealed by this work.

## 2. Publication II

## Targeting the glycine-rich domain of TDP-43 with antibodies prevents its aggregation *in vitro* and reduces neurofilament levels *in vivo*

### Published as:

**Riemenschneider, H.**, Simonetti, F., Sheth, U., Katona, E., Roth, S., Hutten, S., Farny, D., Michaelsen, M., Nuscher, B., Schmidt, M. K., Flatley, A., Schepers, A., Gruijs da Silva, L. A., Zhou, Q., Klopstock, T., Liesz, A., Arzberger, T., Herms, J., Feederle, R., Gendron, T. F., Dormann, D., & Edbauer, D. (2023). Targeting the glycine-rich domain of TDP-43 with antibodies prevents its aggregation in vitro and reduces neurofilament levels in vivo.

Acta Neuropathol Commun, 11(1), 112. doi: 10.1186/s40478-023-01592-z

### Contribution:

As the first author of this publication, I performed all *in vivo* experiments, analyzed most of the tissue samples, and conducted all *in vitro* assays. Only the generation and initial affinity testing of novel mAbs as well as the pTDP-43(S409/410) immunoassay, immunostaining (Fig. 3A and B) and RNA-seq data analysis (Fig. 6A-D, S4A, B and D) of my samples were done by collaborators. I also contributed to the immunoassay for the inflammatory markers (Fig. 6E, S4C) and the time-lapse recordings of TDP-43 droplets (Fig. S5A). I prepared all figures.

### References

- Abe, K., Yuki, S., & Kogure, K. (1988). Strong attenuation of ischemic and postischemic brain edema in rats by a novel free radical scavenger. *Stroke, 19*(4), 480-485.
- Afroz, T., Hock, E. M., Ernst, P., Foglieni, C., Jambeau, M., Gilhespy, L. A. B., Laferriere, F., Maniecka, Z., Plückthun, A., Mittl, P., Paganetti, P., Allain, F. H. T., & Polymenidou, M. (2017). Functional and dynamic polymerization of the ALS-linked protein TDP-43 antagonizes its pathologic aggregation. *Nat Commun, 8*(1), 45.
- Afroz, T., Chevalier, E., Audrain, M., Dumayne, C., Ziehm, T., Moser, R., Egesipe, A. L., Mottier, L., Ratnam, M., Neumann, M., Havas, D., Ollier, R., Piorkowska, K., Chauhan, M., Silva, A. B., Thapa, S., Stöhr, J., Bavdek, A., Eligert, V., Adolfsson, O., Nelson, P. T., Porta, S., Lee, V. M., Pfeifer, A., Kosco-Vilbois, M., & Seredenina, T. (2023). Immunotherapy targeting the C-terminal domain of TDP-43 decreases neuropathology and confers neuroprotection in mouse models of ALS/FTD. *Neurobiol Dis*, *179*, 106050.
- Aikio, M., Wobst, H. J., Odeh, H. M., Lee, B. L., Class, B., Ollerhead, T. A., Mack, K. L., Ford, A. F., Barbieri, E. M., Cupo, R. R., Drake, L. E., Castello, N., Baral, A., Dunlop, J., Gitler, A. D., Javaherian, A., Finkbeiner, S., Brown, D. G., Moss, S. J., Brandon, N. J., & Shorter, J. (2021). Opposing roles of p38α-mediated phosphorylation and arginine methylation in driving TDP-43 proteinopathy. *bioRxiv*, 2021.2008.2004.455154.
- Aizawa, H., Yamashita, T., Kato, H., Kimura, T., & Kwak, S. (2019). Impaired Nucleoporins Are Present in Sporadic Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Motor Neurons that Exhibit Mislocalization of the 43-kDa TAR DNA-Binding Protein. *J Clin Neurol*, *15*(1), 62-67.
- Akkaya, M., Kwak, K., & Pierce, S. K. (2020). B cell memory: building two walls of protection against pathogens. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 20(4), 229-238.
- Alami, N. H., Smith, R. B., Carrasco, M. A., Williams, L. A., Winborn, C. S., Han, S. S. W., Kiskinis, E., Winborn, B., Freibaum, B. D., Kanagaraj, A., Clare, A. J., Badders, N. M., Bilican, B., Chaum, E., Chandran, S., Shaw, C. E., Eggan, K. C., Maniatis, T., & Taylor, J. P. (2014). Axonal transport of TDP-43 mRNA granules is impaired by ALS-causing mutations. *Neuron*, *81*(3), 536-543.
- Alberti, S., Halfmann, R., King, O., Kapila, A., & Lindquist, S. (2009). A systematic survey identifies prions and illuminates sequence features of prionogenic proteins. *Cell*, 137(1), 146-158.
- Alberti, S., & Hyman, A. A. (2016). Are aberrant phase transitions a driver of cellular aging? *Bioessays, 38*(10), 959-968.
- Alberti, S., & Dormann, D. (2019). Liquid-Liquid Phase Separation in Disease. Annu Rev Genet, 53, 171-194.
- Amador-Ortiz, C., Lin, W. L., Ahmed, Z., Personett, D., Davies, P., Duara, R., Graff-Radford, N. R., Hutton, M. L., & Dickson, D. W. (2007). TDP-43 immunoreactivity in hippocampal sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol*, *61*(5), 435-445.
- Andersen, P. M., Abrahams, S., Borasio, G. D., de Carvalho, M., Chio, A., Van Damme, P., Hardiman, O., Kollewe, K., Morrison, K. E., Petri, S., Pradat, P. F., Silani, V., Tomik, B., Wasner, M., & Weber, M. (2012). EFNS guidelines on the clinical management of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (MALS)-revised report of an EFNS task force. *Eur J Neurol*, *19*(3), 360-375.
- Anderson, P., & Kedersha, N. (2008). Stress granules: the Tao of RNA triage. *Trends Biochem Sci, 33*(3), 141-150.
- Andrews, J. A., Jackson, C. E., Heiman-Patterson, T. D., Bettica, P., Brooks, B. R., & Pioro, E. P. (2020). Real-world evidence of riluzole effectiveness in treating amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener, 21*(7-8), 509-518.
- Arai, T., Hasegawa, M., Akiyama, H., Ikeda, K., Nonaka, T., Mori, H., Mann, D., Tsuchiya, K., Yoshida, M., Hashizume, Y., & Oda, T. (2006). TDP-43 is a component of ubiquitin-positive tau-negative inclusions in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 351*(3), 602-611.
- Arai, T., Mackenzie, I. R., Hasegawa, M., Nonoka, T., Niizato, K., Tsuchiya, K., Iritani, S., Onaya, M., & Akiyama, H. (2009). Phosphorylated TDP-43 in Alzheimer's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. *Acta Neuropathol*, 117(2), 125-136.

- Arai, T., Hasegawa, M., Nonoka, T., Kametani, F., Yamashita, M., Hosokawa, M., Niizato, K., Tsuchiya, K., Kobayashi, Z., Ikeda, K., Yoshida, M., Onaya, M., Fujishiro, H., & Akiyama, H. (2010). Phosphorylated and cleaved TDP-43 in ALS, FTLD and other neurodegenerative disorders and in cellular models of TDP-43 proteinopathy. *Neuropathology*, *30*(2), 170-181.
- Archbold, H. C., Jackson, K. L., Arora, A., Weskamp, K., Tank, E. M., Li, X., Miguez, R., Dayton, R. D., Tamir, S., Klein, R. L., & Barmada, S. J. (2018). TDP43 nuclear export and neurodegeneration in models of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia. *Sci Rep, 8*(1), 4606.
- Argyriou, A. A., Iconomou, G., & Kalofonos, H. P. (2008). Bortezomib-induced peripheral neuropathy in multiple myeloma: a comprehensive review of the literature. *Blood, 112*(5), 1593-1599.
- Arnold, S. J., Dugger, B. N., & Beach, T. G. (2013). TDP-43 deposition in prospectively followed, cognitively normal elderly individuals: correlation with argyrophilic grains but not other concomitant pathologies. *Acta Neuropathol, 126*(1), 51-57.
- Arseni, D., Hasegawa, M., Murzin, A. G., Kametani, F., Arai, M., Yoshida, M., & Ryskeldi-Falcon, B. (2022). Structure of pathological TDP-43 filaments from ALS with FTLD. *Nature, 601*(7891), 139-143.
- Arseni, D., Chen, R., Murzin, A. G., Peak-Chew, S. Y., Garringer, H. J., Newell, K. L., Kametani, F., Robinson, A. C., Vidal, R., Ghetti, B., Hasegawa, M., & Ryskeldi-Falcon, B. (2023). TDP-43 forms amyloid filaments with a distinct fold in type A FTLD-TDP. *Nature*, 620(7975), 898-903.
- Arthur, K. C., Calvo, A., Price, T. R., Geiger, J. T., Chiò, A., & Traynor, B. J. (2016). Projected increase in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis from 2015 to 2040. *Nat Commun, 7*, 12408.
- Ash, P. E., Bieniek, K. F., Gendron, T. F., Caulfield, T., Lin, W. L., Dejesus-Hernandez, M., van Blitterswijk, M. M., Jansen-West, K., Paul, J. W., 3rd, Rademakers, R., Boylan, K. B., Dickson, D. W., & Petrucelli, L. (2013). Unconventional translation of C9ORF72 GGGGCC expansion generates insoluble polypeptides specific to c9FTD/ALS. *Neuron*, 77(4), 639-646.
- Augustin, I., Rosenmund, C., Südhof, T. C., & Brose, N. (1999). Munc13-1 is essential for fusion competence of glutamatergic synaptic vesicles. *Nature*, *400*(6743), 457-461.
- Aulas, A., Stabile, S., & Vande Velde, C. (2012). Endogenous TDP-43, but not FUS, contributes to stress granule assembly via G3BP. *Mol Neurodegener*, 7, 54.
- Aulas, A., Caron, G., Gkogkas, C. G., Mohamed, N. V., Destroismaisons, L., Sonenberg, N., Leclerc, N., Parker, J. A., & Vande Velde, C. (2015). G3BP1 promotes stress-induced RNA granule interactions to preserve polyadenylated mRNA. *J Cell Biol, 209*(1), 73-84.
- Aulas, A., & Vande Velde, C. (2015). Alterations in stress granule dynamics driven by TDP-43 and FUS: a link to pathological inclusions in ALS? *Front Cell Neurosci, 9*, 423.
- Avendano-Vazquez, S. E., Dhir, A., Bembich, S., Buratti, E., Proudfoot, N., & Baralle, F. E. (2012). Autoregulation of TDP-43 mRNA levels involves interplay between transcription, splicing, and alternative polyA site selection. *Genes Dev, 26*(15), 1679-1684.
- Axelsen, T. V., Holm, A., Christiansen, G., & Birkelund, S. (2011). Identification of the shortest Aβ-peptide generating highly specific antibodies against the C-terminal end of amyloid-β42. Vaccine, 29(17), 3260-3269.
- Ayala, Y. M., Pantano, S., D'Ambrogio, A., Buratti, E., Brindisi, A., Marchetti, C., Romano, M., & Baralle, F. E. (2005). Human, Drosophila, and C.elegans TDP43: nucleic acid binding properties and splicing regulatory function. *J Mol Biol*, *348*(3), 575-588.
- Ayala, Y. M., Misteli, T., & Baralle, F. E. (2008). TDP-43 regulates retinoblastoma protein phosphorylation through the repression of cyclin-dependent kinase 6 expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105*(10), 3785-3789.
- Ayala, Y. M., Zago, P., D'Ambrogio, A., Xu, Y. F., Petrucelli, L., Buratti, E., & Baralle, F. E. (2008). Structural determinants of the cellular localization and shuttling of TDP-43. *J Cell Sci, 121*(Pt 22), 3778-3785.
- Ayala, Y. M., De Conti, L., Avendano-Vazquez, S. E., Dhir, A., Romano, M., D'Ambrogio, A., Tollervey, J., Ule, J., Baralle, M., Buratti, E., & Baralle, F. E. (2011). TDP-43 regulates its mRNA levels through a negative feedback loop. *EMBO J, 30*(2), 277-288.

- Babinchak, W. M., Haider, R., Dumm, B. K., Sarkar, P., Surewicz, K., Choi, J. K., & Surewicz, W. K. (2019). The role of liquid-liquid phase separation in aggregation of the TDP-43 low-complexity domain. *J Biol Chem*, 294(16), 6306-6317.
- Bae, E. J., Lee, H. J., Rockenstein, E., Ho, D. H., Park, E. B., Yang, N. Y., Desplats, P., Masliah, E., & Lee, S. J. (2012). Antibody-aided clearance of extracellular α-synuclein prevents cell-to-cell aggregate transmission. *J Neurosci*, 32(39), 13454-13469.
- Baker, M., Mackenzie, I. R., Pickering-Brown, S. M., Gass, J., Rademakers, R., Lindholm, C., Snowden, J., Adamson, J., Sadovnick, A. D., Rollinson, S., Cannon, A., Dwosh, E., Neary, D., Melquist, S., Richardson, A., Dickson, D., Berger, Z., Eriksen, J., Robinson, T., Zehr, C., Dickey, C. A., Crook, R., McGowan, E., Mann, D., Boeve, B., Feldman, H., & Hutton, M. (2006). Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. *Nature*, *442*(7105), 916-919.
- Balbirnie, M., Grothe, R., & Eisenberg, D. S. (2001). An amyloid-forming peptide from the yeast prion Sup35 reveals a dehydrated beta-sheet structure for amyloid. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *98*(5), 2375-2380.
- Banani, S. F., Lee, H. O., Hyman, A. A., & Rosen, M. K. (2017). Biomolecular condensates: organizers of cellular biochemistry. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 18(5), 285-298.
- Bang, J., Spina, S., & Miller, B. L. (2015). Frontotemporal dementia. Lancet, 386(10004), 1672-1682.
- Bard, F., Cannon, C., Barbour, R., Burke, R. L., Games, D., Grajeda, H., Guido, T., Hu, K., Huang, J., Johnson-Wood, K., Khan, K., Kholodenko, D., Lee, M., Lieberburg, I., Motter, R., Nguyen, M., Soriano, F., Vasquez, N., Weiss, K., Welch, B., Seubert, P., Schenk, D., & Yednock, T. (2000). Peripherally administered antibodies against amyloid beta-peptide enter the central nervous system and reduce pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. *Nat Med, 6*(8), 916-919.
- Bard, J. A. M., Goodall, E. A., Greene, E. R., Jonsson, E., Dong, K. C., & Martin, A. (2018). Structure and Function of the 26S Proteasome. *Annu Rev Biochem*, *8*7, 697-724.
- Barmada, S. J., Skibinski, G., Korb, E., Rao, E. J., Wu, J. Y., & Finkbeiner, S. (2010). Cytoplasmic mislocalization of TDP-43 is toxic to neurons and enhanced by a mutation associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurosci, 30*(2), 639-649.
- Barmada, S. J., Serio, A., Arjun, A., Bilican, B., Daub, A., Ando, D. M., Tsvetkov, A., Pleiss, M., Li, X., Peisach, D., Shaw, C., Chandran, S., & Finkbeiner, S. (2014). Autophagy induction enhances TDP43 turnover and survival in neuronal ALS models. *Nat Chem Biol*, *10*(8), 677-685.
- Baughn, M. W., Melamed, Z., López-Erauskin, J., Beccari, M. S., Ling, K., Zuberi, A., Presa, M., Gonzalo-Gil, E., Maimon, R., Vazquez-Sanchez, S., Chaturvedi, S., Bravo-Hernández, M., Taupin, V., Moore, S., Artates, J. W., Acks, E., Ndayambaje, I. S., Agra de Almeida Quadros, A. R., Jafar-Nejad, P., Rigo, F., Bennett, C. F., Lutz, C., Lagier-Tourenne, C., & Cleveland, D. W. (2023). Mechanism of STMN2 cryptic splice-polyadenylation and its correction for TDP-43 proteinopathies. *Science*, 379(6637), 1140-1149.
- Bäumer, D., Hilton, D., Paine, S. M., Turner, M. R., Lowe, J., Talbot, K., & Ansorge, O. (2010). Juvenile ALS with basophilic inclusions is a FUS proteinopathy with FUS mutations. *Neurology*, 75(7), 611-618.
- Bennett, C. F. (2019). Therapeutic Antisense Oligonucleotides Are Coming of Age. Annu Rev Med, 70, 307-321.
- Bennion Callister, J., & Pickering-Brown, S. M. (2014). Pathogenesis/genetics of frontotemporal dementia and how it relates to ALS. *Exp Neurol, 262 Pt B*, 84-90.
- Bensimon, G., Lacomblez, L., & Meininger, V. (1994). A controlled trial of riluzole in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. ALS/Riluzole Study Group. N Engl J Med, 330(9), 585-591.
- Bensimon, G., Lacomblez, L., Delumeau, J. C., Bejuit, R., Truffinet, P., & Meininger, V. (2002). A study of riluzole in the treatment of advanced stage or elderly patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol, 249(5), 609-615.
- Bentmann, E., Neumann, M., Tahirovic, S., Rodde, R., Dormann, D., & Haass, C. (2012). Requirements for stress granule recruitment of fused in sarcoma (FUS) and TAR DNA-binding protein of 43 kDa (TDP-43). J Biol Chem, 287(27), 23079-23094.
- Bentmann, E., Haass, C., & Dormann, D. (2013). Stress granules in neurodegeneration--lessons learnt from TAR DNA binding protein of 43 kDa and fused in sarcoma. *Febs j, 280*(18), 4348-4370.

- Berning, B. A., & Walker, A. K. (2019). The Pathobiology of TDP-43 C-Terminal Fragments in ALS and FTLD. *Front Neurosci, 13*, 335.
- Bigio, E. H., Wu, J. Y., Deng, H. X., Bit-Ivan, E. N., Mao, Q., Ganti, R., Peterson, M., Siddique, N., Geula, C., Siddique, T., & Mesulam, M. (2013). Inclusions in frontotemporal lobar degeneration with TDP-43 proteinopathy (FTLD-TDP) and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), but not FTLD with FUS proteinopathy (FTLD-FUS), have properties of amyloid. *Acta Neuropathol, 125*(3), 463-465.
- Biogen & Ionis Pharmaceuticals. (28 March 2022). Biogen and Ionis Announce Topline Phase 1 Study Results of Investigational Drug in C9orf72 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. Biogen & Ionis Pharmaceuticals. Retrieved December 6 2023 from <u>https://investors.biogen.com/news-releases/news-releasedetails/biogen-and-ionis-announce-topline-phase-1-study-results</u>
- Blair, H. A. (2023). Tofersen: First Approval. Drugs, 83(11), 1039-1043.
- Boeynaems, S., Alberti, S., Fawzi, N. L., Mittag, T., Polymenidou, M., Rousseau, F., Schymkowitz, J., Shorter, J., Wolozin, B., Van Den Bosch, L., Tompa, P., & Fuxreiter, M. (2018). Protein Phase Separation: A New Phase in Cell Biology. *Trends Cell Biol, 28*(6), 420-435.
- Bose, J. K., Huang, C. C., & Shen, C. K. (2011). Regulation of autophagy by neuropathological protein TDP-43. J Biol Chem, 286(52), 4441-4448.
- Bowden, H. A., & Dormann, D. (2016). Altered mRNP granule dynamics in FTLD pathogenesis. *J Neurochem,* 138 Suppl 1, 112-133.
- Braak, H., Brettschneider, J., Ludolph, A. C., Lee, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Del Tredici, K. (2013). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis--a model of corticofugal axonal spread. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 9(12), 708-714.
- Brady, O. A., Meng, P., Zheng, Y., Mao, Y., & Hu, F. (2011). Regulation of TDP-43 aggregation by phosphorylation and p62/SQSTM1. *J Neurochem*, *116*(2), 248-259.
- Brettschneider, J., Del Tredici, K., Toledo, J. B., Robinson, J. L., Irwin, D. J., Grossman, M., Suh, E., Van Deerlin, V. M., Wood, E. M., Baek, Y., Kwong, L., Lee, E. B., Elman, L., McCluskey, L., Fang, L., Feldengut, S., Ludolph, A. C., Lee, V. M., Braak, H., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2013). Stages of pTDP-43 pathology in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Ann Neurol, 74*(1), 20-38.
- Brettschneider, J., Arai, K., Del Tredici, K., Toledo, J. B., Robinson, J. L., Lee, E. B., Kuwabara, S., Shibuya, K., Irwin, D. J., Fang, L., Van Deerlin, V. M., Elman, L., McCluskey, L., Ludolph, A. C., Lee, V. M., Braak, H., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2014). TDP-43 pathology and neuronal loss in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis spinal cord. Acta Neuropathol, 128(3), 423-437.
- Brettschneider, J., Del Tredici, K., Irwin, D. J., Grossman, M., Robinson, J. L., Toledo, J. B., Fang, L., Van Deerlin, V. M., Ludolph, A. C., Lee, V. M., Braak, H., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2014). Sequential distribution of pTDP-43 pathology in behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia (bvFTD). Acta Neuropathol, 127(3), 423-439.
- Brown, A. L., Wilkins, O. G., Keuss, M. J., Hill, S. E., Zanovello, M., Lee, W. C., Bampton, A., Lee, F. C. Y., Masino, L., Qi, Y. A., Bryce-Smith, S., Gatt, A., Hallegger, M., Fagegaltier, D., Phatnani, H., Newcombe, J., Gustavsson, E. K., Seddighi, S., Reyes, J. F., Coon, S. L., Ramos, D., Schiavo, G., Fisher, E. M. C., Raj, T., Secrier, M., Lashley, T., Ule, J., Buratti, E., Humphrey, J., Ward, M. E., & Fratta, P. (2022). TDP-43 loss and ALS-risk SNPs drive mis-splicing and depletion of UNC13A. *Nature, 603*(7899), 131-137.
- Bruijn, L. I., Houseweart, M. K., Kato, S., Anderson, K. L., Anderson, S. D., Ohama, E., Reaume, A. G., Scott, R. W., & Cleveland, D. W. (1998). Aggregation and motor neuron toxicity of an ALS-linked SOD1 mutant independent from wild-type SOD1. *Science, 281*(5384), 1851-1854.
- Brundin, P., Melki, R., & Kopito, R. (2010). Prion-like transmission of protein aggregates in neurodegenerative diseases. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 11*(4), 301-307.
- Buchan, J. R., Kolaitis, R. M., Taylor, J. P., & Parker, R. (2013). Eukaryotic stress granules are cleared by autophagy and Cdc48/VCP function. *Cell*, *153*(7), 1461-1474.
- Buchner, J. (1996). Supervising the fold: functional principles of molecular chaperones. Faseb j, 10(1), 10-19.
- Budd Haeberlein, S., Aisen, P. S., Barkhof, F., Chalkias, S., Chen, T., Cohen, S., Dent, G., Hansson, O., Harrison, K., von Hehn, C., Iwatsubo, T., Mallinckrodt, C., Mummery, C. J., Muralidharan, K. K., Nestorov, I., Nisenbaum, L., Rajagovindan, R., Skordos, L., Tian, Y., van Dyck, C. H., Vellas, B., Wu,

S., Zhu, Y., & Sandrock, A. (2022). Two Randomized Phase 3 Studies of Aducanumab in Early Alzheimer's Disease. *J Prev Alzheimers Dis, 9*(2), 197-210.

- Budini, M., Buratti, E., Stuani, C., Guarnaccia, C., Romano, V., De Conti, L., & Baralle, F. E. (2012). Cellular model of TAR DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP-43) aggregation based on its C-terminal Gln/Asn-rich region. J Biol Chem, 287(10), 7512-7525.
- Budini, M., Romano, V., Quadri, Z., Buratti, E., & Baralle, F. E. (2015). TDP-43 loss of cellular function through aggregation requires additional structural determinants beyond its C-terminal Q/N prion-like domain. *Hum Mol Genet*, 24(1), 9-20.
- Buratti, E., & Baralle, F. E. (2001). Characterization and functional implications of the RNA binding properties of nuclear factor TDP-43, a novel splicing regulator of CFTR exon 9. J Biol Chem, 276(39), 36337-36343.
- Buratti, E., Dörk, T., Zuccato, E., Pagani, F., Romano, M., & Baralle, F. E. (2001). Nuclear factor TDP-43 and SR proteins promote in vitro and in vivo CFTR exon 9 skipping. *EMBO J, 20*(7), 1774-1784.
- Buratti, E., Brindisi, A., Giombi, M., Tisminetzky, S., Ayala, Y. M., & Baralle, F. E. (2005). TDP-43 binds heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A/B through its C-terminal tail: an important region for the inhibition of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator exon 9 splicing. *J Biol Chem,* 280(45), 37572-37584.
- Buratti, E., De Conti, L., Stuani, C., Romano, M., Baralle, M., & Baralle, F. (2010). Nuclear factor TDP-43 can affect selected microRNA levels. *Febs j,* 277(10), 2268-2281.
- Buratti, E. (2015). Functional Significance of TDP-43 Mutations in Disease. Adv Genet, 91, 1-53.
- Buratti, E. (2018). TDP-43 post-translational modifications in health and disease. *Expert Opin Ther Targets,* 22(3), 279-293.
- Burkhardt, C., Neuwirth, C., Sommacal, A., Andersen, P. M., & Weber, M. (2017). Is survival improved by the use of NIV and PEG in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)? A post-mortem study of 80 ALS patients. *PLoS One, 12*(5), e0177555.
- Burrell, J. R., Kiernan, M. C., Vucic, S., & Hodges, J. R. (2011). Motor neuron dysfunction in frontotemporal dementia. *Brain, 134*(Pt 9), 2582-2594.
- Byrne, S., Walsh, C., Lynch, C., Bede, P., Elamin, M., Kenna, K., McLaughlin, R., & Hardiman, O. (2011). Rate of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 82(6), 623-627.
- Caccamo, A., Majumder, S., Deng, J. J., Bai, Y., Thornton, F. B., & Oddo, S. (2009). Rapamycin rescues TDP-43 mislocalization and the associated low molecular mass neurofilament instability. *J Biol Chem,* 284(40), 27416-27424.
- Caccamo, A., Majumder, S., & Oddo, S. (2012). Cognitive decline typical of frontotemporal lobar degeneration in transgenic mice expressing the 25-kDa C-terminal fragment of TDP-43. *Am J Pathol, 180*(1), 293-302.
- Cagnin, A., Rossor, M., Sampson, E. L., Mackinnon, T., & Banati, R. B. (2004). In vivo detection of microglial activation in frontotemporal dementia. *Ann Neurol, 56*(6), 894-897.
- Cairns, N. J., Neumann, M., Bigio, E. H., Holm, I. E., Troost, D., Hatanpaa, K. J., Foong, C., White, C. L., 3rd, Schneider, J. A., Kretzschmar, H. A., Carter, D., Taylor-Reinwald, L., Paulsmeyer, K., Strider, J., Gitcho, M., Goate, A. M., Morris, J. C., Mishra, M., Kwong, L. K., Stieber, A., Xu, Y., Forman, M. S., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M., & Mackenzie, I. R. (2007). TDP-43 in familial and sporadic frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitin inclusions. *Am J Pathol, 171*(1), 227-240.
- Calderwood, S. K., & Murshid, A. (2017). Molecular Chaperone Accumulation in Cancer and Decrease in Alzheimer's Disease: The Potential Roles of HSF1. *Front Neurosci, 11*, 192.
- Cao, Q., Boyer, D. R., Sawaya, M. R., Ge, P., & Eisenberg, D. S. (2019). Cryo-EM structures of four polymorphic TDP-43 amyloid cores. *Nat Struct Mol Biol, 26*(7), 619-627.
- Capitini, C., Conti, S., Perni, M., Guidi, F., Cascella, R., De Poli, A., Penco, A., Relini, A., Cecchi, C., & Chiti, F. (2014). TDP-43 inclusion bodies formed in bacteria are structurally amorphous, non-amyloid and inherently toxic to neuroblastoma cells. *PLoS One*, *9*(1), e86720.

- Carlomagno, Y., Zhang, Y., Davis, M., Lin, W. L., Cook, C., Dunmore, J., Tay, W., Menkosky, K., Cao, X., Petrucelli, L., & Deture, M. (2014). Casein kinase II induced polymerization of soluble TDP-43 into filaments is inhibited by heat shock proteins. *PLoS One*, *9*(3), e90452.
- Cascella, R., Fani, G., Capitini, C., Rusmini, P., Poletti, A., Cecchi, C., & Chiti, F. (2017). Quantitative assessment of the degradation of aggregated TDP-43 mediated by the ubiquitin proteasome system and macroautophagy. *Faseb j, 31*(12), 5609-5624.
- Cassel, J. A., & Reitz, A. B. (2013). Ubiquilin-2 (UBQLN2) binds with high affinity to the C-terminal region of TDP-43 and modulates TDP-43 levels in H4 cells: characterization of inhibition by nucleic acids and 4-aminoquinolines. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1834(6), 964-971.
- Chang, C. K., Wu, T. H., Wu, C. Y., Chiang, M. H., Toh, E. K., Hsu, Y. C., Lin, K. F., Liao, Y. H., Huang, T. H., & Huang, J. J. (2012). The N-terminus of TDP-43 promotes its oligomerization and enhances DNA binding affinity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 425(2), 219-224.
- Chang, H. Y., Hou, S. C., Way, T. D., Wong, C. H., & Wang, I. F. (2013). Heat-shock protein dysregulation is associated with functional and pathological TDP-43 aggregation. *Nat Commun, 4*, 2757.
- Chang, Z., Deng, J., Zhao, W., & Yang, J. (2020). Amyloid-like aggregation and fibril core determination of TDP-43 C-terminal domain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, *532*(4), 655-661.
- Che, M. X., Jiang, Y. J., Xie, Y. Y., Jiang, L. L., & Hu, H. Y. (2011). Aggregation of the 35-kDa fragment of TDP-43 causes formation of cytoplasmic inclusions and alteration of RNA processing. *Faseb j, 25*(7), 2344-2353.
- Che, M. X., Jiang, L. L., Li, H. Y., Jiang, Y. J., & Hu, H. Y. (2015). TDP-35 sequesters TDP-43 into cytoplasmic inclusions through binding with RNA. *FEBS Lett*, *589*(15), 1920-1928.
- Chen, A. K., Lin, R. Y., Hsieh, E. Z., Tu, P. H., Chen, R. P., Liao, T. Y., Chen, W., Wang, C. H., & Huang, J. J. (2010). Induction of amyloid fibrils by the C-terminal fragments of TDP-43 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Am Chem Soc, 132(4), 1186-1187.
- Chen, H. J., Mitchell, J. C., Novoselov, S., Miller, J., Nishimura, A. L., Scotter, E. L., Vance, C. A., Cheetham, M. E., & Shaw, C. E. (2016). The heat shock response plays an important role in TDP-43 clearance: evidence for dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain*, *139*(Pt 5), 1417-1432.
- Chiang, C. H., Grauffel, C., Wu, L. S., Kuo, P. H., Doudeva, L. G., Lim, C., Shen, C. K., & Yuan, H. S. (2016). Structural analysis of disease-related TDP-43 D169G mutation: linking enhanced stability and caspase cleavage efficiency to protein accumulation. *Sci Rep, 6*, 21581.
- Chiang, P. M., Ling, J., Jeong, Y. H., Price, D. L., Aja, S. M., & Wong, P. C. (2010). Deletion of TDP-43 downregulates Tbc1d1, a gene linked to obesity, and alters body fat metabolism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107(37), 16320-16324.
- Chiò, A., Calvo, A., Moglia, C., Mazzini, L., & Mora, G. (2011). Phenotypic heterogeneity of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a population based study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, *82*(7), 740-746.
- Chiu, M. L., Goulet, D. R., Teplyakov, A., & Gilliland, G. L. (2019). Antibody Structure and Function: The Basis for Engineering Therapeutics. *Antibodies (Basel), 8*(4).
- Choksi, D. K., Roy, B., Chatterjee, S., Yusuff, T., Bakhoum, M. F., Sengupta, U., Ambegaokar, S., Kayed, R.,
  & Jackson, G. R. (2014). TDP-43 Phosphorylation by casein kinase lepsilon promotes oligomerization and enhances toxicity in vivo. *Hum Mol Genet, 23*(4), 1025-1035.
- Chou, C. C., Alexeeva, O. M., Yamada, S., Pribadi, A., Zhang, Y., Mo, B., Williams, K. R., Zarnescu, D. C., & Rossoll, W. (2015). PABPN1 suppresses TDP-43 toxicity in ALS disease models. *Hum Mol Genet*, 24(18), 5154-5173.
- Chou, C. C., Zhang, Y., Umoh, M. E., Vaughan, S. W., Lorenzini, I., Liu, F., Sayegh, M., Donlin-Asp, P. G., Chen, Y. H., Duong, D. M., Seyfried, N. T., Powers, M. A., Kukar, T., Hales, C. M., Gearing, M., Cairns, N. J., Boylan, K. B., Dickson, D. W., Rademakers, R., Zhang, Y. J., Petrucelli, L., Sattler, R., Zarnescu, D. C., Glass, J. D., & Rossoll, W. (2018). TDP-43 pathology disrupts nuclear pore complexes and nucleocytoplasmic transport in ALS/FTD. *Nat Neurosci, 21*(2), 228-239.
- Chow, T. W., & Mendez, M. F. (2002). Goals in symptomatic pharmacologic management of frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen, 17*(5), 267-272.

- Chu, Y. P., Jin, L. W., Wang, L. C., Ho, P. C., Wei, W. Y., & Tsai, K. J. (2023). Transthyretin attenuates TDP-43 proteinopathy by autophagy activation via ATF4 in FTLD-TDP. *Brain, 146*(5), 2089-2106.
- Cicardi, M. E., Cristofani, R., Rusmini, P., Meroni, M., Ferrari, V., Vezzoli, G., Tedesco, B., Piccolella, M., Messi, E., Galbiati, M., Boncoraglio, A., Carra, S., Crippa, V., & Poletti, A. (2018). Tdp-25 Routing to Autophagy and Proteasome Ameliorates its Aggregation in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Target Cells. *Sci Rep, 8*(1), 12390.
- Ciechanover, A., & Stanhill, A. (2014). The complexity of recognition of ubiquitinated substrates by the 26S proteasome. *Biochim Biophys Acta, 1843*(1), 86-96.
- Ciechanover, A., & Kwon, Y. T. (2015). Degradation of misfolded proteins in neurodegenerative diseases: therapeutic targets and strategies. *Exp Mol Med*, *47*(3), e147.
- Ciechanover, A., & Kwon, Y. T. (2017). Protein Quality Control by Molecular Chaperones in Neurodegeneration. *Front Neurosci, 11*, 185.
- Cirulli, E. T., Lasseigne, B. N., Petrovski, S., Sapp, P. C., Dion, P. A., Leblond, C. S., Couthouis, J., Lu, Y. F., Wang, Q., Krueger, B. J., Ren, Z., Keebler, J., Han, Y., Levy, S. E., Boone, B. E., Wimbish, J. R., Waite, L. L., Jones, A. L., Carulli, J. P., Day-Williams, A. G., Staropoli, J. F., Xin, W. W., Chesi, A., Raphael, A. R., McKenna-Yasek, D., Cady, J., Vianney de Jong, J. M., Kenna, K. P., Smith, B. N., Topp, S., Miller, J., Gkazi, A., Al-Chalabi, A., van den Berg, L. H., Veldink, J., Silani, V., Ticozzi, N., Shaw, C. E., Baloh, R. H., Appel, S., Simpson, E., Lagier-Tourenne, C., Pulst, S. M., Gibson, S., Trojanowski, J. Q., Elman, L., McCluskey, L., Grossman, M., Shneider, N. A., Chung, W. K., Ravits, J. M., Glass, J. D., Sims, K. B., Van Deerlin, V. M., Maniatis, T., Hayes, S. D., Ordureau, A., Swarup, S., Landers, J., Baas, F., Allen, A. S., Bedlack, R. S., Harper, J. W., Gitler, A. D., Rouleau, G. A., Brown, R., Harms, M. B., Cooper, G. M., Harris, T., Myers, R. M., & Goldstein, D. B. (2015). Exome sequencing in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis identifies risk genes and pathways. *Science, 347*(6229), 1436-1441.
- Clemson, C. M., Hutchinson, J. N., Sara, S. A., Ensminger, A. W., Fox, A. H., Chess, A., & Lawrence, J. B. (2009). An architectural role for a nuclear noncoding RNA: NEAT1 RNA is essential for the structure of paraspeckles. *Mol Cell*, 33(6), 717-726.
- Cohen-Kaplan, V., Ciechanover, A., & Livneh, I. (2016). p62 at the crossroad of the ubiquitin-proteasome system and autophagy. *Oncotarget,* 7(51), 83833-83834.
- Cohen, T. J., Hwang, A. W., Unger, T., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2012). Redox signalling directly regulates TDP-43 via cysteine oxidation and disulphide cross-linking. *EMBO J*, *31*(5), 1241-1252.
- Cohen, T. J., Hwang, A. W., Restrepo, C. R., Yuan, C. X., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2015). An acetylation switch controls TDP-43 function and aggregation propensity. *Nat Commun, 6*, 5845.
- Colombrita, C., Zennaro, E., Fallini, C., Weber, M., Sommacal, A., Buratti, E., Silani, V., & Ratti, A. (2009). TDP-43 is recruited to stress granules in conditions of oxidative insult. *J Neurochem, 111*(4), 1051-1061.
- Colombrita, C., Onesto, E., Buratti, E., de la Grange, P., Gumina, V., Baralle, F. E., Silani, V., & Ratti, A. (2015). From transcriptomic to protein level changes in TDP-43 and FUS loss-of-function cell models. *Biochim Biophys Acta, 1849*(12), 1398-1410.
- Congdon, E. E., Gu, J., Sait, H. B., & Sigurdsson, E. M. (2013). Antibody uptake into neurons occurs primarily via clathrin-dependent Fcγ receptor endocytosis and is a prerequisite for acute tau protein clearance. *J Biol Chem, 288*(49), 35452-35465.
- Congdon, E. E., Jiang, Y., & Sigurdsson, E. M. (2022). Targeting tau only extracellularly is likely to be less efficacious than targeting it both intra- and extracellularly. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*, *126*, 125-137.
- Congdon, E. E., Ji, C., Tetlow, A. M., Jiang, Y., & Sigurdsson, E. M. (2023). Tau-targeting therapies for Alzheimer disease: current status and future directions. *Nat Rev Neurol*, *19*(12), 715-736.
- Conicella, A. E., Zerze, G. H., Mittal, J., & Fawzi, N. L. (2016). ALS Mutations Disrupt Phase Separation Mediated by α-Helical Structure in the TDP-43 Low-Complexity C-Terminal Domain. *Structure*, *24*(9), 1537-1549.
- Conicella, A. E., Dignon, G. L., Zerze, G. H., Schmidt, H. B., D'Ordine, A. M., Kim, Y. C., Rohatgi, R., Ayala, Y. M., Mittal, J., & Fawzi, N. L. (2020). TDP-43 α-helical structure tunes liquid-liquid phase separation and function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 117*(11), 5883-5894.

- Corcia, P., Tauber, C., Vercoullie, J., Arlicot, N., Prunier, C., Praline, J., Nicolas, G., Venel, Y., Hommet, C., Baulieu, J. L., Cottier, J. P., Roussel, C., Kassiou, M., Guilloteau, D., & Ribeiro, M. J. (2012). Molecular imaging of microglial activation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *PLoS One*, 7(12), e52941.
- Correia, A. S., Patel, P., Dutta, K., & Julien, J. P. (2015). Inflammation Induces TDP-43 Mislocalization and Aggregation. *PLoS One, 10*(10), e0140248.
- Coyle-Gilchrist, I. T., Dick, K. M., Patterson, K., Vázquez Rodríquez, P., Wehmann, E., Wilcox, A., Lansdall, C. J., Dawson, K. E., Wiggins, J., Mead, S., Brayne, C., & Rowe, J. B. (2016). Prevalence, characteristics, and survival of frontotemporal lobar degeneration syndromes. *Neurology*, *86*(18), 1736-1743.
- Coyne, A. N., Siddegowda, B. B., Estes, P. S., Johannesmeyer, J., Kovalik, T., Daniel, S. G., Pearson, A., Bowser, R., & Zarnescu, D. C. (2014). Futsch/MAP1B mRNA is a translational target of TDP-43 and is neuroprotective in a Drosophila model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurosci, 34*(48), 15962-15974.
- Coyne, A. N., Zaepfel, B. L., Hayes, L., Fitchman, B., Salzberg, Y., Luo, E. C., Bowen, K., Trost, H., Aigner, S., Rigo, F., Yeo, G. W., Harel, A., Svendsen, C. N., Sareen, D., & Rothstein, J. D. (2020). G(4)C(2) Repeat RNA Initiates a POM121-Mediated Reduction in Specific Nucleoporins in C9orf72 ALS/FTD. *Neuron, 107*(6), 1124-1140.e1111.
- Coyne, A. N., Baskerville, V., Zaepfel, B. L., Dickson, D. W., Rigo, F., Bennett, F., Lusk, C. P., & Rothstein, J. D. (2021). Nuclear accumulation of CHMP7 initiates nuclear pore complex injury and subsequent TDP-43 dysfunction in sporadic and familial ALS. *Sci Transl Med*, *13*(604).
- Cracco, L., Doud, E. H., Hallinan, G. I., Garringer, H. J., Jacobsen, M. H., Richardson, R. M., Buratti, E., Vidal, R., Ghetti, B., & Newell, K. L. (2022). Distinguishing post-translational modifications in dominantly inherited frontotemporal dementias: FTLD-TDP Type A (GRN) vs Type B (C9orf72). *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 48*(6), e12836.
- Crippa, V., Carra, S., Rusmini, P., Sau, D., Bolzoni, E., Bendotti, C., De Biasi, S., & Poletti, A. (2010). A role of small heat shock protein B8 (HspB8) in the autophagic removal of misfolded proteins responsible for neurodegenerative diseases. *Autophagy*, 6(7), 958-960.
- Crippa, V., Sau, D., Rusmini, P., Boncoraglio, A., Onesto, E., Bolzoni, E., Galbiati, M., Fontana, E., Marino, M., Carra, S., Bendotti, C., De Biasi, S., & Poletti, A. (2010). The small heat shock protein B8 (HspB8) promotes autophagic removal of misfolded proteins involved in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). *Hum Mol Genet*, *19*(17), 3440-3456.
- Crippa, V., Cicardi, M. E., Ramesh, N., Seguin, S. J., Ganassi, M., Bigi, I., Diacci, C., Zelotti, E., Baratashvili, M., Gregory, J. M., Dobson, C. M., Cereda, C., Pandey, U. B., Poletti, A., & Carra, S. (2016). The chaperone HSPB8 reduces the accumulation of truncated TDP-43 species in cells and protects against TDP-43-mediated toxicity. *Hum Mol Genet*, *25*(18), 3908-3924.
- Crippa, V., D'Agostino, V. G., Cristofani, R., Rusmini, P., Cicardi, M. E., Messi, E., Loffredo, R., Pancher, M., Piccolella, M., Galbiati, M., Meroni, M., Cereda, C., Carra, S., Provenzani, A., & Poletti, A. (2016). Transcriptional induction of the heat shock protein B8 mediates the clearance of misfolded proteins responsible for motor neuron diseases. *Sci Rep*, *6*, 22827.
- Cruts, M., Gijselinck, I., van der Zee, J., Engelborghs, S., Wils, H., Pirici, D., Rademakers, R., Vandenberghe, R., Dermaut, B., Martin, J. J., van Duijn, C., Peeters, K., Sciot, R., Santens, P., De Pooter, T., Mattheijssens, M., Van den Broeck, M., Cuijt, I., Vennekens, K., De Deyn, P. P., Kumar-Singh, S., & Van Broeckhoven, C. (2006). Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. *Nature, 442*(7105), 920-924.
- Cummings, J. (2023). Anti-Amyloid Monoclonal Antibodies are Transformative Treatments that Redefine Alzheimer's Disease Therapeutics. *Drugs*, *83*(7), 569-576.
- D'Ambrogio, A., Buratti, E., Stuani, C., Guarnaccia, C., Romano, M., Ayala, Y. M., & Baralle, F. E. (2009). Functional mapping of the interaction between TDP-43 and hnRNP A2 in vivo. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 37(12), 4116-4126.
- Dammer, E. B., Fallini, C., Gozal, Y. M., Duong, D. M., Rossoll, W., Xu, P., Lah, J. J., Levey, A. I., Peng, J., Bassell, G. J., & Seyfried, N. T. (2012). Coaggregation of RNA-binding proteins in a model of TDP-43 proteinopathy with selective RGG motif methylation and a role for RRM1 ubiquitination. *PLoS One*, 7(6), e38658.

Daneman, R., & Prat, A. (2015). The blood-brain barrier. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 7(1), a020412.

- Davidson, Y., Kelley, T., Mackenzie, I. R., Pickering-Brown, S., Du Plessis, D., Neary, D., Snowden, J. S., & Mann, D. M. (2007). Ubiquitinated pathological lesions in frontotemporal lobar degeneration contain the TAR DNA-binding protein, TDP-43. *Acta Neuropathol*, *113*(5), 521-533.
- Davis, D. G., Schmitt, F. A., Wekstein, D. R., & Markesbery, W. R. (1999). Alzheimer neuropathologic alterations in aged cognitively normal subjects. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 58*(4), 376-388.
- Dayton, R. D., Gitcho, M. A., Orchard, E. A., Wilson, J. D., Wang, D. B., Cain, C. D., Johnson, J. A., Zhang, Y. J., Petrucelli, L., Mathis, J. M., & Klein, R. L. (2013). Selective forelimb impairment in rats expressing a pathological TDP-43 25 kDa C-terminal fragment to mimic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Mol Ther*, 21(7), 1324-1334.
- de Hoog, C. L., & Mann, M. (2004). Proteomics. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet, 5, 267-293.
- De Marco, G., Lupino, E., Calvo, A., Moglia, C., Buccinna, B., Grifoni, S., Ramondetti, C., Lomartire, A., Rinaudo, M. T., Piccinini, M., Giordana, M. T., & Chio, A. (2011). Cytoplasmic accumulation of TDP-43 in circulating lymphomonocytes of ALS patients with and without TARDBP mutations. *Acta Neuropathol,* 121(5), 611-622.
- De Marco, G., Lomartire, A., Mandili, G., Lupino, E., Buccinna, B., Ramondetti, C., Moglia, C., Novelli, F., Piccinini, M., Mostert, M., Rinaudo, M. T., Chio, A., & Calvo, A. (2014). Reduced cellular Ca(2+) availability enhances TDP-43 cleavage by apoptotic caspases. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1843(4), 725-734.
- Deane, R., Sagare, A., Hamm, K., Parisi, M., LaRue, B., Guo, H., Wu, Z., Holtzman, D. M., & Zlokovic, B. V. (2005). IgG-assisted age-dependent clearance of Alzheimer's amyloid beta peptide by the bloodbrain barrier neonatal Fc receptor. *J Neurosci, 25*(50), 11495-11503.
- DeJesus-Hernandez, M., Mackenzie, I. R., Boeve, B. F., Boxer, A. L., Baker, M., Rutherford, N. J., Nicholson, A. M., Finch, N. A., Flynn, H., Adamson, J., Kouri, N., Wojtas, A., Sengdy, P., Hsiung, G. Y., Karydas, A., Seeley, W. W., Josephs, K. A., Coppola, G., Geschwind, D. H., Wszolek, Z. K., Feldman, H., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Miller, B. L., Dickson, D. W., Boylan, K. B., Graff-Radford, N. R., & Rademakers, R. (2011). Expanded GGGGCC hexanucleotide repeat in noncoding region of C9ORF72 causes chromosome 9p-linked FTD and ALS. *Neuron*, 72(2), 245-256.
- DeMattos, R. B., Bales, K. R., Cummins, D. J., Dodart, J. C., Paul, S. M., & Holtzman, D. M. (2001). Peripheral anti-A beta antibody alters CNS and plasma A beta clearance and decreases brain A beta burden in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98(15), 8850-8855.
- Deng, H. X., Chen, W., Hong, S. T., Boycott, K. M., Gorrie, G. H., Siddique, N., Yang, Y., Fecto, F., Shi, Y., Zhai, H., Jiang, H., Hirano, M., Rampersaud, E., Jansen, G. H., Donkervoort, S., Bigio, E. H., Brooks, B. R., Ajroud, K., Sufit, R. L., Haines, J. L., Mugnaini, E., Pericak-Vance, M. A., & Siddique, T. (2011). Mutations in UBQLN2 cause dominant X-linked juvenile and adult-onset ALS and ALS/dementia. *Nature, 477*(7363), 211-215.
- Dewey, C. M., Cenik, B., Sephton, C. F., Dries, D. R., Mayer, P., 3rd, Good, S. K., Johnson, B. A., Herz, J., & Yu, G. (2011). TDP-43 is directed to stress granules by sorbitol, a novel physiological osmotic and oxidative stressor. *Mol Cell Biol*, *31*(5), 1098-1108.
- Dewey, C. M., Cenik, B., Sephton, C. F., Johnson, B. A., Herz, J., & Yu, G. (2012). TDP-43 aggregation in neurodegeneration: are stress granules the key? *Brain Res, 1462*, 16-25.
- Di Carlo, V., Grossi, E., Laneve, P., Morlando, M., Dini Modigliani, S., Ballarino, M., Bozzoni, I., & Caffarelli, E. (2013). TDP-43 regulates the microprocessor complex activity during in vitro neuronal differentiation. *Mol Neurobiol*, *48*(3), 952-963.
- Ding, Q., Chaplin, J., Morris, M. J., Hilliard, M. A., Wolvetang, E., Ng, D. C. H., & Noakes, P. G. (2021). TDP-43 Mutation Affects Stress Granule Dynamics in Differentiated NSC-34 Motoneuron-Like Cells. Front Cell Dev Biol, 9, 611601.
- Ding, X., Ma, M., Teng, J., Teng, R. K., Zhou, S., Yin, J., Fonkem, E., Huang, J. H., Wu, E., & Wang, X. (2015). Exposure to ALS-FTD-CSF generates TDP-43 aggregates in glioblastoma cells through exosomes and TNTs-like structure. *Oncotarget*, 6(27), 24178-24191.
- Ding, X., Xiang, Z., Qin, C., Chen, Y., Tian, H., Meng, L., Xia, D., Liu, H., Song, J., Fu, J., Ma, M., & Wang, X. (2021). Spreading of TDP-43 pathology via pyramidal tract induces ALS-like phenotypes in TDP-43 transgenic mice. *Acta Neuropathol Commun*, 9(1), 15.

- Donde, A., Sun, M., Jeong, Y. H., Wen, X., Ling, J., Lin, S., Braunstein, K., Nie, S., Wang, S., Chen, L., & Wong, P. C. (2020). Upregulation of ATG7 attenuates motor neuron dysfunction associated with depletion of TARDBP/TDP-43. *Autophagy*, *16*(4), 672-682.
- Dormann, D., Capell, A., Carlson, A. M., Shankaran, S. S., Rodde, R., Neumann, M., Kremmer, E., Matsuwaki, T., Yamanouchi, K., Nishihara, M., & Haass, C. (2009). Proteolytic processing of TAR DNA binding protein-43 by caspases produces C-terminal fragments with disease defining properties independent of progranulin. *J Neurochem*, 110(3), 1082-1094.
- Dormann, D., Rodde, R., Edbauer, D., Bentmann, E., Fischer, I., Hruscha, A., Than, M. E., Mackenzie, I. R., Capell, A., Schmid, B., Neumann, M., & Haass, C. (2010). ALS-associated fused in sarcoma (FUS) mutations disrupt Transportin-mediated nuclear import. *EMBO J, 29*(16), 2841-2857.
- Dormann, D., & Haass, C. (2011). TDP-43 and FUS: a nuclear affair. Trends Neurosci, 34(7), 339-348.
- Dorsey, E. R., Constantinescu, R., Thompson, J. P., Biglan, K. M., Holloway, R. G., Kieburtz, K., Marshall, F. J., Ravina, B. M., Schifitto, G., Siderowf, A., & Tanner, C. M. (2007). Projected number of people with Parkinson disease in the most populous nations, 2005 through 2030. *Neurology*, *68*(5), 384-386.
- Dos Passos, P. M., Hemamali, E. H., Mamede, L. D., Hayes, L. R., & Ayala, Y. M. (2023). RNA-mediated ribonucleoprotein assembly controls TDP-43 nuclear retention. *bioRxiv*, 2023.2008.2006.552215.
- Doyle, S. M., & Wickner, S. (2009). Hsp104 and ClpB: protein disaggregating machines. *Trends Biochem Sci,* 34(1), 40-48.
- Duan, L., Zaepfel, B. L., Aksenova, V., Dasso, M., Rothstein, J. D., Kalab, P., & Hayes, L. R. (2022). Nuclear RNA binding regulates TDP-43 nuclear localization and passive nuclear export. *Cell Rep, 40*(3), 111106.
- Ederle, H., Funk, C., Abou-Ajram, C., Hutten, S., Funk, E. B. E., Kehlenbach, R. H., Bailer, S. M., & Dormann, D. (2018). Nuclear egress of TDP-43 and FUS occurs independently of Exportin-1/CRM1. *Sci Rep, 8*(1), 7084.
- Elobeid, A., Libard, S., Leino, M., Popova, S. N., & Alafuzoff, I. (2016). Altered Proteins in the Aging Brain. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 75(4), 316-325.
- Evans, L. D., Wassmer, T., Fraser, G., Smith, J., Perkinton, M., Billinton, A., & Livesey, F. J. (2018). Extracellular Monomeric and Aggregated Tau Efficiently Enter Human Neurons through Overlapping but Distinct Pathways. *Cell Rep, 22*(13), 3612-3624.
- Facciolà, A., Visalli, G., Laganà, A., & Di Pietro, A. (2022). An Overview of Vaccine Adjuvants: Current Evidence and Future Perspectives. *Vaccines (Basel), 10*(5).
- Falcon, B., Zhang, W., Murzin, A. G., Murshudov, G., Garringer, H. J., Vidal, R., Crowther, R. A., Ghetti, B., Scheres, S. H. W., & Goedert, M. (2018). Structures of filaments from Pick's disease reveal a novel tau protein fold. *Nature*, *561*(7721), 137-140.
- Falcon, B., Zhang, W., Schweighauser, M., Murzin, A. G., Vidal, R., Garringer, H. J., Ghetti, B., Scheres, S. H. W., & Goedert, M. (2018). Tau filaments from multiple cases of sporadic and inherited Alzheimer's disease adopt a common fold. *Acta Neuropathol, 136*(5), 699-708.
- Falcon, B., Zivanov, J., Zhang, W., Murzin, A. G., Garringer, H. J., Vidal, R., Crowther, R. A., Newell, K. L., Ghetti, B., Goedert, M., & Scheres, S. H. W. (2019). Novel tau filament fold in chronic traumatic encephalopathy encloses hydrophobic molecules. *Nature*, *568*(7752), 420-423.
- Fallini, C., Bassell, G. J., & Rossoll, W. (2012). The ALS disease protein TDP-43 is actively transported in motor neuron axons and regulates axon outgrowth. *Hum Mol Genet, 21*(16), 3703-3718.
- Fan, C. Y., Lee, S., & Cyr, D. M. (2003). Mechanisms for regulation of Hsp70 function by Hsp40. Cell Stress Chaperones, 8(4), 309-316.
- Fan, Z., Chen, X., & Chen, R. (2014). Transcriptome-wide analysis of TDP-43 binding small RNAs identifies miR-NID1 (miR-8485), a novel miRNA that represses NRXN1 expression. *Genomics*, *103*(1), 76-82.
- Fang, Y. S., Tsai, K. J., Chang, Y. J., Kao, P., Woods, R., Kuo, P. H., Wu, C. C., Liao, J. Y., Chou, S. C., Lin, V., Jin, L. W., Yuan, H. S., Cheng, I. H., Tu, P. H., & Chen, Y. R. (2014). Full-length TDP-43 forms toxic amyloid oligomers that are present in frontotemporal lobar dementia-TDP patients. *Nat Commun*, *5*, 4824.

- Farrawell, N. E., McAlary, L., Lum, J. S., Chisholm, C. G., Warraich, S. T., Blair, I. P., Vine, K. L., Saunders, D. N., & Yerbury, J. J. (2020). Ubiquitin Homeostasis Is Disrupted in TDP-43 and FUS Cell Models of ALS. *iScience*, 23(11), 101700.
- Fecto, F., Yan, J., Vemula, S. P., Liu, E., Yang, Y., Chen, W., Zheng, J. G., Shi, Y., Siddique, N., Arrat, H., Donkervoort, S., Ajroud-Driss, S., Sufit, R. L., Heller, S. L., Deng, H. X., & Siddique, T. (2011). SQSTM1 mutations in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Arch Neurol, 68*(11), 1440-1446.
- Feiguin, F., Godena, V. K., Romano, G., D'Ambrogio, A., Klima, R., & Baralle, F. E. (2009). Depletion of TDP-43 affects Drosophila motoneurons terminal synapsis and locomotive behavior. *FEBS Lett*, 583(10), 1586-1592.
- Feiler, M. S., Strobel, B., Freischmidt, A., Helferich, A. M., Kappel, J., Brewer, B. M., Li, D., Thal, D. R., Walther, P., Ludolph, A. C., Danzer, K. M., & Weishaupt, J. H. (2015). TDP-43 is intercellularly transmitted across axon terminals. *J Cell Biol*, 211(4), 897-911.
- Feldman, E. L., Goutman, S. A., Petri, S., Mazzini, L., Savelieff, M. G., Shaw, P. J., & Sobue, G. (2022). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet, 400*(10360), 1363-1380.
- Feng, Y., He, D., Yao, Z., & Klionsky, D. J. (2014). The machinery of macroautophagy. *Cell Res, 24*(1), 24-41.
- Fiesel, F. C., Voigt, A., Weber, S. S., Van den Haute, C., Waldenmaier, A., Görner, K., Walter, M., Anderson, M. L., Kern, J. V., Rasse, T. M., Schmidt, T., Springer, W., Kirchner, R., Bonin, M., Neumann, M., Baekelandt, V., Alunni-Fabbroni, M., Schulz, J. B., & Kahle, P. J. (2010). Knockdown of transactive response DNA-binding protein (TDP-43) downregulates histone deacetylase 6. *EMBO J, 29*(1), 209-221.
- Fiesel, F. C., Schurr, C., Weber, S. S., & Kahle, P. J. (2011). TDP-43 knockdown impairs neurite outgrowth dependent on its target histone deacetylase 6. *Mol Neurodegener*, *6*, 64.
- Filimonenko, M., Stuffers, S., Raiborg, C., Yamamoto, A., Malerod, L., Fisher, E. M., Isaacs, A., Brech, A., Stenmark, H., & Simonsen, A. (2007). Functional multivesicular bodies are required for autophagic clearance of protein aggregates associated with neurodegenerative disease. *J Cell Biol*, 179(3), 485-500.
- Finka, A., & Goloubinoff, P. (2013). Proteomic data from human cell cultures refine mechanisms of chaperonemediated protein homeostasis. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, *18*(5), 591-605.
- Fitzpatrick, A. W. P., Falcon, B., He, S., Murzin, A. G., Murshudov, G., Garringer, H. J., Crowther, R. A., Ghetti, B., Goedert, M., & Scheres, S. H. W. (2017). Cryo-EM structures of tau filaments from Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*, *547*(7662), 185-190.
- Fonda, B. D., Jami, K. M., Boulos, N. R., & Murray, D. T. (2021). Identification of the Rigid Core for Aged Liquid Droplets of an RNA-Binding Protein Low Complexity Domain. *J Am Chem Soc, 143*(17), 6657-6668.
- Forman, M. S., Mackenzie, I. R., Cairns, N. J., Swanson, E., Boyer, P. J., Drachman, D. A., Jhaveri, B. S., Karlawish, J. H., Pestronk, A., Smith, T. W., Tu, P. H., Watts, G. D., Markesbery, W. R., Smith, C. D., & Kimonis, V. E. (2006). Novel ubiquitin neuropathology in frontotemporal dementia with valosincontaining protein gene mutations. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 65*(6), 571-581.
- François-Moutal, L., Perez-Miller, S., Scott, D. D., Miranda, V. G., Mollasalehi, N., & Khanna, M. (2019). Structural Insights Into TDP-43 and Effects of Post-translational Modifications. *Front Mol Neurosci,* 12, 301.
- Freibaum, B. D., Lu, Y., Lopez-Gonzalez, R., Kim, N. C., Almeida, S., Lee, K. H., Badders, N., Valentine, M., Miller, B. L., Wong, P. C., Petrucelli, L., Kim, H. J., Gao, F. B., & Taylor, J. P. (2015). GGGGCC repeat expansion in C9orf72 compromises nucleocytoplasmic transport. *Nature*, 525(7567), 129-133.
- Freischmidt, A., Wieland, T., Richter, B., Ruf, W., Schaeffer, V., Müller, K., Marroquin, N., Nordin, F., Hübers, A., Weydt, P., Pinto, S., Press, R., Millecamps, S., Molko, N., Bernard, E., Desnuelle, C., Soriani, M. H., Dorst, J., Graf, E., Nordström, U., Feiler, M. S., Putz, S., Boeckers, T. M., Meyer, T., Winkler, A. S., Winkelman, J., de Carvalho, M., Thal, D. R., Otto, M., Brännström, T., Volk, A. E., Kursula, P., Danzer, K. M., Lichtner, P., Dikic, I., Meitinger, T., Ludolph, A. C., Strom, T. M., Andersen, P. M., & Weishaupt, J. H. (2015). Haploinsufficiency of TBK1 causes familial ALS and fronto-temporal dementia. *Nat Neurosci, 18*(5), 631-636.
French, R. L., Grese, Z. R., Aligireddy, H., Dhavale, D. D., Reeb, A. N., Kedia, N., Kotzbauer, P. T., Bieschke, J., & Ayala, Y. M. (2019). Detection of TAR DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP-43) oligomers as initial intermediate species during aggregate formation. J Biol Chem, 294(17), 6696-6709.

Fridovich, I. (1995). Superoxide radical and superoxide dismutases. Annu Rev Biochem, 64, 97-112.

- Fuentealba, R. A., Udan, M., Bell, S., Wegorzewska, I., Shao, J., Diamond, M. I., Weihl, C. C., & Baloh, R. H. (2010). Interaction with polyglutamine aggregates reveals a Q/N-rich domain in TDP-43. *J Biol Chem*, 285(34), 26304-26314.
- Fujita, K., Ito, H., Nakano, S., Kinoshita, Y., Wate, R., & Kusaka, H. (2008). Immunohistochemical identification of messenger RNA-related proteins in basophilic inclusions of adult-onset atypical motor neuron disease. Acta Neuropathol, 116(4), 439-445.
- Funk, K. E., Mirbaha, H., Jiang, H., Holtzman, D. M., & Diamond, M. I. (2015). Distinct Therapeutic Mechanisms of Tau Antibodies: Promoting Microglial Clearance Versus Blocking Neuronal Uptake. *J Biol Chem*, 290(35), 21652-21662.
- Furukawa, Y., Kaneko, K., Watanabe, S., Yamanaka, K., & Nukina, N. (2011). A seeding reaction recapitulates intracellular formation of Sarkosyl-insoluble transactivation response element (TAR) DNA-binding protein-43 inclusions. *J Biol Chem, 286*(21), 18664-18672.
- Gao, J., Wang, L., Ren, X., Dunn, J. R., Peters, A., Miyagi, M., Fujioka, H., Zhao, F., Askwith, C., Liang, J., & Wang, X. (2021). Translational regulation in the brain by TDP-43 phase separation. *J Cell Biol, 220*(10).
- Garrido, C., Gurbuxani, S., Ravagnan, L., & Kroemer, G. (2001). Heat shock proteins: endogenous modulators of apoptotic cell death. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 286*(3), 433-442.
- Gasset-Rosa, F., Lu, S., Yu, H., Chen, C., Melamed, Z., Guo, L., Shorter, J., Da Cruz, S., & Cleveland, D. W. (2019). Cytoplasmic TDP-43 De-mixing Independent of Stress Granules Drives Inhibition of Nuclear Import, Loss of Nuclear TDP-43, and Cell Death. *Neuron*, 102(2), 339-357.e337.
- Gendron, T. F., Bieniek, K. F., Zhang, Y. J., Jansen-West, K., Ash, P. E., Caulfield, T., Daughrity, L., Dunmore, J. H., Castanedes-Casey, M., Chew, J., Cosio, D. M., van Blitterswijk, M., Lee, W. C., Rademakers, R., Boylan, K. B., Dickson, D. W., & Petrucelli, L. (2013). Antisense transcripts of the expanded C9ORF72 hexanucleotide repeat form nuclear RNA foci and undergo repeat-associated non-ATG translation in c9FTD/ALS. *Acta Neuropathol, 126*(6), 829-844.
- Geser, F., Winton, M. J., Kwong, L. K., Xu, Y., Xie, S. X., Igaz, L. M., Garruto, R. M., Perl, D. P., Galasko, D., Lee, V. M., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2008). Pathological TDP-43 in parkinsonism-dementia complex and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis of Guam. Acta Neuropathol, 115(1), 133-145.
- Geser, F., Martinez-Lage, M., Robinson, J., Uryu, K., Neumann, M., Brandmeir, N. J., Xie, S. X., Kwong, L. K., Elman, L., McCluskey, L., Clark, C. M., Malunda, J., Miller, B. L., Zimmerman, E. A., Qian, J., Van Deerlin, V., Grossman, M., Lee, V. M., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2009). Clinical and pathological continuum of multisystem TDP-43 proteinopathies. *Arch Neurol*, *66*(2), 180-189.
- Geser, F., Robinson, J. L., Malunda, J. A., Xie, S. X., Clark, C. M., Kwong, L. K., Moberg, P. J., Moore, E. M., Van Deerlin, V. M., Lee, V. M., Arnold, S. E., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2010). Pathological 43-kDa transactivation response DNA-binding protein in older adults with and without severe mental illness. *Arch Neurol*, *67*(10), 1238-1250.
- Gijselinck, I., Van Broeckhoven, C., & Cruts, M. (2008). Granulin mutations associated with frontotemporal lobar degeneration and related disorders: an update. *Hum Mutat, 29*(12), 1373-1386.
- Giordana, M. T., Piccinini, M., Grifoni, S., De Marco, G., Vercellino, M., Magistrello, M., Pellerino, A., Buccinna, B., Lupino, E., & Rinaudo, M. T. (2010). TDP-43 redistribution is an early event in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain Pathol, 20*(2), 351-360.
- Gitcho, M. A., Strider, J., Carter, D., Taylor-Reinwald, L., Forman, M. S., Goate, A. M., & Cairns, N. J. (2009). VCP mutations causing frontotemporal lobar degeneration disrupt localization of TDP-43 and induce cell death. J Biol Chem, 284(18), 12384-12398.
- Gitler, A. D., & Tsuiji, H. (2016). There has been an awakening: Emerging mechanisms of C9orf72 mutations in FTD/ALS. *Brain Res, 1647*, 19-29.
- Glick, D., Barth, S., & Macleod, K. F. (2010). Autophagy: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *J Pathol, 221*(1), 3-12.

- Goedert, M., Wischik, C. M., Crowther, R. A., Walker, J. E., & Klug, A. (1988). Cloning and sequencing of the cDNA encoding a core protein of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer disease: identification as the microtubule-associated protein tau. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *85*(11), 4051-4055.
- Goedert, M., Clavaguera, F., & Tolnay, M. (2010). The propagation of prion-like protein inclusions in neurodegenerative diseases. *Trends Neurosci, 33*(7), 317-325.
- Goode, A., Butler, K., Long, J., Cavey, J., Scott, D., Shaw, B., Sollenberger, J., Gell, C., Johansen, T., Oldham, N. J., Searle, M. S., & Layfield, R. (2016). Defective recognition of LC3B by mutant SQSTM1/p62 implicates impairment of autophagy as a pathogenic mechanism in ALS-FTLD. *Autophagy*, 12(7), 1094-1104.
- Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Brambati, S. M., Ginex, V., Ogar, J., Dronkers, N. F., Marcone, A., Perani, D., Garibotto, V., Cappa, S. F., & Miller, B. L. (2008). The logopenic/phonological variant of primary progressive aphasia. *Neurology*, 71(16), 1227-1234.
- Gosselet, F., Loiola, R. A., Roig, A., Rosell, A., & Culot, M. (2021). Central nervous system delivery of molecules across the blood-brain barrier. *Neurochem Int, 144*, 104952.
- Greaves, C. V., & Rohrer, J. D. (2019). An update on genetic frontotemporal dementia. *J Neurol, 266*(8), 2075-2086.
- Gregory, J. M., Barros, T. P., Meehan, S., Dobson, C. M., & Luheshi, L. M. (2012). The aggregation and neurotoxicity of TDP-43 and its ALS-associated 25 kDa fragment are differentially affected by molecular chaperones in Drosophila. *PLoS One*, 7(2), e31899.
- Gregory, R. I., Yan, K. P., Amuthan, G., Chendrimada, T., Doratotaj, B., Cooch, N., & Shiekhattar, R. (2004). The Microprocessor complex mediates the genesis of microRNAs. *Nature*, *432*(7014), 235-240.
- Grese, Z. R., Bastos, A. C., Mamede, L. D., French, R. L., Miller, T. M., & Ayala, Y. M. (2021). Specific RNA interactions promote TDP-43 multivalent phase separation and maintain liquid properties. *EMBO Rep*, 22(12), e53632.
- Gruijs da Silva, L. A., Simonetti, F., Hutten, S., Riemenschneider, H., Sternburg, E. L., Pietrek, L. M., Gebel, J., Dötsch, V., Edbauer, D., Hummer, G., Stelzl, L. S., & Dormann, D. (2022). Disease-linked TDP-43 hyperphosphorylation suppresses TDP-43 condensation and aggregation. *EMBO J*, e108443.
- Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Quinlan, M., Tung, Y. C., Zaidi, M. S., & Wisniewski, H. M. (1986). Microtubuleassociated protein tau. A component of Alzheimer paired helical filaments. *J Biol Chem, 261*(13), 6084-6089.
- Gu, J., Wang, W., Miao, S., Chen, F., Wu, F., Hu, W., Iqbal, K., Gong, C. X., & Liu, F. (2018). Protein Phosphatase 1 dephosphorylates TDP-43 and suppresses its function in tau exon 10 inclusion. *FEBS Lett*, 592(3), 402-410.
- Gu, J., Hu, W., Tan, X., Qu, S., Chu, D., Gong, C. X., Iqbal, K., & Liu, F. (2020). Elevation of casein kinase 1ε associated with TDP-43 and tau pathologies in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Pathol, 30*(2), 283-297.
- Guenther, E. L., Cao, Q., Trinh, H., Lu, J., Sawaya, M. R., Cascio, D., Boyer, D. R., Rodriguez, J. A., Hughes, M. P., & Eisenberg, D. S. (2018). Atomic structures of TDP-43 LCD segments and insights into reversible or pathogenic aggregation. *Nat Struct Mol Biol, 25*(6), 463-471.
- Guenther, E. L., Ge, P., Trinh, H., Sawaya, M. R., Cascio, D., Boyer, D. R., Gonen, T., Zhou, Z. H., & Eisenberg, D. S. (2018). Atomic-level evidence for packing and positional amyloid polymorphism by segment from TDP-43 RRM2. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 25(4), 311-319.
- Guo, W., Chen, Y., Zhou, X., Kar, A., Ray, P., Chen, X., Rao, E. J., Yang, M., Ye, H., Zhu, L., Liu, J., Xu, M., Yang, Y., Wang, C., Zhang, D., Bigio, E. H., Mesulam, M., Shen, Y., Xu, Q., Fushimi, K., & Wu, J. Y. (2011). An ALS-associated mutation affecting TDP-43 enhances protein aggregation, fibril formation and neurotoxicity. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, *18*(7), 822-830.
- Gurney, M. E., Pu, H., Chiu, A. Y., Dal Canto, M. C., Polchow, C. Y., Alexander, D. D., Caliendo, J., Hentati, A., Kwon, Y. W., Deng, H. X., & et al. (1994). Motor neuron degeneration in mice that express a human Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase mutation. *Science*, *264*(5166), 1772-1775.
- Hallegger, M., Chakrabarti, A. M., Lee, F. C. Y., Lee, B. L., Amalietti, A. G., Odeh, H. M., Copley, K. E., Rubien, J. D., Portz, B., Kuret, K., Huppertz, I., Rau, F., Patani, R., Fawzi, N. L., Shorter, J., Luscombe, N.

M., & Ule, J. (2021). TDP-43 condensation properties specify its RNA-binding and regulatory repertoire. *Cell*, *184*(18), 4680-4696.e4622.

- Hans, F., Fiesel, F. C., Strong, J. C., Jäckel, S., Rasse, T. M., Geisler, S., Springer, W., Schulz, J. B., Voigt, A., & Kahle, P. J. (2014). UBE2E ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes and ubiquitin isopeptidase Y regulate TDP-43 protein ubiquitination. J Biol Chem, 289(27), 19164-19179.
- Hans, F., Eckert, M., von Zweydorf, F., Gloeckner, C. J., & Kahle, P. J. (2018). Identification and characterization of ubiquitinylation sites in TAR DNA-binding protein of 43 kDa (TDP-43). J Biol Chem, 293(41), 16083-16099.
- Hara, T., Nakamura, K., Matsui, M., Yamamoto, A., Nakahara, Y., Suzuki-Migishima, R., Yokoyama, M., Mishima, K., Saito, I., Okano, H., & Mizushima, N. (2006). Suppression of basal autophagy in neural cells causes neurodegenerative disease in mice. *Nature*, 441(7095), 885-889.
- Hartl, F. U., Bracher, A., & Hayer-Hartl, M. (2011). Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis. *Nature, 475*(7356), 324-332.
- Hasegawa, M., Arai, T., Akiyama, H., Nonaka, T., Mori, H., Hashimoto, T., Yamazaki, M., & Oyanagi, K. (2007). TDP-43 is deposited in the Guam parkinsonism-dementia complex brains. *Brain, 130*(Pt 5), 1386-1394.
- Hasegawa, M., Arai, T., Nonaka, T., Kametani, F., Yoshida, M., Hashizume, Y., Beach, T. G., Buratti, E., Baralle, F., Morita, M., Nakano, I., Oda, T., Tsuchiya, K., & Akiyama, H. (2008). Phosphorylated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Ann Neurol, 64*(1), 60-70.
- He, R. Y., Huang, Y. C., Chiang, C. W., Tsai, Y. J., Ye, T. J., Gao, H. D., Wu, C. Y., Lee, H. M., & Huang, J. J. (2015). Characterization and real-time imaging of the FTLD-related protein aggregation induced by amyloidogenic peptides. *Chem Commun (Camb)*, *51*(41), 8652-8655.
- Hebert, L. E., Weuve, J., Scherr, P. A., & Evans, D. A. (2013). Alzheimer disease in the United States (2010-2050) estimated using the 2010 census. *Neurology*, *80*(19), 1778-1783.
- Hebron, M. L., Lonskaya, I., Sharpe, K., Weerasinghe, P. P., Algarzae, N. K., Shekoyan, A. R., & Moussa, C. E. (2013). Parkin ubiquitinates Tar-DNA binding protein-43 (TDP-43) and promotes its cytosolic accumulation via interaction with histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6). *J Biol Chem, 288*(6), 4103-4115.
- Henkel, J. S., Engelhardt, J. I., Siklós, L., Simpson, E. P., Kim, S. H., Pan, T., Goodman, J. C., Siddique, T., Beers, D. R., & Appel, S. H. (2004). Presence of dendritic cells, MCP-1, and activated microglia/macrophages in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis spinal cord tissue. *Ann Neurol*, 55(2), 221-235.
- Herskowitz, J. H., Gozal, Y. M., Duong, D. M., Dammer, E. B., Gearing, M., Ye, K., Lah, J. J., Peng, J., Levey, A. I., & Seyfried, N. T. (2012). Asparaginyl endopeptidase cleaves TDP-43 in brain. *Proteomics*, 12(15-16), 2455-2463.
- Higashi, S., Iseki, E., Yamamoto, R., Minegishi, M., Hino, H., Fujisawa, K., Togo, T., Katsuse, O., Uchikado, H., Furukawa, Y., Kosaka, K., & Arai, H. (2007). Concurrence of TDP-43, tau and alpha-synuclein pathology in brains of Alzheimer's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. *Brain Res, 1184*, 284-294.
- Highley, J. R., Kirby, J., Jansweijer, J. A., Webb, P. S., Hewamadduma, C. A., Heath, P. R., Higginbottom, A., Raman, R., Ferraiuolo, L., Cooper-Knock, J., McDermott, C. J., Wharton, S. B., Shaw, P. J., & Ince, P. G. (2014). Loss of nuclear TDP-43 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) causes altered expression of splicing machinery and widespread dysregulation of RNA splicing in motor neurones. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 40*(6), 670-685.
- Hodges, J. R., Davies, R., Xuereb, J., Kril, J., & Halliday, G. (2003). Survival in frontotemporal dementia. *Neurology*, *61*(3), 349-354.
- Huang, C., Xia, P. Y., & Zhou, H. (2010). Sustained expression of TDP-43 and FUS in motor neurons in rodent's lifetime. *Int J Biol Sci, 6*(4), 396-406.
- Huang, C., Yan, S., & Zhang, Z. (2020). Maintaining the balance of TDP-43, mitochondria, and autophagy: a promising therapeutic strategy for neurodegenerative diseases. *Transl Neurodegener, 9*(1), 40.
- Hughes, L. E., Rittman, T., Regenthal, R., Robbins, T. W., & Rowe, J. B. (2015). Improving response inhibition systems in frontotemporal dementia with citalopram. *Brain, 138*(Pt 7), 1961-1975.

- Hughes, M. P., Sawaya, M. R., Boyer, D. R., Goldschmidt, L., Rodriguez, J. A., Cascio, D., Chong, L., Gonen, T., & Eisenberg, D. S. (2018). Atomic structures of low-complexity protein segments reveal kinked β sheets that assemble networks. *Science*, *359*(6376), 698-701.
- Hunter, M., Spiller, K. J., Dominique, M. A., Xu, H., Hunter, F. W., Fang, T. C., Canter, R. G., Roberts, C. J., Ransohoff, R. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2021). Microglial transcriptome analysis in the rNLS8 mouse model of TDP-43 proteinopathy reveals discrete expression profiles associated with neurodegenerative progression and recovery. *Acta Neuropathol Commun*, 9(1), 140.
- Hutton, M., Lendon, C. L., Rizzu, P., Baker, M., Froelich, S., Houlden, H., Pickering-Brown, S., Chakraverty, S., Isaacs, A., Grover, A., Hackett, J., Adamson, J., Lincoln, S., Dickson, D., Davies, P., Petersen, R. C., Stevens, M., de Graaff, E., Wauters, E., van Baren, J., Hillebrand, M., Joosse, M., Kwon, J. M., Nowotny, P., Che, L. K., Norton, J., Morris, J. C., Reed, L. A., Trojanowski, J., Basun, H., Lannfelt, L., Neystat, M., Fahn, S., Dark, F., Tannenberg, T., Dodd, P. R., Hayward, N., Kwok, J. B., Schofield, P. R., Andreadis, A., Snowden, J., Craufurd, D., Neary, D., Owen, F., Oostra, B. A., Hardy, J., Goate, A., van Swieten, J., Mann, D., Lynch, T., & Heutink, P. (1998). Association of missense and 5'-splice-site mutations in tau with the inherited dementia FTDP-17. *Nature, 393*(6686), 702-705.
- Igaz, L. M., Kwong, L. K., Xu, Y., Truax, A. C., Uryu, K., Neumann, M., Clark, C. M., Elman, L. B., Miller, B. L., Grossman, M., McCluskey, L. F., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2008). Enrichment of C-terminal fragments in TAR DNA-binding protein-43 cytoplasmic inclusions in brain but not in spinal cord of frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Am J Pathol*, *173*(1), 182-194.
- Igaz, L. M., Kwong, L. K., Chen-Plotkin, A., Winton, M. J., Unger, T. L., Xu, Y., Neumann, M., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2009). Expression of TDP-43 C-terminal Fragments in Vitro Recapitulates Pathological Features of TDP-43 Proteinopathies. *J Biol Chem*, 284(13), 8516-8524.
- Igaz, L. M., Kwong, L. K., Lee, E. B., Chen-Plotkin, A., Swanson, E., Unger, T., Malunda, J., Xu, Y., Winton, M. J., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2011). Dysregulation of the ALS-associated gene TDP-43 leads to neuronal death and degeneration in mice. *J Clin Invest*, *121*(2), 726-738.
- Iguchi, Y., Katsuno, M., Niwa, J., Yamada, S., Sone, J., Waza, M., Adachi, H., Tanaka, F., Nagata, K., Arimura, N., Watanabe, T., Kaibuchi, K., & Sobue, G. (2009). TDP-43 depletion induces neuronal cell damage through dysregulation of Rho family GTPases. J Biol Chem, 284(33), 22059-22066.
- Iguchi, Y., Katsuno, M., Niwa, J., Takagi, S., Ishigaki, S., Ikenaka, K., Kawai, K., Watanabe, H., Yamanaka, K., Takahashi, R., Misawa, H., Sasaki, S., Tanaka, F., & Sobue, G. (2013). Loss of TDP-43 causes age-dependent progressive motor neuron degeneration. *Brain, 136*(Pt 5), 1371-1382.
- Iguchi, Y., Eid, L., Parent, M., Soucy, G., Bareil, C., Riku, Y., Kawai, K., Takagi, S., Yoshida, M., Katsuno, M., Sobue, G., & Julien, J. P. (2016). Exosome secretion is a key pathway for clearance of pathological TDP-43. *Brain, 139*(Pt 12), 3187-3201.
- Imamura, K., Izumi, Y., Watanabe, A., Tsukita, K., Woltjen, K., Yamamoto, T., Hotta, A., Kondo, T., Kitaoka, S., Ohta, A., Tanaka, A., Watanabe, D., Morita, M., Takuma, H., Tamaoka, A., Kunath, T., Wray, S., Furuya, H., Era, T., Makioka, K., Okamoto, K., Fujisawa, T., Nishitoh, H., Homma, K., Ichijo, H., Julien, J. P., Obata, N., Hosokawa, M., Akiyama, H., Kaneko, S., Ayaki, T., Ito, H., Kaji, R., Takahashi, R., Yamanaka, S., & Inoue, H. (2017). The Src/c-Abl pathway is a potential therapeutic target in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Sci Transl Med*, *9*(391).
- Inukai, Y., Nonaka, T., Arai, T., Yoshida, M., Hashizume, Y., Beach, T. G., Buratti, E., Baralle, F. E., Akiyama, H., Hisanaga, S., & Hasegawa, M. (2008). Abnormal phosphorylation of Ser409/410 of TDP-43 in FTLD-U and ALS. *FEBS Lett, 582*(19), 2899-2904.
- Irwin, K. E., Jasin, P., Braunstein, K. E., Sinha, I., Bowden, K. D., Moghekar, A., Oh, E. S., Raitcheva, D., Bartlett, D., Berry, J. D., Traynor, B., Ling, J. P., & Wong, P. C. (2023). A fluid biomarker reveals loss of TDP-43 splicing repression in pre-symptomatic ALS. *bioRxiv*, 2023.2001.2023.525202.
- Ishiguro, T., Sato, N., Ueyama, M., Fujikake, N., Sellier, C., Kanegami, A., Tokuda, E., Zamiri, B., Gall-Duncan, T., Mirceta, M., Furukawa, Y., Yokota, T., Wada, K., Taylor, J. P., Pearson, C. E., Charlet-Berguerand, N., Mizusawa, H., Nagai, Y., & Ishikawa, K. (2017). Regulatory Role of RNA Chaperone TDP-43 for RNA Misfolding and Repeat-Associated Translation in SCA31. *Neuron, 94*(1), 108-124.e107.
- Jackrel, M. E., DeSantis, M. E., Martinez, B. A., Castellano, L. M., Stewart, R. M., Caldwell, K. A., Caldwell, G. A., & Shorter, J. (2014). Potentiated Hsp104 variants antagonize diverse proteotoxic misfolding events. *Cell*, 156(1-2), 170-182.

- Jambeau, M., Meyer, K. D., Hruska-Plochan, M., Tabet, R., Lee, C. Z., Ray-Soni, A., Aguilar, C., Savage, K., Mishra, N., Cavegn, N., Borter, P., Lin, C. C., Jansen-West, K. R., Jiang, J., Freyermuth, F., Li, N., De Rossi, P., Pérez-Berlanga, M., Jiang, X., Daughrity, L. M., Pereira, J., Narayanan, S., Gu, Y., Dhokai, S., Dalkilic-Liddle, I., Maniecka, Z., Weber, J., Workman, M., McAlonis-Downes, M., Berezovski, E., Zhang, Y. J., Berry, J., Wainger, B. J., Kankel, M. W., Rushe, M., Hock, C., Nitsch, R. M., Cleveland, D. W., Petrucelli, L., Gendron, T. F., Montrasio, F., Grimm, J., Polymenidou, M., & Lagier-Tourenne, C. (2022). Comprehensive evaluation of human-derived anti-poly-GA antibodies in cellular and animal models of C9orf72 disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 119*(49), e2123487119.
- Jiang, L. L., Che, M. X., Zhao, J., Zhou, C. J., Xie, M. Y., Li, H. Y., He, J. H., & Hu, H. Y. (2013). Structural transformation of the amyloidogenic core region of TDP-43 protein initiates its aggregation and cytoplasmic inclusion. *J Biol Chem*, 288(27), 19614-19624.
- Jiang, L. L., Zhao, J., Yin, X. F., He, W. T., Yang, H., Che, M. X., & Hu, H. Y. (2016). Two mutations G335D and Q343R within the amyloidogenic core region of TDP-43 influence its aggregation and inclusion formation. *Sci Rep, 6*, 23928.
- Jiang, L. L., Xue, W., Hong, J. Y., Zhang, J. T., Li, M. J., Yu, S. N., He, J. H., & Hu, H. Y. (2017). The Nterminal dimerization is required for TDP-43 splicing activity. *Sci Rep*, 7(1), 6196.
- Jiang, L. L., Guan, W. L., Wang, J. Y., Zhang, S. X., & Hu, H. Y. (2022). RNA-assisted sequestration of RNAbinding proteins by cytoplasmic inclusions of the C-terminal 35-kDa fragment of TDP-43. J Cell Sci, 135(6).
- Jinwal, U. K., Abisambra, J. F., Zhang, J., Dharia, S., O'Leary, J. C., Patel, T., Braswell, K., Jani, T., Gestwicki, J. E., & Dickey, C. A. (2012). Cdc37/Hsp90 protein complex disruption triggers an autophagic clearance cascade for TDP-43 protein. J Biol Chem, 287(29), 24814-24820.
- Johnson, B. S., McCaffery, J. M., Lindquist, S., & Gitler, A. D. (2008). A yeast TDP-43 proteinopathy model: Exploring the molecular determinants of TDP-43 aggregation and cellular toxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A, 105(17), 6439-6444.
- Johnson, B. S., Snead, D., Lee, J. J., McCaffery, J. M., Shorter, J., & Gitler, A. D. (2009). TDP-43 is intrinsically aggregation-prone, and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-linked mutations accelerate aggregation and increase toxicity. J Biol Chem, 284(30), 20329-20339.
- Johnson, J. O., Mandrioli, J., Benatar, M., Abramzon, Y., Van Deerlin, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., Gibbs, J. R., Brunetti, M., Gronka, S., Wuu, J., Ding, J., McCluskey, L., Martinez-Lage, M., Falcone, D., Hernandez, D. G., Arepalli, S., Chong, S., Schymick, J. C., Rothstein, J., Landi, F., Wang, Y. D., Calvo, A., Mora, G., Sabatelli, M., Monsurro, M. R., Battistini, S., Salvi, F., Spataro, R., Sola, P., Borghero, G., Galassi, G., Scholz, S. W., Taylor, J. P., Restagno, G., Chio, A., & Traynor, B. J. (2010). Exome sequencing reveals VCP mutations as a cause of familial ALS. *Neuron, 68*(5), 857-864.
- Johnson, J. O., Pioro, E. P., Boehringer, A., Chia, R., Feit, H., Renton, A. E., Pliner, H. A., Abramzon, Y., Marangi, G., Winborn, B. J., Gibbs, J. R., Nalls, M. A., Morgan, S., Shoai, M., Hardy, J., Pittman, A., Orrell, R. W., Malaspina, A., Sidle, K. C., Fratta, P., Harms, M. B., Baloh, R. H., Pestronk, A., Weihl, C. C., Rogaeva, E., Zinman, L., Drory, V. E., Borghero, G., Mora, G., Calvo, A., Rothstein, J. D., Drepper, C., Sendtner, M., Singleton, A. B., Taylor, J. P., Cookson, M. R., Restagno, G., Sabatelli, M., Bowser, R., Chio, A., & Traynor, B. J. (2014). Mutations in the Matrin 3 gene cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat Neurosci, 17*(5), 664-666.
- Josephs, K. A., Whitwell, J. L., Knopman, D. S., Hu, W. T., Stroh, D. A., Baker, M., Rademakers, R., Boeve, B. F., Parisi, J. E., Smith, G. E., Ivnik, R. J., Petersen, R. C., Jack, C. R., Jr., & Dickson, D. W. (2008). Abnormal TDP-43 immunoreactivity in AD modifies clinicopathologic and radiologic phenotype. *Neurology*, *70*(19 Pt 2), 1850-1857.
- Josephs, K. A., Whitwell, J. L., Weigand, S. D., Murray, M. E., Tosakulwong, N., Liesinger, A. M., Petrucelli, L., Senjem, M. L., Knopman, D. S., Boeve, B. F., Ivnik, R. J., Smith, G. E., Jack, C. R., Jr., Parisi, J. E., Petersen, R. C., & Dickson, D. W. (2014). TDP-43 is a key player in the clinical features associated with Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol, 127(6), 811-824.
- Jovicic, A., Mertens, J., Boeynaems, S., Bogaert, E., Chai, N., Yamada, S. B., Paul, J. W., 3rd, Sun, S., Herdy, J. R., Bieri, G., Kramer, N. J., Gage, F. H., Van Den Bosch, L., Robberecht, W., & Gitler, A. D. (2015). Modifiers of C9orf72 dipeptide repeat toxicity connect nucleocytoplasmic transport defects to FTD/ALS. *Nat Neurosci, 18*(9), 1226-1229.
- Ju, J. S., Fuentealba, R. A., Miller, S. E., Jackson, E., Piwnica-Worms, D., Baloh, R. H., & Weihl, C. C. (2009). Valosin-containing protein (VCP) is required for autophagy and is disrupted in VCP disease. J Cell Biol, 187(6), 875-888.

- Kabashi, E., Valdmanis, P. N., Dion, P., Spiegelman, D., McConkey, B. J., Vande Velde, C., Bouchard, J. P., Lacomblez, L., Pochigaeva, K., Salachas, F., Pradat, P. F., Camu, W., Meininger, V., Dupre, N., & Rouleau, G. A. (2008). TARDBP mutations in individuals with sporadic and familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat Genet*, 40(5), 572-574.
- Kabashi, E., Lin, L., Tradewell, M. L., Dion, P. A., Bercier, V., Bourgouin, P., Rochefort, D., Bel Hadj, S., Durham, H. D., Vande Velde, C., Rouleau, G. A., & Drapeau, P. (2010). Gain and loss of function of ALS-related mutations of TARDBP (TDP-43) cause motor deficits in vivo. *Hum Mol Genet*, *19*(4), 671-683.
- Kabashi, E., Agar, J. N., Strong, M. J., & Durham, H. D. (2012). Impaired proteasome function in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler, 13*(4), 367-371.
- Kaivola, K., Chia, R., Ding, J., Rasheed, M., Fujita, M., Menon, V., Walton, R. L., Collins, R. L., Billingsley, K., Brand, H., Talkowski, M., Zhao, X., Dewan, R., Stark, A., Ray, A., Solaiman, S., Alvarez Jerez, P., Malik, L., Dawson, T. M., Rosenthal, L. S., Albert, M. S., Pletnikova, O., Troncoso, J. C., Masellis, M., Keith, J., Black, S. E., Ferrucci, L., Resnick, S. M., Tanaka, T., Topol, E., Torkamani, A., Tienari, P., Foroud, T. M., Ghetti, B., Landers, J. E., Ryten, M., Morris, H. R., Hardy, J. A., Mazzini, L., D'Alfonso, S., Moglia, C., Calvo, A., Serrano, G. E., Beach, T. G., Ferman, T., Graff-Radford, N. R., Boeve, B. F., Wszolek, Z. K., Dickson, D. W., Chiò, A., Bennett, D. A., De Jager, P. L., Ross, O. A., Dalgard, C. L., Gibbs, J. R., Traynor, B. J., & Scholz, S. W. (2023). Genome-wide structural variant analysis identifies risk loci for non-Alzheimer's dementias. *Cell Genom, 3*(6), 100316.
- Kametani, F., Nonaka, T., Suzuki, T., Arai, T., Dohmae, N., Akiyama, H., & Hasegawa, M. (2009). Identification of casein kinase-1 phosphorylation sites on TDP-43. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 382(2), 405-409.
- Kametani, F., Obi, T., Shishido, T., Akatsu, H., Murayama, S., Saito, Y., Yoshida, M., & Hasegawa, M. (2016).
  Mass spectrometric analysis of accumulated TDP-43 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis brains. *Sci Rep*, 6, 23281.
- Kao, P. F., Chen, Y. R., Liu, X. B., DeCarli, C., Seeley, W. W., & Jin, L. W. (2015). Detection of TDP-43 oligomers in frontotemporal lobar degeneration-TDP. *Ann Neurol*, *78*(2), 211-221.
- Kariolis, M. S., Wells, R. C., Getz, J. A., Kwan, W., Mahon, C. S., Tong, R., Kim, D. J., Srivastava, A., Bedard, C., Henne, K. R., Giese, T., Assimon, V. A., Chen, X., Zhang, Y., Solanoy, H., Jenkins, K., Sanchez, P. E., Kane, L., Miyamoto, T., Chew, K. S., Pizzo, M. E., Liang, N., Calvert, M. E. K., DeVos, S. L., Baskaran, S., Hall, S., Sweeney, Z. K., Thorne, R. G., Watts, R. J., Dennis, M. S., Silverman, A. P., & Zuchero, Y. J. Y. (2020). Brain delivery of therapeutic proteins using an Fc fragment blood-brain barrier transport vehicle in mice and monkeys. *Sci Transl Med*, *12*(545).
- Kästle, M., & Grune, T. (2012). Interactions of the proteasomal system with chaperones: protein triage and protein quality control. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci, 109*, 113-160.
- Kato, M., Han, T. W., Xie, S., Shi, K., Du, X., Wu, L. C., Mirzaei, H., Goldsmith, E. J., Longgood, J., Pei, J., Grishin, N. V., Frantz, D. E., Schneider, J. W., Chen, S., Li, L., Sawaya, M. R., Eisenberg, D., Tycko, R., & McKnight, S. L. (2012). Cell-free formation of RNA granules: low complexity sequence domains form dynamic fibers within hydrogels. *Cell*, *149*(4), 753-767.
- Katsinelos, T., Tuck, B. J., Mukadam, A. S., & McEwan, W. A. (2019). The Role of Antibodies and Their Receptors in Protection Against Ordered Protein Assembly in Neurodegeneration. *Front Immunol, 10*, 1139.
- Kawahara, Y., & Mieda-Sato, A. (2012). TDP-43 promotes microRNA biogenesis as a component of the Drosha and Dicer complexes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 109*(9), 3347-3352.
- Kempuraj, D., Thangavel, R., Natteru, P. A., Selvakumar, G. P., Saeed, D., Zahoor, H., Zaheer, S., Iyer, S. S.,
  & Zaheer, A. (2016). Neuroinflammation Induces Neurodegeneration. *J Neurol Neurosurg Spine*, 1(1).
- Kertesz, A., McMonagle, P., Blair, M., Davidson, W., & Munoz, D. G. (2005). The evolution and pathology of frontotemporal dementia. *Brain, 128*(Pt 9), 1996-2005.
- Khalfallah, Y., Kuta, R., Grasmuck, C., Prat, A., Durham, H. D., & Vande Velde, C. (2018). TDP-43 regulation of stress granule dynamics in neurodegenerative disease-relevant cell types. *Sci Rep, 8*(1), 7551.
- Kim, H. J., Kim, N. C., Wang, Y. D., Scarborough, E. A., Moore, J., Diaz, Z., MacLea, K. S., Freibaum, B., Li, S., Molliex, A., Kanagaraj, A. P., Carter, R., Boylan, K. B., Wojtas, A. M., Rademakers, R., Pinkus, J.

L., Greenberg, S. A., Trojanowski, J. Q., Traynor, B. J., Smith, B. N., Topp, S., Gkazi, A. S., Miller, J., Shaw, C. E., Kottlors, M., Kirschner, J., Pestronk, A., Li, Y. R., Ford, A. F., Gitler, A. D., Benatar, M., King, O. D., Kimonis, V. E., Ross, E. D., Weihl, C. C., Shorter, J., & Taylor, J. P. (2013). Mutations in prion-like domains in hnRNPA2B1 and hnRNPA1 cause multisystem proteinopathy and ALS. *Nature, 495*(7442), 467-473.

- Kim, S. H., Shanware, N. P., Bowler, M. J., & Tibbetts, R. S. (2010). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-associated proteins TDP-43 and FUS/TLS function in a common biochemical complex to co-regulate HDAC6 mRNA. J Biol Chem, 285(44), 34097-34105.
- King, I. N., Yartseva, V., Salas, D., Kumar, A., Heidersbach, A., Ando, D. M., Stallings, N. R., Elliott, J. L., Srivastava, D., & Ivey, K. N. (2014). The RNA-binding protein TDP-43 selectively disrupts microRNA-1/206 incorporation into the RNA-induced silencing complex. J Biol Chem, 289(20), 14263-14271.
- King, O. D., Gitler, A. D., & Shorter, J. (2012). The tip of the iceberg: RNA-binding proteins with prion-like domains in neurodegenerative disease. *Brain Res, 1462*, 61-80.
- Kinoshita, Y., Ito, H., Hirano, A., Fujita, K., Wate, R., Nakamura, M., Kaneko, S., Nakano, S., & Kusaka, H. (2009). Nuclear contour irregularity and abnormal transporter protein distribution in anterior horn cells in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 68*(11), 1184-1192.
- Kitamura, A., Nakayama, Y., Shibasaki, A., Taki, A., Yuno, S., Takeda, K., Yahara, M., Tanabe, N., & Kinjo, M. (2016). Interaction of RNA with a C-terminal fragment of the amyotrophic lateral sclerosisassociated TDP43 reduces cytotoxicity. *Sci Rep, 6*, 19230.
- Klim, J. R., Williams, L. A., Limone, F., Guerra San Juan, I., Davis-Dusenbery, B. N., Mordes, D. A., Burberry, A., Steinbaugh, M. J., Gamage, K. K., Kirchner, R., Moccia, R., Cassel, S. H., Chen, K., Wainger, B. J., Woolf, C. J., & Eggan, K. (2019). ALS-implicated protein TDP-43 sustains levels of STMN2, a mediator of motor neuron growth and repair. *Nat Neurosci, 22*(2), 167-179.
- Klim, J. R., Pintacuda, G., Nash, L. A., Guerra San Juan, I., & Eggan, K. (2021). Connecting TDP-43 Pathology with Neuropathy. *Trends Neurosci*, 44(6), 424-440.
- Kluever, V., Russo, B., Mandad, S., Kumar, N. H., Alevra, M., Ori, A., Rizzoli, S. O., Urlaub, H., Schneider, A., & Fornasiero, E. F. (2022). Protein lifetimes in aged brains reveal a proteostatic adaptation linking physiological aging to neurodegeneration. *Sci Adv, 8*(20), eabn4437.
- Kocaturk, N. M., & Gozuacik, D. (2018). Crosstalk Between Mammalian Autophagy and the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System. *Front Cell Dev Biol, 6*, 128.
- Koehler, L. C., Grese, Z. R., Bastos, A. C. S., Mamede, L. D., Heyduk, T., & Ayala, Y. M. (2022). TDP-43 Oligomerization and Phase Separation Properties Are Necessary for Autoregulation. *Front Neurosci*, 16, 818655.
- Koji, A., Masashi, A., Shoji, T., Yasuto, I., Gen, S., Masanori, T., Chikuma, H., Masahiko, T., Makoto, A., Kazue, N., Fumihiro, T., Kazuoki, K., Hiide, Y., Koji, A., Masashi, A., Shoji, T., Yasuto, I., Gen, S., Masanori, T., Chikuma, H., Hidenao, S., Ichiro, Y., Shizuki, D., Hitoshi, W., Takashi, I., Hiroaki, I., Mitsumasa, F., Etsuko, O., Manabu, W., Imaharu, N., Mitsuya, M., Katsuhisa, O., Yuichi, M., Kimiko, I., Osamu, K., Mineo, Y., Yuji, T., Hiroyuki, I., Mieko, O., Ryoko, K., Chiho, I., Tsuyoshi, U., Kouichi, M., Tomokazu, O., Hirohisa, W., Naoki, A., Ikuko, A., Akira, T., Hideyuki, S., Takanori, H., Harutoshi, F., Hirofumi, K., Takenobu, K., Hitoshi, K., Hidenori, M., Hidetsugu, U., Kazutoshi, U., Masahiko, T., Makoto, A., Masaki, U., Aiko, M., Rie, S., Takuya, K., Kazue, N., Kazunori, M., Takatomo, Y., Manabu, H., Kouichi, S., Hidetomo, T., Tomoko, N., Hiroshi, M., Kuniko, K., Kaori, Y., Tomohisa, I., Fumihiro, T., Kazuoki, K., & Hiide, Y. (2017). Safety and efficacy of edaravone in well defined patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol, 16*(7), 505-512.

Komander, D., & Rape, M. (2012). The ubiquitin code. Annu Rev Biochem, 81, 203-229.

- Komatsu, M., Waguri, S., Chiba, T., Murata, S., Iwata, J., Tanida, I., Ueno, T., Koike, M., Uchiyama, Y., Kominami, E., & Tanaka, K. (2006). Loss of autophagy in the central nervous system causes neurodegeneration in mice. *Nature*, 441(7095), 880-884.
- Kopito, R. R. (2000). Aggresomes, inclusion bodies and protein aggregation. *Trends Cell Biol, 10*(12), 524-530.
- Koriath, C. A., Bocchetta, M., Brotherhood, E., Woollacott, I. O., Norsworthy, P., Simón-Sánchez, J., Blauwendraat, C., Dick, K. M., Gordon, E., Harding, S. R., Fox, N. C., Crutch, S., Warren, J. D., Revesz, T., Lashley, T., Mead, S., & Rohrer, J. D. (2017). The clinical, neuroanatomical, and

neuropathologic phenotype of TBK1-associated frontotemporal dementia: A longitudinal case report. *Alzheimers Dement (Amst), 6*, 75-81.

- Korobeynikov, V. A., Lyashchenko, A. K., Blanco-Redondo, B., Jafar-Nejad, P., & Shneider, N. A. (2022). Antisense oligonucleotide silencing of FUS expression as a therapeutic approach in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat Med*, 28(1), 104-116.
- Kosik, K. S., Joachim, C. L., & Selkoe, D. J. (1986). Microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 83(11), 4044-4048.
- Kraemer, B. C., Schuck, T., Wheeler, J. M., Robinson, L. C., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M., & Schellenberg,
  G. D. (2010). Loss of murine TDP-43 disrupts motor function and plays an essential role in embryogenesis. *Acta Neuropathol*, *119*(4), 409-419.
- Kretschmer, B. D., Kratzer, U., & Schmidt, W. J. (1998). Riluzole, a glutamate release inhibitor, and motor behavior. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol, 358*(2), 181-190.
- Krug, L., Chatterjee, N., Borges-Monroy, R., Hearn, S., Liao, W. W., Morrill, K., Prazak, L., Rozhkov, N., Theodorou, D., Hammell, M., & Dubnau, J. (2017). Retrotransposon activation contributes to neurodegeneration in a Drosophila TDP-43 model of ALS. *PLoS Genet*, *13*(3), e1006635.
- Kumar, S., Phaneuf, D., Cordeau, P., Jr., Boutej, H., Kriz, J., & Julien, J. P. (2021). Induction of autophagy mitigates TDP-43 pathology and translational repression of neurofilament mRNAs in mouse models of ALS/FTD. *Mol Neurodegener*, 16(1), 1.
- Kumar, S. T., Nazarov, S., Porta, S., Maharjan, N., Cendrowska, U., Kabani, M., Finamore, F., Xu, Y., Lee, V. M., & Lashuel, H. A. (2023). Seeding the aggregation of TDP-43 requires post-fibrillization proteolytic cleavage. *Nat Neurosci,* 26(6), 983-996.
- Kuo, P. H., Doudeva, L. G., Wang, Y. T., Shen, C. K., & Yuan, H. S. (2009). Structural insights into TDP-43 in nucleic-acid binding and domain interactions. *Nucleic Acids Res*, *37*(6), 1799-1808.
- Kuo, P. H., Chiang, C. H., Wang, Y. T., Doudeva, L. G., & Yuan, H. S. (2014). The crystal structure of TDP-43 RRM1-DNA complex reveals the specific recognition for UG- and TG-rich nucleic acids. *Nucleic Acids Res, 42*(7), 4712-4722.
- Kwiatkowski, T. J., Jr., Bosco, D. A., Leclerc, A. L., Tamrazian, E., Vanderburg, C. R., Russ, C., Davis, A., Gilchrist, J., Kasarskis, E. J., Munsat, T., Valdmanis, P., Rouleau, G. A., Hosler, B. A., Cortelli, P., de Jong, P. J., Yoshinaga, Y., Haines, J. L., Pericak-Vance, M. A., Yan, J., Ticozzi, N., Siddique, T., McKenna-Yasek, D., Sapp, P. C., Horvitz, H. R., Landers, J. E., & Brown, R. H., Jr. (2009). Mutations in the FUS/TLS gene on chromosome 16 cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science*, 323(5918), 1205-1208.
- Kwon, H. S., & Koh, S. H. (2020). Neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative disorders: the roles of microglia and astrocytes. *Transl Neurodegener*, *9*(1), 42.
- Kwong, L. K., Uryu, K., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2008). TDP-43 proteinopathies: neurodegenerative protein misfolding diseases without amyloidosis. *Neurosignals, 16*(1), 41-51.
- Lacomblez, L., Bensimon, G., Leigh, P. N., Guillet, P., & Meininger, V. (1996). Dose-ranging study of riluzole in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis/Riluzole Study Group II. Lancet, 347(9013), 1425-1431.
- Laferrière, F., Maniecka, Z., Pérez-Berlanga, M., Hruska-Plochan, M., Gilhespy, L., Hock, E. M., Wagner, U., Afroz, T., Boersema, P. J., Barmettler, G., Foti, S. C., Asi, Y. T., Isaacs, A. M., Al-Amoudi, A., Lewis, A., Stahlberg, H., Ravits, J., De Giorgi, F., Ichas, F., Bezard, E., Picotti, P., Lashley, T., & Polymenidou, M. (2019). TDP-43 extracted from frontotemporal lobar degeneration subject brains displays distinct aggregate assemblies and neurotoxic effects reflecting disease progression rates. *Nat Neurosci, 22*(1), 65-77.
- Lagier-Tourenne, C., Polymenidou, M., Hutt, K. R., Vu, A. Q., Baughn, M., Huelga, S. C., Clutario, K. M., Ling, S. C., Liang, T. Y., Mazur, C., Wancewicz, E., Kim, A. S., Watt, A., Freier, S., Hicks, G. G., Donohue, J. P., Shiue, L., Bennett, C. F., Ravits, J., Cleveland, D. W., & Yeo, G. W. (2012). Divergent roles of ALS-linked proteins FUS/TLS and TDP-43 intersect in processing long pre-mRNAs. *Nat Neurosci,* 15(11), 1488-1497.
- Lagier-Tourenne, C., Baughn, M., Rigo, F., Sun, S., Liu, P., Li, H. R., Jiang, J., Watt, A. T., Chun, S., Katz, M., Qiu, J., Sun, Y., Ling, S. C., Zhu, Q., Polymenidou, M., Drenner, K., Artates, J. W., McAlonis-Downes,

M., Markmiller, S., Hutt, K. R., Pizzo, D. P., Cady, J., Harms, M. B., Baloh, R. H., Vandenberg, S. R., Yeo, G. W., Fu, X. D., Bennett, C. F., Cleveland, D. W., & Ravits, J. (2013). Targeted degradation of sense and antisense C9orf72 RNA foci as therapy for ALS and frontotemporal degeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *110*(47), E4530-4539.

- Lamark, T., & Johansen, T. (2012). Aggrephagy: selective disposal of protein aggregates by macroautophagy. Int J Cell Biol, 2012, 736905.
- Lannfelt, L., Relkin, N. R., & Siemers, E. R. (2014). Amyloid-ß-directed immunotherapy for Alzheimer's disease. J Intern Med, 275(3), 284-295.
- Le Guerroué, F., & Youle, R. J. (2021). Ubiquitin signaling in neurodegenerative diseases: an autophagy and proteasome perspective. *Cell Death Differ, 28*(2), 439-454.
- Lebert, F., Stekke, W., Hasenbroekx, C., & Pasquier, F. (2004). Frontotemporal dementia: a randomised, controlled trial with trazodone. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, *17*(4), 355-359.
- Lee, E. B., Lee, V. M., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2011). Gains or losses: molecular mechanisms of TDP43mediated neurodegeneration. *Nat Rev Neurosci, 13*(1), 38-50.
- Lee, E. B., Porta, S., Michael Baer, G., Xu, Y., Suh, E., Kwong, L. K., Elman, L., Grossman, M., Lee, V. M., Irwin, D. J., Van Deerlin, V. M., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2017). Expansion of the classification of FTLD-TDP: distinct pathology associated with rapidly progressive frontotemporal degeneration. *Acta Neuropathol, 134*(1), 65-78.
- Lee, S., Jo, M., Lee, H. E., Jeon, Y. M., Kim, S., Kwon, Y., Woo, J., Han, S., Mun, J. Y., & Kim, H. J. (2021). HEXA-018, a Novel Inducer of Autophagy, Rescues TDP-43 Toxicity in Neuronal Cells. *Front Pharmacol*, *12*, 747975.
- Lee, S. H., Le Pichon, C. E., Adolfsson, O., Gafner, V., Pihlgren, M., Lin, H., Solanoy, H., Brendza, R., Ngu, H., Foreman, O., Chan, R., Ernst, J. A., DiCara, D., Hotzel, I., Srinivasan, K., Hansen, D. V., Atwal, J., Lu, Y., Bumbaca, D., Pfeifer, A., Watts, R. J., Muhs, A., Scearce-Levie, K., & Ayalon, G. (2016). Antibody-Mediated Targeting of Tau In Vivo Does Not Require Effector Function and Microglial Engagement. *Cell Rep, 16*(6), 1690-1700.
- Leibiger, C., Deisel, J., Aufschnaiter, A., Ambros, S., Tereshchenko, M., Verheijen, B. M., Büttner, S., & Braun, R. J. (2018). TDP-43 controls lysosomal pathways thereby determining its own clearance and cytotoxicity. *Hum Mol Genet*, *27*(9), 1593-1607.
- Lemere, C. A., & Masliah, E. (2010). Can Alzheimer disease be prevented by amyloid-beta immunotherapy? *Nat Rev Neurol, 6*(2), 108-119.
- Lemere, C. A. (2013). Immunotherapy for Alzheimer's disease: hoops and hurdles. Mol Neurodegener, 8, 36.
- Li, H. R., Chen, T. C., Hsiao, C. L., Shi, L., Chou, C. Y., & Huang, J. R. (2018). The physical forces mediating self-association and phase-separation in the C-terminal domain of TDP-43. *Biochim Biophys Acta Proteins Proteom*, *1866*(2), 214-223.
- Li, H. R., Chiang, W. C., Chou, P. C., Wang, W. J., & Huang, J. R. (2018). TAR DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP-43) liquid-liquid phase separation is mediated by just a few aromatic residues. *J Biol Chem, 293*(16), 6090-6098.
- Li, H. Y., Yeh, P. A., Chiu, H. C., Tang, C. Y., & Tu, B. P. (2011). Hyperphosphorylation as a defense mechanism to reduce TDP-43 aggregation. *PLoS One, 6*(8), e23075.
- Li, P., Banjade, S., Cheng, H. C., Kim, S., Chen, B., Guo, L., Llaguno, M., Hollingsworth, J. V., King, D. S., Banani, S. F., Russo, P. S., Jiang, Q. X., Nixon, B. T., & Rosen, M. K. (2012). Phase transitions in the assembly of multivalent signalling proteins. *Nature*, 483(7389), 336-340.
- Li, Q., Yokoshi, M., Okada, H., & Kawahara, Y. (2015). The cleavage pattern of TDP-43 determines its rate of clearance and cytotoxicity. *Nat Commun, 6*, 6183.
- Li, Q., Babinchak, W. M., & Surewicz, W. K. (2021). Cryo-EM structure of amyloid fibrils formed by the entire low complexity domain of TDP-43. *Nat Commun, 12*(1), 1620.
- Li, W., Jin, Y., Prazak, L., Hammell, M., & Dubnau, J. (2012). Transposable elements in TDP-43-mediated neurodegenerative disorders. *PLoS One*, 7(9), e44099.

- Li, Y. R., King, O. D., Shorter, J., & Gitler, A. D. (2013). Stress granules as crucibles of ALS pathogenesis. J Cell Biol, 201(3), 361-372.
- Liachko, N. F., Guthrie, C. R., & Kraemer, B. C. (2010). Phosphorylation promotes neurotoxicity in a Caenorhabditis elegans model of TDP-43 proteinopathy. *J Neurosci, 30*(48), 16208-16219.
- Liachko, N. F., McMillan, P. J., Guthrie, C. R., Bird, T. D., Leverenz, J. B., & Kraemer, B. C. (2013). CDC7 inhibition blocks pathological TDP-43 phosphorylation and neurodegeneration. *Ann Neurol*, 74(1), 39-52.
- Liachko, N. F., McMillan, P. J., Strovas, T. J., Loomis, E., Greenup, L., Murrell, J. R., Ghetti, B., Raskind, M. A., Montine, T. J., Bird, T. D., Leverenz, J. B., & Kraemer, B. C. (2014). The tau tubulin kinases TTBK1/2 promote accumulation of pathological TDP-43. *PLoS Genet, 10*(12), e1004803.
- Liachko, N. F., Saxton, A. D., McMillan, P. J., Strovas, T. J., Currey, H. N., Taylor, L. M., Wheeler, J. M., Oblak, A. L., Ghetti, B., Montine, T. J., Keene, C. D., Raskind, M. A., Bird, T. D., & Kraemer, B. C. (2016). The phosphatase calcineurin regulates pathological TDP-43 phosphorylation. *Acta Neuropathol*, 132(4), 545-561.
- Liberek, K., Marszalek, J., Ang, D., Georgopoulos, C., & Zylicz, M. (1991). Escherichia coli DnaJ and GrpE heat shock proteins jointly stimulate ATPase activity of DnaK. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 88*(7), 2874-2878.
- Lim, L., Wei, Y., Lu, Y., & Song, J. (2016). ALS-Causing Mutations Significantly Perturb the Self-Assembly and Interaction with Nucleic Acid of the Intrinsically Disordered Prion-Like Domain of TDP-43. *PLoS Biol, 14*(1), e1002338.
- Lin, W. L., & Dickson, D. W. (2008). Ultrastructural localization of TDP-43 in filamentous neuronal inclusions in various neurodegenerative diseases. *Acta Neuropathol, 116*(2), 205-213.
- Lin, Y., Protter, D. S., Rosen, M. K., & Parker, R. (2015). Formation and Maturation of Phase-Separated Liquid Droplets by RNA-Binding Proteins. *Mol Cell, 60*(2), 208-219.
- Lin, Y., Zhou, X., Kato, M., Liu, D., Ghaemmaghami, S., Tu, B. P., & McKnight, S. L. (2020). Redox-mediated regulation of an evolutionarily conserved cross-β structure formed by the TDP43 low complexity domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 117*(46), 28727-28734.
- Ling, J. P., Pletnikova, O., Troncoso, J. C., & Wong, P. C. (2015). TDP-43 repression of nonconserved cryptic exons is compromised in ALS-FTD. *Science*, *349*(6248), 650-655.
- Ling, S. C., Polymenidou, M., & Cleveland, D. W. (2013). Converging mechanisms in ALS and FTD: disrupted RNA and protein homeostasis. *Neuron*, *79*(3), 416-438.
- Liu-Yesucevitz, L., Bilgutay, A., Zhang, Y. J., Vanderweyde, T., Citro, A., Mehta, T., Zaarur, N., McKee, A., Bowser, R., Sherman, M., Petrucelli, L., & Wolozin, B. (2010). Tar DNA binding protein-43 (TDP-43) associates with stress granules: analysis of cultured cells and pathological brain tissue. *PLoS One*, *5*(10), e13250.
- Liu-Yesucevitz, L., Lin, A. Y., Ebata, A., Boon, J. Y., Reid, W., Xu, Y. F., Kobrin, K., Murphy, G. J., Petrucelli, L., & Wolozin, B. (2014). ALS-linked mutations enlarge TDP-43-enriched neuronal RNA granules in the dendritic arbor. *J Neurosci, 34*(12), 4167-4174.
- Liu, E. Y., Russ, J., Cali, C. P., Phan, J. M., Amlie-Wolf, A., & Lee, E. B. (2019). Loss of Nuclear TDP-43 Is Associated with Decondensation of LINE Retrotransposons. *Cell Rep*, 27(5), 1409-1421.e1406.
- Liu, G., Coyne, A. N., Pei, F., Vaughan, S., Chaung, M., Zarnescu, D. C., & Buchan, J. R. (2017). Endocytosis regulates TDP-43 toxicity and turnover. *Nat Commun, 8*(1), 2092.
- Liu, G. C., Chen, B. P., Ye, N. T., Wang, C. H., Chen, W., Lee, H. M., Chan, S. I., & Huang, J. J. (2013). Delineating the membrane-disrupting and seeding properties of the TDP-43 amyloidogenic core. *Chem Commun (Camb), 49*(95), 11212-11214.
- Liu, R., Yang, G., Nonaka, T., Arai, T., Jia, W., & Cynader, M. S. (2013). Reducing TDP-43 aggregation does not prevent its cytotoxicity. *Acta Neuropathol Commun*, *1*, 49.
- Liu, W., Wang, Z., Liu, L., Yang, Z., Liu, S., Ma, Z., Liu, Y., Ma, Y., Zhang, L., Zhang, X., Jiang, M., & Cao, X. (2020). LncRNA Malat1 inhibition of TDP43 cleavage suppresses IRF3-initiated antiviral innate immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *117*(38), 23695-23706.

- Liu, W. J., Ye, L., Huang, W. F., Guo, L. J., Xu, Z. G., Wu, H. L., Yang, C., & Liu, H. F. (2016). p62 links the autophagy pathway and the ubiqutin-proteasome system upon ubiquitinated protein degradation. *Cell Mol Biol Lett, 21*, 29.
- Liu, Y., Duan, W., Guo, Y., Li, Z., Han, H., Zhang, S., Yuan, P., & Li, C. (2014). A new cellular model of pathological TDP-43: The neurotoxicity of stably expressed CTF25 of TDP-43 depends on the proteasome. *Neuroscience, 281*, 88-98.
- Lomen-Hoerth, C., Anderson, T., & Miller, B. (2002). The overlap of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia. *Neurology*, *59*(7), 1077-1079.
- López-Erauskin, J., Bravo-Hernandez, M., Presa, M., Baughn, M. W., Melamed, Z., Beccari, M. S., Agra de Almeida Quadros, A. R., Arnold-Garcia, O., Zuberi, A., Ling, K., Platoshyn, O., Niño-Jara, E., Ndayambaje, I. S., McAlonis-Downes, M., Cabrera, L., Artates, J. W., Ryan, J., Hermann, A., Ravits, J., Bennett, C. F., Jafar-Nejad, P., Rigo, F., Marsala, M., Lutz, C. M., Cleveland, D. W., & Lagier-Tourenne, C. (2023). Stathmin-2 loss leads to neurofilament-dependent axonal collapse driving motor and sensory denervation. *Nat Neurosci*, Online ahead of print; doi: 10.1038/s41593-41023-01496-41590.
- Lu, R. M., Hwang, Y. C., Liu, I. J., Lee, C. C., Tsai, H. Z., Li, H. J., & Wu, H. C. (2020). Development of therapeutic antibodies for the treatment of diseases. *J Biomed Sci*, *27*(1), 1.
- Lu, S., Hu, J., Arogundade, O. A., Goginashvili, A., Vazquez-Sanchez, S., Diedrich, J. K., Gu, J., Blum, J., Oung, S., Ye, Q., Yu, H., Ravits, J., Liu, C., Yates, J. R., 3rd, & Cleveland, D. W. (2022). Heat-shock chaperone HSPB1 regulates cytoplasmic TDP-43 phase separation and liquid-to-gel transition. *Nat Cell Biol*, 24(9), 1378-1393.
- Lukavsky, P. J., Daujotyte, D., Tollervey, J. R., Ule, J., Stuani, C., Buratti, E., Baralle, F. E., Damberger, F. F., & Allain, F. H. (2013). Molecular basis of UG-rich RNA recognition by the human splicing factor TDP-43. *Nat Struct Mol Biol, 20*(12), 1443-1449.
- Lunetta, C., Moglia, C., Lizio, A., Caponnetto, C., Dubbioso, R., Giannini, F., Matà, S., Mazzini, L., Sabatelli, M., Siciliano, G., Simone, I. L., Sorarù, G., Toriello, A., Trojsi, F., Vedovello, M., D'Ovidio, F., Filippi, M., & Calvo, A. (2020). The Italian multicenter experience with edaravone in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol*, *267*(11), 3258-3267.
- Ma, X., Lu, C., Chen, Y., Li, S., Ma, N., Tao, X., Li, Y., Wang, J., Zhou, M., Yan, Y. B., Li, P., Heydari, K., Deng, H., Zhang, M., Yi, C., & Ge, L. (2022). CCT2 is an aggrephagy receptor for clearance of solid protein aggregates. *Cell*, 185(8), 1325-1345.e1322.
- Ma, X. R., Prudencio, M., Koike, Y., Vatsavayai, S. C., Kim, G., Harbinski, F., Briner, A., Rodriguez, C. M., Guo, C., Akiyama, T., Schmidt, H. B., Cummings, B. B., Wyatt, D. W., Kurylo, K., Miller, G., Mekhoubad, S., Sallee, N., Mekonnen, G., Ganser, L., Rubien, J. D., Jansen-West, K., Cook, C. N., Pickles, S., Oskarsson, B., Graff-Radford, N. R., Boeve, B. F., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Dickson, D. W., Shorter, J., Myong, S., Green, E. M., Seeley, W. W., Petrucelli, L., & Gitler, A. D. (2022). TDP-43 represses cryptic exon inclusion in the FTD-ALS gene UNC13A. *Nature, 603*(7899), 124-130.
- Mackenzie, I. R., Baker, M., Pickering-Brown, S., Hsiung, G. Y., Lindholm, C., Dwosh, E., Gass, J., Cannon, A., Rademakers, R., Hutton, M., & Feldman, H. H. (2006). The neuropathology of frontotemporal lobar degeneration caused by mutations in the progranulin gene. *Brain*, *129*(Pt 11), 3081-3090.
- Mackenzie, I. R., Bigio, E. H., Ince, P. G., Geser, F., Neumann, M., Cairns, N. J., Kwong, L. K., Forman, M. S., Ravits, J., Stewart, H., Eisen, A., McClusky, L., Kretzschmar, H. A., Monoranu, C. M., Highley, J. R., Kirby, J., Siddique, T., Shaw, P. J., Lee, V. M., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2007). Pathological TDP-43 distinguishes sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with SOD1 mutations. *Ann Neurol, 61*(5), 427-434.
- Mackenzie, I. R., Rademakers, R., & Neumann, M. (2010). TDP-43 and FUS in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia. *Lancet Neurol*, *9*(10), 995-1007.
- Mackenzie, I. R., Arzberger, T., Kremmer, E., Troost, D., Lorenzl, S., Mori, K., Weng, S. M., Haass, C., Kretzschmar, H. A., Edbauer, D., & Neumann, M. (2013). Dipeptide repeat protein pathology in C9ORF72 mutation cases: clinico-pathological correlations. *Acta Neuropathol, 126*(6), 859-879.
- Mackenzie, I. R., & Neumann, M. (2016). Molecular neuropathology of frontotemporal dementia: insights into disease mechanisms from postmortem studies. *J Neurochem, 138 Suppl 1*, 54-70.

- Mackenzie, I. R., & Neumann, M. (2017). Reappraisal of TDP-43 pathology in FTLD-U subtypes. Acta Neuropathol, 134(1), 79-96.
- Mackenzie, I. R., Nicholson, A. M., Sarkar, M., Messing, J., Purice, M. D., Pottier, C., Annu, K., Baker, M., Perkerson, R. B., Kurti, A., Matchett, B. J., Mittag, T., Temirov, J., Hsiung, G. R., Krieger, C., Murray, M. E., Kato, M., Fryer, J. D., Petrucelli, L., Zinman, L., Weintraub, S., Mesulam, M., Keith, J., Zivkovic, S. A., Hirsch-Reinshagen, V., Roos, R. P., Züchner, S., Graff-Radford, N. R., Petersen, R. C., Caselli, R. J., Wszolek, Z. K., Finger, E., Lippa, C., Lacomis, D., Stewart, H., Dickson, D. W., Kim, H. J., Rogaeva, E., Bigio, E., Boylan, K. B., Taylor, J. P., & Rademakers, R. (2017). TIA1 Mutations in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Frontotemporal Dementia Promote Phase Separation and Alter Stress Granule Dynamics. *Neuron, 95*(4), 808-816.e809.
- Maharana, S., Wang, J., Papadopoulos, D. K., Richter, D., Pozniakovsky, A., Poser, I., Bickle, M., Rizk, S., Guillén-Boixet, J., Franzmann, T. M., Jahnel, M., Marrone, L., Chang, Y. T., Sterneckert, J., Tomancak, P., Hyman, A. A., & Alberti, S. (2018). RNA buffers the phase separation behavior of prion-like RNA binding proteins. *Science, 360*(6391), 918-921.
- Majounie, E., Renton, A. E., Mok, K., Dopper, E. G., Waite, A., Rollinson, S., Chiò, A., Restagno, G., Nicolaou, N., Simon-Sanchez, J., van Swieten, J. C., Abramzon, Y., Johnson, J. O., Sendtner, M., Pamphlett, R., Orrell, R. W., Mead, S., Sidle, K. C., Houlden, H., Rohrer, J. D., Morrison, K. E., Pall, H., Talbot, K., Ansorge, O., Hernandez, D. G., Arepalli, S., Sabatelli, M., Mora, G., Corbo, M., Giannini, F., Calvo, A., Englund, E., Borghero, G., Floris, G. L., Remes, A. M., Laaksovirta, H., McCluskey, L., Trojanowski, J. Q., Van Deerlin, V. M., Schellenberg, G. D., Nalls, M. A., Drory, V. E., Lu, C. S., Yeh, T. H., Ishiura, H., Takahashi, Y., Tsuji, S., Le Ber, I., Brice, A., Drepper, C., Williams, N., Kirby, J., Shaw, P., Hardy, J., Tienari, P. J., Heutink, P., Morris, H. R., Pickering-Brown, S., & Traynor, B. J. (2012). Frequency of the C9orf72 hexanucleotide repeat expansion in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia: a cross-sectional study. *Lancet Neurol*, *11*(4), 323-330.
- Majumder, P., Chu, J. F., Chatterjee, B., Swamy, K. B., & Shen, C. J. (2016). Co-regulation of mRNA translation by TDP-43 and Fragile X Syndrome protein FMRP. *Acta Neuropathol, 132*(5), 721-738.
- Malgouris, C., Bardot, F., Daniel, M., Pellis, F., Rataud, J., Uzan, A., Blanchard, J. C., & Laduron, P. M. (1989). Riluzole, a novel antiglutamate, prevents memory loss and hippocampal neuronal damage in ischemic gerbils. *J Neurosci*, 9(11), 3720-3727.
- Mallery, D. L., McEwan, W. A., Bidgood, S. R., Towers, G. J., Johnson, C. M., & James, L. C. (2010). Antibodies mediate intracellular immunity through tripartite motif-containing 21 (TRIM21). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *107*(46), 19985-19990.
- Mann, J. R., Gleixner, A. M., Mauna, J. C., Gomes, E., DeChellis-Marks, M. R., Needham, P. G., Copley, K. E., Hurtle, B., Portz, B., Pyles, N. J., Guo, L., Calder, C. B., Wills, Z. P., Pandey, U. B., Kofler, J. K., Brodsky, J. L., Thathiah, A., Shorter, J., & Donnelly, C. J. (2019). RNA Binding Antagonizes Neurotoxic Phase Transitions of TDP-43. *Neuron*, *102*(2), 321-338.e328.
- Martínez-González, L., Rodríguez-Cueto, C., Cabezudo, D., Bartolomé, F., Andrés-Benito, P., Ferrer, I., Gil, C., Martín-Requero, Á., Fernández-Ruiz, J., Martínez, A., & de Lago, E. (2020). Motor neuron preservation and decrease of in vivo TDP-43 phosphorylation by protein CK-1δ kinase inhibitor treatment. *Sci Rep*, *10*(1), 4449.
- Maruyama, H., Morino, H., Ito, H., Izumi, Y., Kato, H., Watanabe, Y., Kinoshita, Y., Kamada, M., Nodera, H., Suzuki, H., Komure, O., Matsuura, S., Kobatake, K., Morimoto, N., Abe, K., Suzuki, N., Aoki, M., Kawata, A., Hirai, T., Kato, T., Ogasawara, K., Hirano, A., Takumi, T., Kusaka, H., Hagiwara, K., Kaji, R., & Kawakami, H. (2010). Mutations of optineurin in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature*, 465(7295), 223-226.
- Mason, M. R., Lieberman, A. R., Grenningloh, G., & Anderson, P. N. (2002). Transcriptional upregulation of SCG10 and CAP-23 is correlated with regeneration of the axons of peripheral and central neurons in vivo. *Mol Cell Neurosci, 20*(4), 595-615.
- Masters, C. L., Simms, G., Weinman, N. A., Multhaup, G., McDonald, B. L., & Beyreuther, K. (1985). Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 82(12), 4245-4249.
- Mathieu, C., Pappu, R. V., & Taylor, J. P. (2020). Beyond aggregation: Pathological phase transitions in neurodegenerative disease. *Science*, *370*(6512), 56-60.

- Matsukawa, K., Kukharsky, M. S., Park, S. K., Park, S., Watanabe, N., Iwatsubo, T., Hashimoto, T., Liebman, S. W., & Shelkovnikova, T. A. (2021). Long non-coding RNA NEAT1\_1 ameliorates TDP-43 toxicity in in vivo models of TDP-43 proteinopathy. *RNA Biol, 18*(11), 1546-1554.
- McDonald, K. K., Aulas, A., Destroismaisons, L., Pickles, S., Beleac, E., Camu, W., Rouleau, G. A., & Vande Velde, C. (2011). TAR DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP-43) regulates stress granule dynamics via differential regulation of G3BP and TIA-1. *Hum Mol Genet*, *20*(7), 1400-1410.
- McEwan, W. A., Falcon, B., Vaysburd, M., Clift, D., Oblak, A. L., Ghetti, B., Goedert, M., & James, L. C. (2017). Cytosolic Fc receptor TRIM21 inhibits seeded tau aggregation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 114*(3), 574-579.
- McGurk, L., Lee, V. M., Trojanowksi, J. Q., Van Deerlin, V. M., Lee, E. B., & Bonini, N. M. (2014). Poly-A binding protein-1 localization to a subset of TDP-43 inclusions in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis occurs more frequently in patients harboring an expansion in C9orf72. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 73(9), 837-845.
- McGurk, L., Gomes, E., Guo, L., Mojsilovic-Petrovic, J., Tran, V., Kalb, R. G., Shorter, J., & Bonini, N. M. (2018). Poly(ADP-Ribose) Prevents Pathological Phase Separation of TDP-43 by Promoting Liquid Demixing and Stress Granule Localization. *Mol Cell*, *71*(5), 703-717.e709.
- Mehta, P. R., Brown, A. L., Ward, M. E., & Fratta, P. (2023). The era of cryptic exons: implications for ALS-FTD. *Mol Neurodegener*, *18*(1), 16.
- Melamed, Z., López-Erauskin, J., Baughn, M. W., Zhang, O., Drenner, K., Sun, Y., Freyermuth, F., McMahon, M. A., Beccari, M. S., Artates, J. W., Ohkubo, T., Rodriguez, M., Lin, N., Wu, D., Bennett, C. F., Rigo, F., Da Cruz, S., Ravits, J., Lagier-Tourenne, C., & Cleveland, D. W. (2019). Premature polyadenylation-mediated loss of stathmin-2 is a hallmark of TDP-43-dependent neurodegeneration. *Nat Neurosci, 22*(2), 180-190.
- Mendez, M. F., Shapira, J. S., McMurtray, A., & Licht, E. (2007). Preliminary findings: behavioral worsening on donepezil in patients with frontotemporal dementia. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*, *15*(1), 84-87.
- Mesulam, M., Wicklund, A., Johnson, N., Rogalski, E., Léger, G. C., Rademaker, A., Weintraub, S., & Bigio, E. H. (2008). Alzheimer and frontotemporal pathology in subsets of primary progressive aphasia. *Ann Neurol*, 63(6), 709-719.
- Miller, R. G., Mitchell, J. D., & Moore, D. H. (2012). Riluzole for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)/motor neuron disease (MND). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2012*(3), Cd001447.
- Miller, T. M., Cudkowicz, M. E., Genge, A., Shaw, P. J., Sobue, G., Bucelli, R. C., Chiò, A., Van Damme, P., Ludolph, A. C., Glass, J. D., Andrews, J. A., Babu, S., Benatar, M., McDermott, C. J., Cochrane, T., Chary, S., Chew, S., Zhu, H., Wu, F., Nestorov, I., Graham, D., Sun, P., McNeill, M., Fanning, L., Ferguson, T. A., & Fradette, S. (2022). Trial of Antisense Oligonucleotide Tofersen for SOD1 ALS. N Engl J Med, 387(12), 1099-1110.
- Miura, M., Sakaue, F., Matsuno, H., Morita, K., Yoshida, A., Hara, R. I., Nishimura, R., Nishida, Y., Yokogawa, M., Osawa, M., & Yokota, T. (2023). TDP-43 N-terminal domain dimerisation or spatial separation by RNA binding decreases its propensity to aggregate. *FEBS Lett*, 597(12), 1667-1676.
- Mizielinska, S., Lashley, T., Norona, F. E., Clayton, E. L., Ridler, C. E., Fratta, P., & Isaacs, A. M. (2013). C9orf72 frontotemporal lobar degeneration is characterised by frequent neuronal sense and antisense RNA foci. Acta Neuropathol, 126(6), 845-857.
- Mohanty, P., Shenoy, J., Rizuan, A., Mercado-Ortiz, J. F., Fawzi, N. L., & Mittal, J. (2023). A synergy between site-specific and transient interactions drives the phase separation of a disordered, low-complexity domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 120(34), e2305625120.
- Molliex, A., Temirov, J., Lee, J., Coughlin, M., Kanagaraj, A. P., Kim, H. J., Mittag, T., & Taylor, J. P. (2015). Phase separation by low complexity domains promotes stress granule assembly and drives pathological fibrillization. *Cell*, *163*(1), 123-133.
- Mompean, M., Baralle, M., Buratti, E., & Laurents, D. V. (2016). An Amyloid-Like Pathological Conformation of TDP-43 Is Stabilized by Hypercooperative Hydrogen Bonds. *Front Mol Neurosci, 9*, 125.
- Mompeán, M., Buratti, E., Guarnaccia, C., Brito, R. M., Chakrabartty, A., Baralle, F. E., & Laurents, D. V. (2014). "Structural characterization of the minimal segment of TDP-43 competent for aggregation". *Arch Biochem Biophys*, *545*, 53-62.

- Mompeán, M., Hervás, R., Xu, Y., Tran, T. H., Guarnaccia, C., Buratti, E., Baralle, F., Tong, L., Carrión-Vázquez, M., McDermott, A. E., & Laurents, D. V. (2015). Structural Evidence of Amyloid Fibril Formation in the Putative Aggregation Domain of TDP-43. *J Phys Chem Lett*, 6(13), 2608-2615.
- Mompeán, M., Romano, V., Pantoja-Uceda, D., Stuani, C., Baralle, F. E., Buratti, E., & Laurents, D. V. (2017). Point mutations in the N-terminal domain of transactive response DNA-binding protein 43 kDa (TDP-43) compromise its stability, dimerization, and functions. *J Biol Chem*, 292(28), 11992-12006.
- Moretti, R., Torre, P., Antonello, R. M., Cazzato, G., Griggio, S., & Bava, A. (2003). Olanzapine as a treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias: a 24-month follow-up of 68 patients. *Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen, 18*(4), 205-214.
- Mori, F., Tanji, K., Zhang, H. X., Nishihira, Y., Tan, C. F., Takahashi, H., & Wakabayashi, K. (2008). Maturation process of TDP-43-positive neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with and without dementia. Acta Neuropathol, 116(2), 193-203.
- Mori, K., Arzberger, T., Grässer, F. A., Gijselinck, I., May, S., Rentzsch, K., Weng, S. M., Schludi, M. H., van der Zee, J., Cruts, M., Van Broeckhoven, C., Kremmer, E., Kretzschmar, H. A., Haass, C., & Edbauer, D. (2013). Bidirectional transcripts of the expanded C9orf72 hexanucleotide repeat are translated into aggregating dipeptide repeat proteins. *Acta Neuropathol, 126*(6), 881-893.
- Mori, K., Weng, S. M., Arzberger, T., May, S., Rentzsch, K., Kremmer, E., Schmid, B., Kretzschmar, H. A., Cruts, M., Van Broeckhoven, C., Haass, C., & Edbauer, D. (2013). The C9orf72 GGGGCC repeat is translated into aggregating dipeptide-repeat proteins in FTLD/ALS. *Science*, 339(6125), 1335-1338.
- Morimoto, D., Walinda, E., Fukada, H., Sou, Y. S., Kageyama, S., Hoshino, M., Fujii, T., Tsuchiya, H., Saeki, Y., Arita, K., Ariyoshi, M., Tochio, H., Iwai, K., Namba, K., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., & Shirakawa, M. (2015). The unexpected role of polyubiquitin chains in the formation of fibrillar aggregates. *Nat Commun, 6*, 6116.
- Mortada, I., Farah, R., Nabha, S., Ojcius, D. M., Fares, Y., Almawi, W. Y., & Sadier, N. S. (2021). Immunotherapies for Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Front Neurol*, *12*, 654739.
- Mukadam, A. S., Miller, L. V. C., Smith, A. E., Vaysburd, M., Sakya, S. A., Sanford, S., Keeling, S., Tuck, B. J., Katsinelos, T., Green, C., Skov, L., Kaalund, S. S., Foss, S., Mayes, K., O'Connell, K., Wing, M., Knox, C., Banbury, J., Avezov, E., Rowe, J. B., Goedert, M., Andersen, J. T., James, L. C., & McEwan, W. A. (2023). Cytosolic antibody receptor TRIM21 is required for effective tau immunotherapy in mouse models. *Science*, *379*(6639), 1336-1341.
- Murakami, T., Qamar, S., Lin, J. Q., Schierle, G. S., Rees, E., Miyashita, A., Costa, A. R., Dodd, R. B., Chan, F. T., Michel, C. H., Kronenberg-Versteeg, D., Li, Y., Yang, S. P., Wakutani, Y., Meadows, W., Ferry, R. R., Dong, L., Tartaglia, G. G., Favrin, G., Lin, W. L., Dickson, D. W., Zhen, M., Ron, D., Schmitt-Ulms, G., Fraser, P. E., Shneider, N. A., Holt, C., Vendruscolo, M., Kaminski, C. F., & St George-Hyslop, P. (2015). ALS/FTD Mutation-Induced Phase Transition of FUS Liquid Droplets and Reversible Hydrogels into Irreversible Hydrogels Impairs RNP Granule Function. *Neuron, 88*(4), 678-690.
- Murley, A. G., & Rowe, J. B. (2018). Neurotransmitter deficits from frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Brain, 141*(5), 1263-1285.
- Murrow, L., & Debnath, J. (2013). Autophagy as a stress-response and quality-control mechanism: implications for cell injury and human disease. *Annu Rev Pathol, 8*, 105-137.
- Nagano, S., Jinno, J., Abdelhamid, R. F., Jin, Y., Shibata, M., Watanabe, S., Hirokawa, S., Nishizawa, M., Sakimura, K., Onodera, O., Okada, H., Okada, T., Saito, Y., Takahashi-Fujigasaki, J., Murayama, S., Wakatsuki, S., Mochizuki, H., & Araki, T. (2020). TDP-43 transports ribosomal protein mRNA to regulate axonal local translation in neuronal axons. *Acta Neuropathol, 140*(5), 695-713.
- Nakashima-Yasuda, H., Uryu, K., Robinson, J., Xie, S. X., Hurtig, H., Duda, J. E., Arnold, S. E., Siderowf, A., Grossman, M., Leverenz, J. B., Woltjer, R., Lopez, O. L., Hamilton, R., Tsuang, D. W., Galasko, D., Masliah, E., Kaye, J., Clark, C. M., Montine, T. J., Lee, V. M., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2007). Comorbidity of TDP-43 proteinopathy in Lewy body related diseases. *Acta Neuropathol, 114*(3), 221-229.
- Nedelsky, N. B., & Taylor, J. P. (2019). Bridging biophysics and neurology: aberrant phase transitions in neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Rev Neurol*, *15*(5), 272-286.
- Nelson, P. T., Dickson, D. W., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jack, C. R., Boyle, P. A., Arfanakis, K., Rademakers, R., Alafuzoff, I., Attems, J., Brayne, C., Coyle-Gilchrist, I. T. S., Chui, H. C., Fardo, D. W., Flanagan, M.

E., Halliday, G., Hokkanen, S. R. K., Hunter, S., Jicha, G. A., Katsumata, Y., Kawas, C. H., Keene, C. D., Kovacs, G. G., Kukull, W. A., Levey, A. I., Makkinejad, N., Montine, T. J., Murayama, S., Murray, M. E., Nag, S., Rissman, R. A., Seeley, W. W., Sperling, R. A., White, C. L., 3rd, Yu, L., & Schneider, J. A. (2019). Limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy (LATE): consensus working group report. *Brain, 142*(6), 1503-1527.

- Neumann, M., Sampathu, D. M., Kwong, L. K., Truax, A. C., Micsenyi, M. C., Chou, T. T., Bruce, J., Schuck, T., Grossman, M., Clark, C. M., McCluskey, L. F., Miller, B. L., Masliah, E., Mackenzie, I. R., Feldman, H., Feiden, W., Kretzschmar, H. A., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2006). Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science*, 314(5796), 130-133.
- Neumann, M., Kwong, L. K., Truax, A. C., Vanmassenhove, B., Kretzschmar, H. A., Van Deerlin, V. M., Clark, C. M., Grossman, M., Miller, B. L., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2007). TDP-43-positive white matter pathology in frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitin-positive inclusions. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 66(3), 177-183.
- Neumann, M., Mackenzie, I. R., Cairns, N. J., Boyer, P. J., Markesbery, W. R., Smith, C. D., Taylor, J. P., Kretzschmar, H. A., Kimonis, V. E., & Forman, M. S. (2007). TDP-43 in the ubiquitin pathology of frontotemporal dementia with VCP gene mutations. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 66(2), 152-157.
- Neumann, M., Kwong, L. K., Lee, E. B., Kremmer, E., Flatley, A., Xu, Y., Forman, M. S., Troost, D., Kretzschmar, H. A., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2009). Phosphorylation of S409/410 of TDP-43 is a consistent feature in all sporadic and familial forms of TDP-43 proteinopathies. *Acta Neuropathol*, 117(2), 137-149.
- Neumann, M., Rademakers, R., Roeber, S., Baker, M., Kretzschmar, H. A., & Mackenzie, I. R. (2009). A new subtype of frontotemporal lobar degeneration with FUS pathology. *Brain, 132*(Pt 11), 2922-2931.
- Neumann, M., Bentmann, E., Dormann, D., Jawaid, A., DeJesus-Hernandez, M., Ansorge, O., Roeber, S., Kretzschmar, H. A., Munoz, D. G., Kusaka, H., Yokota, O., Ang, L. C., Bilbao, J., Rademakers, R., Haass, C., & Mackenzie, I. R. (2011). FET proteins TAF15 and EWS are selective markers that distinguish FTLD with FUS pathology from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with FUS mutations. *Brain,* 134(Pt 9), 2595-2609.
- Neumann, M., Frick, P., Paron, F., Kosten, J., Buratti, E., & Mackenzie, I. R. (2020). Antibody against TDP-43 phosphorylated at serine 375 suggests conformational differences of TDP-43 aggregates among FTLD-TDP subtypes. *Acta Neuropathol*, *140*(5), 645-658.
- Neumann, M., Lee, E. B., & Mackenzie, I. R. (2021). Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration TDP-43-Immunoreactive Pathological Subtypes: Clinical and Mechanistic Significance. *Adv Exp Med Biol, 1281*, 201-217.
- Nguyen, H. P., Van Broeckhoven, C., & van der Zee, J. (2018). ALS Genes in the Genomic Era and their Implications for FTD. *Trends Genet, 34*(6), 404-423.
- Nguyen, L., Montrasio, F., Pattamatta, A., Tusi, S. K., Bardhi, O., Meyer, K. D., Hayes, L., Nakamura, K., Banez-Coronel, M., Coyne, A., Guo, S., Laboissonniere, L. A., Gu, Y., Narayanan, S., Smith, B., Nitsch, R. M., Kankel, M. W., Rushe, M., Rothstein, J., Zu, T., Grimm, J., & Ranum, L. P. W. (2020). Antibody Therapy Targeting RAN Proteins Rescues C9 ALS/FTD Phenotypes in C9orf72 Mouse Model. *Neuron*, *105*(4), 645-662.e611.
- Nishihira, Y., Tan, C. F., Hoshi, Y., Iwanaga, K., Yamada, M., Kawachi, I., Tsujihata, M., Hozumi, I., Morita, T., Onodera, O., Nishizawa, M., Kakita, A., & Takahashi, H. (2009). Sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis of long duration is associated with relatively mild TDP-43 pathology. *Acta Neuropathol*, *117*(1), 45-53.
- Nishimoto, Y., Ito, D., Yagi, T., Nihei, Y., Tsunoda, Y., & Suzuki, N. (2010). Characterization of alternative isoforms and inclusion body of the TAR DNA-binding protein-43. *J Biol Chem, 285*(1), 608-619.
- Nishimura, A. L., Zupunski, V., Troakes, C., Kathe, C., Fratta, P., Howell, M., Gallo, J. M., Hortobágyi, T., Shaw, C. E., & Rogelj, B. (2010). Nuclear import impairment causes cytoplasmic trans-activation response DNA-binding protein accumulation and is associated with frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Brain, 133*(Pt 6), 1763-1771.
- Nonaka, T., Kametani, F., Arai, T., Akiyama, H., & Hasegawa, M. (2009). Truncation and pathogenic mutations facilitate the formation of intracellular aggregates of TDP-43. *Hum Mol Genet, 18*(18), 3353-3364.

- Nonaka, T., Masuda-Suzukake, M., Arai, T., Hasegawa, Y., Akatsu, H., Obi, T., Yoshida, M., Murayama, S., Mann, D. M., Akiyama, H., & Hasegawa, M. (2013). Prion-like properties of pathological TDP-43 aggregates from diseased brains. *Cell Rep, 4*(1), 124-134.
- Nonaka, T., Suzuki, G., Tanaka, Y., Kametani, F., Hirai, S., Okado, H., Miyashita, T., Saitoe, M., Akiyama, H., Masai, H., & Hasegawa, M. (2016). Phosphorylation of TAR DNA-binding Protein of 43 kDa (TDP-43) by Truncated Casein Kinase 1δ Triggers Mislocalization and Accumulation of TDP-43. *J Biol Chem*, 291(11), 5473-5483.
- Novak, P., Schmidt, R., Kontsekova, E., Zilka, N., Kovacech, B., Skrabana, R., Vince-Kazmerova, Z., Katina, S., Fialova, L., Prcina, M., Parrak, V., Dal-Bianco, P., Brunner, M., Staffen, W., Rainer, M., Ondrus, M., Ropele, S., Smisek, M., Sivak, R., Winblad, B., & Novak, M. (2017). Safety and immunogenicity of the tau vaccine AADvac1 in patients with Alzheimer's disease: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 1 trial. *Lancet Neurol*, *16*(2), 123-134.
- Novak, P., Kontsekova, E., Zilka, N., & Novak, M. (2018). Ten Years of Tau-Targeted Immunotherapy: The Path Walked and the Roads Ahead. *Front Neurosci, 12*, 798.
- Novak, P., Kovacech, B., Katina, S., Schmidt, R., Scheltens, P., Kontsekova, E., Ropele, S., Fialova, L., Kramberger, M., Paulenka-Ivanovova, N., Smisek, M., Hanes, J., Stevens, E., Kovac, A., Sutovsky, S., Parrak, V., Koson, P., Prcina, M., Galba, J., Cente, M., Hromadka, T., Filipcik, P., Piestansky, J., Samcova, M., Prenn-Gologranc, C., Sivak, R., Froelich, L., Fresser, M., Rakusa, M., Harrison, J., Hort, J., Otto, M., Tosun, D., Ondrus, M., Winblad, B., Novak, M., & Zilka, N. (2021). ADAMANT: a placebo-controlled randomized phase 2 study of AADvac1, an active immunotherapy against pathological tau in Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Aging*, *1*(6), 521-534.
- Oiwa, K., Watanabe, S., Onodera, K., Iguchi, Y., Kinoshita, Y., Komine, O., Sobue, A., Okada, Y., Katsuno, M., & Yamanaka, K. (2023). Monomerization of TDP-43 is a key determinant for inducing TDP-43 pathology in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Sci Adv*, *9*(31), eadf6895.
- Olney, R. K., Murphy, J., Forshew, D., Garwood, E., Miller, B. L., Langmore, S., Kohn, M. A., & Lomen-Hoerth, C. (2005). The effects of executive and behavioral dysfunction on the course of ALS. *Neurology*, 65(11), 1774-1777.
- Olzscha, H., Schermann, S. M., Woerner, A. C., Pinkert, S., Hecht, M. H., Tartaglia, G. G., Vendruscolo, M., Hayer-Hartl, M., Hartl, F. U., & Vabulas, R. M. (2011). Amyloid-like aggregates sequester numerous metastable proteins with essential cellular functions. *Cell*, 144(1), 67-78.
- Orgogozo, J. M., Gilman, S., Dartigues, J. F., Laurent, B., Puel, M., Kirby, L. C., Jouanny, P., Dubois, B., Eisner, L., Flitman, S., Michel, B. F., Boada, M., Frank, A., & Hock, C. (2003). Subacute meningoencephalitis in a subset of patients with AD after Abeta42 immunization. *Neurology*, *61*(1), 46-54.
- Ormeño, F., Hormazabal, J., Moreno, J., Riquelme, F., Rios, J., Criollo, A., Albornoz, A., Alfaro, I. E., & Budini, M. (2020). Chaperone Mediated Autophagy Degrades TDP-43 Protein and Is Affected by TDP-43 Aggregation. *Front Mol Neurosci, 13*, 19.
- Ou, S. H., Wu, F., Harrich, D., García-Martínez, L. F., & Gaynor, R. B. (1995). Cloning and characterization of a novel cellular protein, TDP-43, that binds to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 TAR DNA sequence motifs. *J Virol*, 69(6), 3584-3596.
- Paganoni, S., Macklin, E. A., Hendrix, S., Berry, J. D., Elliott, M. A., Maiser, S., Karam, C., Caress, J. B., Owegi, M. A., Quick, A., Wymer, J., Goutman, S. A., Heitzman, D., Heiman-Patterson, T., Jackson, C. E., Quinn, C., Rothstein, J. D., Kasarskis, E. J., Katz, J., Jenkins, L., Ladha, S., Miller, T. M., Scelsa, S. N., Vu, T. H., Fournier, C. N., Glass, J. D., Johnson, K. M., Swenson, A., Goyal, N. A., Pattee, G. L., Andres, P. L., Babu, S., Chase, M., Dagostino, D., Dickson, S. P., Ellison, N., Hall, M., Hendrix, K., Kittle, G., McGovern, M., Ostrow, J., Pothier, L., Randall, R., Shefner, J. M., Sherman, A. V., Tustison, E., Vigneswaran, P., Walker, J., Yu, H., Chan, J., Wittes, J., Cohen, J., Klee, J., Leslie, K., Tanzi, R. E., Gilbert, W., Yeramian, P. D., Schoenfeld, D., & Cudkowicz, M. E. (2020). Trial of Sodium Phenylbutyrate-Taurursodiol for Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. N Engl J Med, 383(10), 919-930.
- Paganoni, S., Hendrix, S., Dickson, S. P., Knowlton, N., Macklin, E. A., Berry, J. D., Elliott, M. A., Maiser, S., Karam, C., Caress, J. B., Owegi, M. A., Quick, A., Wymer, J., Goutman, S. A., Heitzman, D., Heiman-Patterson, T. D., Jackson, C. E., Quinn, C., Rothstein, J. D., Kasarskis, E. J., Katz, J., Jenkins, L., Ladha, S., Miller, T. M., Scelsa, S. N., Vu, T. H., Fournier, C. N., Glass, J. D., Johnson, K. M., Swenson, A., Goyal, N. A., Pattee, G. L., Andres, P. L., Babu, S., Chase, M., Dagostino, D., Hall, M., Kittle, G., Eydinov, M., McGovern, M., Ostrow, J., Pothier, L., Randall, R., Shefner, J. M., Sherman, A. V., St Pierre, M. E., Tustison, E., Vigneswaran, P., Walker, J., Yu, H., Chan, J., Wittes, J., Yu, Z.

F., Cohen, J., Klee, J., Leslie, K., Tanzi, R. E., Gilbert, W., Yeramian, P. D., Schoenfeld, D., & Cudkowicz, M. E. (2021). Long-term survival of participants in the CENTAUR trial of sodium phenylbutyrate-taurursodiol in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Muscle Nerve*, *63*(1), 31-39.

- Patel, A., Lee, H. O., Jawerth, L., Maharana, S., Jahnel, M., Hein, M. Y., Stoynov, S., Mahamid, J., Saha, S., Franzmann, T. M., Pozniakovski, A., Poser, I., Maghelli, N., Royer, L. A., Weigert, M., Myers, E. W., Grill, S., Drechsel, D., Hyman, A. A., & Alberti, S. (2015). A Liquid-to-Solid Phase Transition of the ALS Protein FUS Accelerated by Disease Mutation. *Cell*, *162*(5), 1066-1077.
- Peng, A. Y. T., Agrawal, I., Ho, W. Y., Yen, Y. C., Pinter, A. J., Liu, J., Phua, Q. X. C., Koh, K. B., Chang, J. C., Sanford, E., Man, J. H. K., Wong, P., Gutmann, D. H., Tucker-Kellogg, G., & Ling, S. C. (2020). Loss of TDP-43 in astrocytes leads to motor deficits by triggering A1-like reactive phenotype and triglial dysfunction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *117*(46), 29101-29112.
- Pepinsky, R. B., Shao, Z., Ji, B., Wang, Q., Meng, G., Walus, L., Lee, X., Hu, Y., Graff, C., Garber, E., Meier, W., & Mi, S. (2011). Exposure levels of anti-LINGO-1 Li81 antibody in the central nervous system and dose-efficacy relationships in rat spinal cord remyelination models after systemic administration. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 339(2), 519-529.
- Pérez-Berlanga, M., Wiersma, V. I., Zbinden, A., De Vos, L., Wagner, U., Foglieni, C., Mallona, I., Betz, K. M., Cléry, A., Weber, J., Guo, Z., Rigort, R., de Rossi, P., Manglunia, R., Tantardini, E., Sahadevan, S., Stach, O., Hruska-Plochan, M., Allain, F. H., Paganetti, P., & Polymenidou, M. (2023). Loss of TDP-43 oligomerization or RNA binding elicits distinct aggregation patterns. *EMBO J*, e111719.
- Phukan, J., Elamin, M., Bede, P., Jordan, N., Gallagher, L., Byrne, S., Lynch, C., Pender, N., & Hardiman, O. (2012). The syndrome of cognitive impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a population-based study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 83(1), 102-108.
- Pickart, C. M., & Eddins, M. J. (2004). Ubiquitin: structures, functions, mechanisms. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1695(1-3), 55-72.
- Pijnenburg, Y. A., Sampson, E. L., Harvey, R. J., Fox, N. C., & Rossor, M. N. (2003). Vulnerability to neuroleptic side effects in frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, *18*(1), 67-72.
- Pinarbasi, E. S., Cağatay, T., Fung, H. Y. J., Li, Y. C., Chook, Y. M., & Thomas, P. J. (2018). Active nuclear import and passive nuclear export are the primary determinants of TDP-43 localization. *Sci Rep, 8*(1), 7083.
- Pollard, A. J., & Bijker, E. M. (2021). A guide to vaccinology: from basic principles to new developments. *Nat Rev Immunol, 21*(2), 83-100.
- Polymenidou, M., Lagier-Tourenne, C., Hutt, K. R., Huelga, S. C., Moran, J., Liang, T. Y., Ling, S. C., Sun, E., Wancewicz, E., Mazur, C., Kordasiewicz, H., Sedaghat, Y., Donohue, J. P., Shiue, L., Bennett, C. F., Yeo, G. W., & Cleveland, D. W. (2011). Long pre-mRNA depletion and RNA missplicing contribute to neuronal vulnerability from loss of TDP-43. *Nat Neurosci, 14*(4), 459-468.
- Poorkaj, P., Bird, T. D., Wijsman, E., Nemens, E., Garruto, R. M., Anderson, L., Andreadis, A., Wiederholt, W. C., Raskind, M., & Schellenberg, G. D. (1998). Tau is a candidate gene for chromosome 17 frontotemporal dementia. *Ann Neurol*, *43*(6), 815-825.
- Porta, S., Xu, Y., Restrepo, C. R., Kwong, L. K., Zhang, B., Brown, H. J., Lee, E. B., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2018). Patient-derived frontotemporal lobar degeneration brain extracts induce formation and spreading of TDP-43 pathology in vivo. *Nat Commun*, 9(1), 4220.
- Pozzi, S., Thammisetty, S. S., Codron, P., Rahimian, R., Plourde, K. V., Soucy, G., Bareil, C., Phaneuf, D., Kriz, J., Gravel, C., & Julien, J. P. (2019). Virus-mediated delivery of antibody targeting TAR DNAbinding protein-43 mitigates associated neuropathology. *J Clin Invest, 129*(4), 1581-1595.
- Pozzi, S., Codron, P., Soucy, G., Renaud, L., Cordeau, P. J., Dutta, K., Bareil, C., & Julien, J. P. (2020). Monoclonal full-length antibody against TAR DNA binding protein 43 reduces related proteinopathy in neurons. *JCI Insight, 5*(21).
- Prudencio, M., Humphrey, J., Pickles, S., Brown, A. L., Hill, S. E., Kachergus, J. M., Shi, J., Heckman, M. G., Spiegel, M. R., Cook, C., Song, Y., Yue, M., Daughrity, L. M., Carlomagno, Y., Jansen-West, K., de Castro, C. F., DeTure, M., Koga, S., Wang, Y. C., Sivakumar, P., Bodo, C., Candalija, A., Talbot, K., Selvaraj, B. T., Burr, K., Chandran, S., Newcombe, J., Lashley, T., Hubbard, I., Catalano, D., Kim, D., Propp, N., Fennessey, S., Fagegaltier, D., Phatnani, H., Secrier, M., Fisher, E. M., Oskarsson, B., van Blitterswijk, M., Rademakers, R., Graff-Radford, N. R., Boeve, B. F., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Josephs, K. A., Thompson, E. A., Raj, T., Ward, M., Dickson, D. W., Gendron, T. F.,

Fratta, P., & Petrucelli, L. (2020). Truncated stathmin-2 is a marker of TDP-43 pathology in frontotemporal dementia. *J Clin Invest, 130*(11), 6080-6092.

Prusiner, S. B. (1982). Novel proteinaceous infectious particles cause scrapie. Science, 216(4542), 136-144.

- Prusiner, S. B. (2013). Biology and genetics of prions causing neurodegeneration. *Annu Rev Genet,* 47, 601-623.
- Rabinovici, G. D., Jagust, W. J., Furst, A. J., Ogar, J. M., Racine, C. A., Mormino, E. C., O'Neil, J. P., Lal, R. A., Dronkers, N. F., Miller, B. L., & Gorno-Tempini, M. L. (2008). Abeta amyloid and glucose metabolism in three variants of primary progressive aphasia. *Ann Neurol, 64*(4), 388-401.
- Rademakers, R., Cruts, M., & van Broeckhoven, C. (2004). The role of tau (MAPT) in frontotemporal dementia and related tauopathies. *Hum Mutat*, *24*(4), 277-295.
- Rademakers, R., Neumann, M., & Mackenzie, I. R. (2012). Advances in understanding the molecular basis of frontotemporal dementia. *Nat Rev Neurol*, *8*(8), 423-434.
- Rascovsky, K., Hodges, J. R., Knopman, D., Mendez, M. F., Kramer, J. H., Neuhaus, J., van Swieten, J. C., Seelaar, H., Dopper, E. G., Onyike, C. U., Hillis, A. E., Josephs, K. A., Boeve, B. F., Kertesz, A., Seeley, W. W., Rankin, K. P., Johnson, J. K., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Rosen, H., Prioleau-Latham, C. E., Lee, A., Kipps, C. M., Lillo, P., Piguet, O., Rohrer, J. D., Rossor, M. N., Warren, J. D., Fox, N. C., Galasko, D., Salmon, D. P., Black, S. E., Mesulam, M., Weintraub, S., Dickerson, B. C., Diehl-Schmid, J., Pasquier, F., Deramecourt, V., Lebert, F., Pijnenburg, Y., Chow, T. W., Manes, F., Grafman, J., Cappa, S. F., Freedman, M., Grossman, M., & Miller, B. L. (2011). Sensitivity of revised diagnostic criteria for the behavioural variant of frontotemporal dementia. *Brain, 134*(Pt 9), 2456-2477.
- Ravits, J., Paul, P., & Jorg, C. (2007). Focality of upper and lower motor neuron degeneration at the clinical onset of ALS. *Neurology*, *68*(19), 1571-1575.
- Ravits, J. M., & La Spada, A. R. (2009). ALS motor phenotype heterogeneity, focality, and spread: deconstructing motor neuron degeneration. *Neurology*, *73*(10), 805-811.
- Reed, D. A., Johnson, N. A., Thompson, C., Weintraub, S., & Mesulam, M. M. (2004). A clinical trial of bromocriptine for treatment of primary progressive aphasia. *Ann Neurol*, *56*(5), 750.
- Rengifo-Gonzalez, J. C., El Hage, K., Clément, M. J., Steiner, E., Joshi, V., Craveur, P., Durand, D., Pastré, D., & Bouhss, A. (2021). The cooperative binding of TDP-43 to GU-rich RNA repeats antagonizes TDP-43 aggregation. *Elife, 10*.
- Renton, A. E., Majounie, E., Waite, A., Simón-Sánchez, J., Rollinson, S., Gibbs, J. R., Schymick, J. C., Laaksovirta, H., van Swieten, J. C., Myllykangas, L., Kalimo, H., Paetau, A., Abramzon, Y., Remes, A. M., Kaganovich, A., Scholz, S. W., Duckworth, J., Ding, J., Harmer, D. W., Hernandez, D. G., Johnson, J. O., Mok, K., Ryten, M., Trabzuni, D., Guerreiro, R. J., Orrell, R. W., Neal, J., Murray, A., Pearson, J., Jansen, I. E., Sondervan, D., Seelaar, H., Blake, D., Young, K., Halliwell, N., Callister, J. B., Toulson, G., Richardson, A., Gerhard, A., Snowden, J., Mann, D., Neary, D., Nalls, M. A., Peuralinna, T., Jansson, L., Isoviita, V. M., Kaivorinne, A. L., Hölttä-Vuori, M., Ikonen, E., Sulkava, R., Benatar, M., Wuu, J., Chiò, A., Restagno, G., Borghero, G., Sabatelli, M., Heckerman, D., Rogaeva, E., Zinman, L., Rothstein, J. D., Sendtner, M., Drepper, C., Eichler, E. E., Alkan, C., Abdullaev, Z., Pack, S. D., Dutra, A., Pak, E., Hardy, J., Singleton, A., Williams, N. M., Heutink, P., Pickering-Brown, S., Morris, H. R., Tienari, P. J., & Traynor, B. J. (2011). A hexanucleotide repeat expansion in C9ORF72 is the cause of chromosome 9p21-linked ALS-FTD. *Neuron*, *72*(2), 257-268.
- Richards, D., Morren, J. A., & Pioro, E. P. (2020). Time to diagnosis and factors affecting diagnostic delay in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, *417*, 117054.
- Roberson, E. D., Hesse, J. H., Rose, K. D., Slama, H., Johnson, J. K., Yaffe, K., Forman, M. S., Miller, C. A., Trojanowski, J. Q., Kramer, J. H., & Miller, B. L. (2005). Frontotemporal dementia progresses to death faster than Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*, *65*(5), 719-725.
- Robinson, J. L., Geser, F., Stieber, A., Umoh, M., Kwong, L. K., Van Deerlin, V. M., Lee, V. M., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2013). TDP-43 skeins show properties of amyloid in a subset of ALS cases. *Acta Neuropathol*, 125(1), 121-131.
- Rohrer, J. D., Guerreiro, R., Vandrovcova, J., Uphill, J., Reiman, D., Beck, J., Isaacs, A. M., Authier, A., Ferrari, R., Fox, N. C., Mackenzie, I. R., Warren, J. D., de Silva, R., Holton, J., Revesz, T., Hardy, J., Mead, S., & Rossor, M. N. (2009). The heritability and genetics of frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Neurology*, *73*(18), 1451-1456.

- Romano, G., Klima, R., & Feiguin, F. (2020). TDP-43 prevents retrotransposon activation in the Drosophila motor system through regulation of Dicer-2 activity. *BMC Biol, 18*(1), 82.
- Romano, M., Buratti, E., Romano, G., Klima, R., Del Bel Belluz, L., Stuani, C., Baralle, F., & Feiguin, F. (2014). Evolutionarily conserved heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein (hnRNP) A/B proteins functionally interact with human and Drosophila TAR DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP-43). J Biol Chem, 289(10), 7121-7130.
- Romano, V., Quadri, Z., Baralle, F. E., & Buratti, E. (2015). The structural integrity of TDP-43 N-terminus is required for efficient aggregate entrapment and consequent loss of protein function. *Prion*, *9*(1), 1-9.
- Rosen, D. R., Siddique, T., Patterson, D., Figlewicz, D. A., Sapp, P., Hentati, A., Donaldson, D., Goto, J., O'Regan, J. P., Deng, H. X., & et al. (1993). Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature*, *362*(6415), 59-62.
- Rothstein, J. D., Baskerville, V., Rapuri, S., Mehlhop, E., Jafar-Nejad, P., Rigo, F., Bennett, F., Mizielinska, S., Isaacs, A., & Coyne, A. N. (2023). G(2)C(4) targeting antisense oligonucleotides potently mitigate TDP-43 dysfunction in human C9orf72 ALS/FTD induced pluripotent stem cell derived neurons. *Acta Neuropathol,* 147(1), 1.
- Rousseau, A., & Bertolotti, A. (2018). Regulation of proteasome assembly and activity in health and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 19*(11), 697-712.
- Rutherford, N. J., Zhang, Y. J., Baker, M., Gass, J. M., Finch, N. A., Xu, Y. F., Stewart, H., Kelley, B. J., Kuntz, K., Crook, R. J., Sreedharan, J., Vance, C., Sorenson, E., Lippa, C., Bigio, E. H., Geschwind, D. H., Knopman, D. S., Mitsumoto, H., Petersen, R. C., Cashman, N. R., Hutton, M., Shaw, C. E., Boylan, K. B., Boeve, B., Graff-Radford, N. R., Wszolek, Z. K., Caselli, R. J., Dickson, D. W., Mackenzie, I. R., Petrucelli, L., & Rademakers, R. (2008). Novel mutations in TARDBP (TDP-43) in patients with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *PLoS Genet, 4*(9), e1000193.
- Ryan, M., Heverin, M., McLaughlin, R. L., & Hardiman, O. (2019). Lifetime Risk and Heritability of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol*, *76*(11), 1367-1374.
- Sabath, N., Levy-Adam, F., Younis, A., Rozales, K., Meller, A., Hadar, S., Soueid-Baumgarten, S., & Shalgi, R. (2020). Cellular proteostasis decline in human senescence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 117(50), 31902-31913.
- Sackmann, C., Sackmann, V., & Hallbeck, M. (2020). TDP-43 Is Efficiently Transferred Between Neuron-Like Cells in a Manner Enhanced by Preservation of Its N-Terminus but Independent of Extracellular Vesicles. *Front Neurosci, 14*, 540.
- Saini, A., & Chauhan, V. S. (2011). Delineation of the core aggregation sequences of TDP-43 C-terminal fragment. *Chembiochem*, *12*(16), 2495-2501.
- Salado, I. G., Redondo, M., Bello, M. L., Perez, C., Liachko, N. F., Kraemer, B. C., Miguel, L., Lecourtois, M., Gil, C., Martinez, A., & Perez, D. I. (2014). Protein kinase CK-1 inhibitors as new potential drugs for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Med Chem*, *57*(6), 2755-2772.
- Santamaria, N., Alhothali, M., Alfonso, M. H., Breydo, L., & Uversky, V. N. (2017). Intrinsic disorder in proteins involved in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, *74*(7), 1297-1318.
- Sasaguri, H., Chew, J., Xu, Y. F., Gendron, T. F., Garrett, A., Lee, C. W., Jansen-West, K., Bauer, P. O., Perkerson, E. A., Tong, J., Stetler, C., & Zhang, Y. J. (2016). The extreme N-terminus of TDP-43 mediates the cytoplasmic aggregation of TDP-43 and associated toxicity in vivo. *Brain Res, 1647*, 57-64.
- Sasaki, S. (2011). Autophagy in spinal cord motor neurons in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 70(5), 349-359.
- Sawaya, M. R., Hughes, M. P., Rodriguez, J. A., Riek, R., & Eisenberg, D. S. (2021). The expanding amyloid family: Structure, stability, function, and pathogenesis. *Cell, 184*(19), 4857-4873.
- Schenk, D., Barbour, R., Dunn, W., Gordon, G., Grajeda, H., Guido, T., Hu, K., Huang, J., Johnson-Wood, K., Khan, K., Kholodenko, D., Lee, M., Liao, Z., Lieberburg, I., Motter, R., Mutter, L., Soriano, F., Shopp, G., Vasquez, N., Vandevert, C., Walker, S., Wogulis, M., Yednock, T., Games, D., & Seubert, P. (1999). Immunization with amyloid-beta attenuates Alzheimer-disease-like pathology in the PDAPP mouse. *Nature*, 400(6740), 173-177.

- Schiffer, D., Cordera, S., Cavalla, P., & Migheli, A. (1996). Reactive astrogliosis of the spinal cord in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci, 139 Suppl,* 27-33.
- Schlachetzki, F., Zhu, C., & Pardridge, W. M. (2002). Expression of the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn) at the blood-brain barrier. *J Neurochem*, *81*(1), 203-206.
- Schlepckow, K., Monroe, K. M., Kleinberger, G., Cantuti-Castelvetri, L., Parhizkar, S., Xia, D., Willem, M., Werner, G., Pettkus, N., Brunner, B., Sülzen, A., Nuscher, B., Hampel, H., Xiang, X., Feederle, R., Tahirovic, S., Park, J. I., Prorok, R., Mahon, C., Liang, C. C., Shi, J., Kim, D. J., Sabelström, H., Huang, F., Di Paolo, G., Simons, M., Lewcock, J. W., & Haass, C. (2020). Enhancing protective microglial activities with a dual function TREM2 antibody to the stalk region. *EMBO Mol Med*, *12*(4), e11227.
- Schmid, B., Hruscha, A., Hogl, S., Banzhaf-Strathmann, J., Strecker, K., van der Zee, J., Teucke, M., Eimer, S., Hegermann, J., Kittelmann, M., Kremmer, E., Cruts, M., Solchenberger, B., Hasenkamp, L., van Bebber, F., Van Broeckhoven, C., Edbauer, D., Lichtenthaler, S. F., & Haass, C. (2013). Loss of ALSassociated TDP-43 in zebrafish causes muscle degeneration, vascular dysfunction, and reduced motor neuron axon outgrowth. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *110*(13), 4986-4991.
- Schmidt, H. B., & Rohatgi, R. (2016). In Vivo Formation of Vacuolated Multi-phase Compartments Lacking Membranes. *Cell Rep, 16*(5), 1228-1236.
- Schmidt, H. B., Barreau, A., & Rohatgi, R. (2019). Phase separation-deficient TDP43 remains functional in splicing. *Nat Commun, 10*(1), 4890.
- Schwab, C., Arai, T., Hasegawa, M., Yu, S., & McGeer, P. L. (2008). Colocalization of transactivationresponsive DNA-binding protein 43 and huntingtin in inclusions of Huntington disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 67(12), 1159-1165.
- Schweighauser, M., Shi, Y., Tarutani, A., Kametani, F., Murzin, A. G., Ghetti, B., Matsubara, T., Tomita, T., Ando, T., Hasegawa, K., Murayama, S., Yoshida, M., Hasegawa, M., Scheres, S. H. W., & Goedert, M. (2020). Structures of α-synuclein filaments from multiple system atrophy. *Nature*, *585*(7825), 464-469.
- Scotter, E. L., Vance, C., Nishimura, A. L., Lee, Y. B., Chen, H. J., Urwin, H., Sardone, V., Mitchell, J. C., Rogelj, B., Rubinsztein, D. C., & Shaw, C. E. (2014). Differential roles of the ubiquitin proteasome system and autophagy in the clearance of soluble and aggregated TDP-43 species. *J Cell Sci, 127*(Pt 6), 1263-1278.
- Sengupta, U., Nilson, A. N., & Kayed, R. (2016). The Role of Amyloid-β Oligomers in Toxicity, Propagation, and Immunotherapy. *EBioMedicine*, *6*, 42-49.
- Sephton, C. F., Good, S. K., Atkin, S., Dewey, C. M., Mayer, P., 3rd, Herz, J., & Yu, G. (2010). TDP-43 is a developmentally regulated protein essential for early embryonic development. *J Biol Chem*, 285(9), 6826-6834.
- Sephton, C. F., Cenik, C., Kucukural, A., Dammer, E. B., Cenik, B., Han, Y., Dewey, C. M., Roth, F. P., Herz, J., Peng, J., Moore, M. J., & Yu, G. (2011). Identification of neuronal RNA targets of TDP-43containing ribonucleoprotein complexes. *J Biol Chem*, 286(2), 1204-1215.
- Sevigny, J., Chiao, P., Bussière, T., Weinreb, P. H., Williams, L., Maier, M., Dunstan, R., Salloway, S., Chen, T., Ling, Y., O'Gorman, J., Qian, F., Arastu, M., Li, M., Chollate, S., Brennan, M. S., Quintero-Monzon, O., Scannevin, R. H., Arnold, H. M., Engber, T., Rhodes, K., Ferrero, J., Hang, Y., Mikulskis, A., Grimm, J., Hock, C., Nitsch, R. M., & Sandrock, A. (2016). The antibody aducanumab reduces Aβ plaques in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*, *537*(7618), 50-56.
- Seyfried, N. T., Gozal, Y. M., Dammer, E. B., Xia, Q., Duong, D. M., Cheng, D., Lah, J. J., Levey, A. I., & Peng, J. (2010). Multiplex SILAC analysis of a cellular TDP-43 proteinopathy model reveals protein inclusions associated with SUMOylation and diverse polyubiquitin chains. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 9(4), 705-718.
- Shang, J., Yamashita, T., Nakano, Y., Morihara, R., Li, X., Feng, T., Liu, X., Huang, Y., Fukui, Y., Hishikawa, N., Ohta, Y., & Abe, K. (2017). Aberrant distributions of nuclear pore complex proteins in ALS mice and ALS patients. *Neuroscience*, 350, 158-168.
- Shenoy, J., El Mammeri, N., Dutour, A., Berbon, M., Saad, A., Lends, A., Morvan, E., Grélard, A., Lecomte, S., Kauffmann, B., Theillet, F. X., Habenstein, B., & Loquet, A. (2020). Structural dissection of amyloid aggregates of TDP-43 and its C-terminal fragments TDP-35 and TDP-16. *Febs j, 287*(12), 2449-2467.

- Shenoy, J., Lends, A., Berbon, M., Bilal, M., El Mammeri, N., Bertoni, M., Saad, A., Morvan, E., Grélard, A., Lecomte, S., Theillet, F. X., Buell, A. K., Kauffmann, B., Habenstein, B., & Loquet, A. (2023). Structural polymorphism of the low-complexity C-terminal domain of TDP-43 amyloid aggregates revealed by solid-state NMR. *Front Mol Biosci, 10*, 1148302.
- Shi, S., Zhu, H., Xia, X., Liang, Z., Ma, X., & Sun, B. (2019). Vaccine adjuvants: Understanding the structure and mechanism of adjuvanticity. *Vaccine*, *37*(24), 3167-3178.
- Shi, Y., Zhang, W., Yang, Y., Murzin, A. G., Falcon, B., Kotecha, A., van Beers, M., Tarutani, A., Kametani, F., Garringer, H. J., Vidal, R., Hallinan, G. I., Lashley, T., Saito, Y., Murayama, S., Yoshida, M., Tanaka, H., Kakita, A., Ikeuchi, T., Robinson, A. C., Mann, D. M. A., Kovacs, G. G., Revesz, T., Ghetti, B., Hasegawa, M., Goedert, M., & Scheres, S. H. W. (2021). Structure-based classification of tauopathies. *Nature*, *598*(7880), 359-363.
- Shibata, N., Hirano, A., Kobayashi, M., Siddique, T., Deng, H. X., Hung, W. Y., Kato, T., & Asayama, K. (1996). Intense superoxide dismutase-1 immunoreactivity in intracytoplasmic hyaline inclusions of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with posterior column involvement. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 55(4), 481-490.
- Shiina, Y., Arima, K., Tabunoki, H., & Satoh, J. (2010). TDP-43 dimerizes in human cells in culture. *Cell Mol Neurobiol*, *30*(4), 641-652.
- Shimonaka, S., Nonaka, T., Suzuki, G., Hisanaga, S., & Hasegawa, M. (2016). Templated Aggregation of TAR DNA-binding Protein of 43 kDa (TDP-43) by Seeding with TDP-43 Peptide Fibrils. *J Biol Chem,* 291(17), 8896-8907.
- Shin, Y., & Brangwynne, C. P. (2017). Liquid phase condensation in cell physiology and disease. *Science*, 357(6357).
- Shodai, A., Ido, A., Fujiwara, N., Ayaki, T., Morimura, T., Oono, M., Uchida, T., Takahashi, R., Ito, H., & Urushitani, M. (2012). Conserved acidic amino acid residues in a second RNA recognition motif regulate assembly and function of TDP-43. *PLoS One*, 7(12), e52776.
- Shodai, A., Morimura, T., Ido, A., Uchida, T., Ayaki, T., Takahashi, R., Kitazawa, S., Suzuki, S., Shirouzu, M., Kigawa, T., Muto, Y., Yokoyama, S., Takahashi, R., Kitahara, R., Ito, H., Fujiwara, N., & Urushitani, M. (2013). Aberrant assembly of RNA recognition motif 1 links to pathogenic conversion of TAR DNAbinding protein of 43 kDa (TDP-43). *J Biol Chem, 288*(21), 14886-14905.
- Shorter, J. (2011). The mammalian disaggregase machinery: Hsp110 synergizes with Hsp70 and Hsp40 to catalyze protein disaggregation and reactivation in a cell-free system. *PLoS One, 6*(10), e26319.
- Shuster, S. O., & Lee, J. C. (2022). Watching liquid droplets of TDP-43(CTD) age by Raman spectroscopy. *J Biol Chem*, 298(2), 101528.
- Sidibé, H., Khalfallah, Y., Xiao, S., Gómez, N. B., Fakim, H., Tank, E. M. H., Di Tomasso, G., Bareke, E., Aulas, A., McKeever, P. M., Melamed, Z., Destroimaisons, L., Deshaies, J. E., Zinman, L., Parker, J. A., Legault, P., Tétreault, M., Barmada, S. J., Robertson, J., & Vande Velde, C. (2021). TDP-43 stabilizes G3BP1 mRNA: relevance to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/frontotemporal dementia. *Brain*, 144(11), 3461-3476.
- Sivasathiaseelan, H., Marshall, C. R., Agustus, J. L., Benhamou, E., Bond, R. L., van Leeuwen, J. E. P., Hardy, C. J. D., Rohrer, J. D., & Warren, J. D. (2019). Frontotemporal Dementia: A Clinical Review. Semin Neurol, 39(2), 251-263.
- Skibinski, G., Parkinson, N. J., Brown, J. M., Chakrabarti, L., Lloyd, S. L., Hummerich, H., Nielsen, J. E., Hodges, J. R., Spillantini, M. G., Thusgaard, T., Brandner, S., Brun, A., Rossor, M. N., Gade, A., Johannsen, P., Sørensen, S. A., Gydesen, S., Fisher, E. M., & Collinge, J. (2005). Mutations in the endosomal ESCRTIII-complex subunit CHMP2B in frontotemporal dementia. *Nat Genet*, *37*(8), 806-808.
- Smeyers, J., Banchi, E. G., & Latouche, M. (2021). C9ORF72: What It Is, What It Does, and Why It Matters. *Front Cell Neurosci, 15*, 661447.
- Snowden, J. S., Rollinson, S., Thompson, J. C., Harris, J. M., Stopford, C. L., Richardson, A. M., Jones, M., Gerhard, A., Davidson, Y. S., Robinson, A., Gibbons, L., Hu, Q., DuPlessis, D., Neary, D., Mann, D. M., & Pickering-Brown, S. M. (2012). Distinct clinical and pathological characteristics of frontotemporal dementia associated with C9ORF72 mutations. *Brain*, *135*(Pt 3), 693-708.

- Spataro, R., Ficano, L., Piccoli, F., & La Bella, V. (2011). Percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: effect on survival. *J Neurol Sci, 304*(1-2), 44-48.
- Spillantini, M. G., Murrell, J. R., Goedert, M., Farlow, M. R., Klug, A., & Ghetti, B. (1998). Mutation in the tau gene in familial multiple system tauopathy with presenile dementia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95(13), 7737-7741.
- Spiller, K. J., Restrepo, C. R., Khan, T., Dominique, M. A., Fang, T. C., Canter, R. G., Roberts, C. J., Miller, K. R., Ransohoff, R. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2018). Microglia-mediated recovery from ALS-relevant motor neuron degeneration in a mouse model of TDP-43 proteinopathy. *Nat Neurosci, 21*(3), 329-340.
- Sreedharan, J., Blair, I. P., Tripathi, V. B., Hu, X., Vance, C., Rogelj, B., Ackerley, S., Durnall, J. C., Williams, K. L., Buratti, E., Baralle, F., de Belleroche, J., Mitchell, J. D., Leigh, P. N., Al-Chalabi, A., Miller, C. C., Nicholson, G., & Shaw, C. E. (2008). TDP-43 mutations in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science*, *319*(5870), 1668-1672.
- St-Amour, I., Paré, I., Alata, W., Coulombe, K., Ringuette-Goulet, C., Drouin-Ouellet, J., Vandal, M., Soulet, D., Bazin, R., & Calon, F. (2013). Brain bioavailability of human intravenous immunoglobulin and its transport through the murine blood-brain barrier. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, *33*(12), 1983-1992.
- Stallings, N. R., Puttaparthi, K., Luther, C. M., Burns, D. K., & Elliott, J. L. (2010). Progressive motor weakness in transgenic mice expressing human TDP-43. *Neurobiol Dis*, *40*(2), 404-414.
- Sternburg, E. L., Gruijs da Silva, L. A., & Dormann, D. (2022). Post-translational modifications on RNA-binding proteins: accelerators, brakes, or passengers in neurodegeneration? *Trends Biochem Sci*, 47(1), 6-22.
- Strong, M. J., Volkening, K., Hammond, R., Yang, W., Strong, W., Leystra-Lantz, C., & Shoesmith, C. (2007). TDP43 is a human low molecular weight neurofilament (hNFL) mRNA-binding protein. *Mol Cell Neurosci, 35*(2), 320-327.
- Strong, M. J., Grace, G. M., Freedman, M., Lomen-Hoerth, C., Woolley, S., Goldstein, L. H., Murphy, J., Shoesmith, C., Rosenfeld, J., Leigh, P. N., Bruijn, L., Ince, P., & Figlewicz, D. (2009). Consensus criteria for the diagnosis of frontotemporal cognitive and behavioural syndromes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler, 10*(3), 131-146.
- Suk, T. R., & Rousseaux, M. W. C. (2020). The role of TDP-43 mislocalization in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Mol Neurodegener*, 15(1), 45.
- Sun, C. S., Wang, C. Y., Chen, B. P., He, R. Y., Liu, G. C., Wang, C. H., Chen, W., Chern, Y., & Huang, J. J. (2014). The influence of pathological mutations and proline substitutions in TDP-43 glycine-rich peptides on its amyloid properties and cellular toxicity. *PLoS One*, 9(8), e103644.
- Sun, Y., Arslan, P. E., Won, A., Yip, C. M., & Chakrabartty, A. (2014). Binding of TDP-43 to the 3'UTR of its cognate mRNA enhances its solubility. *Biochemistry*, *53*(37), 5885-5894.
- Sunde, M., Serpell, L. C., Bartlam, M., Fraser, P. E., Pepys, M. B., & Blake, C. C. (1997). Common core structure of amyloid fibrils by synchrotron X-ray diffraction. *J Mol Biol,* 273(3), 729-739.
- Suzuki, H., Lee, K., & Matsuoka, M. (2011). TDP-43-induced death is associated with altered regulation of BIM and Bcl-xL and attenuated by caspase-mediated TDP-43 cleavage. *J Biol Chem, 286*(15), 13171-13183.
- Swanson, M. E. V., Mrkela, M., Murray, H. C., Cao, M. C., Turner, C., Curtis, M. A., Faull, R. L. M., Walker, A. K., & Scotter, E. L. (2023). Microglial CD68 and L-ferritin upregulation in response to phosphorylated-TDP-43 pathology in the amyotrophic lateral sclerosis brain. *Acta Neuropathol Commun*, *11*(1), 69.
- Swarup, V., Phaneuf, D., Bareil, C., Robertson, J., Rouleau, G. A., Kriz, J., & Julien, J. P. (2011). Pathological hallmarks of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/frontotemporal lobar degeneration in transgenic mice produced with TDP-43 genomic fragments. *Brain, 134*(Pt 9), 2610-2626.
- Swarup, V., Phaneuf, D., Dupre, N., Petri, S., Strong, M., Kriz, J., & Julien, J. P. (2011). Deregulation of TDP-43 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis triggers nuclear factor kappaB-mediated pathogenic pathways. J Exp Med, 208(12), 2429-2447.
- Tamaki, Y., Shodai, A., Morimura, T., Hikiami, R., Minamiyama, S., Ayaki, T., Tooyama, I., Furukawa, Y., Takahashi, R., & Urushitani, M. (2018). Elimination of TDP-43 inclusions linked to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis by a misfolding-specific intrabody with dual proteolytic signals. *Sci Rep, 8*(1), 6030.

- Tan, C. F., Eguchi, H., Tagawa, A., Onodera, O., Iwasaki, T., Tsujino, A., Nishizawa, M., Kakita, A., & Takahashi, H. (2007). TDP-43 immunoreactivity in neuronal inclusions in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with or without SOD1 gene mutation. *Acta Neuropathol, 113*(5), 535-542.
- Tan, J. M., Wong, E. S., Kirkpatrick, D. S., Pletnikova, O., Ko, H. S., Tay, S. P., Ho, M. W., Troncoso, J., Gygi, S. P., Lee, M. K., Dawson, V. L., Dawson, T. M., & Lim, K. L. (2008). Lysine 63-linked ubiquitination promotes the formation and autophagic clearance of protein inclusions associated with neurodegenerative diseases. *Hum Mol Genet*, *17*(3), 431-439.
- Tariq, A., Lin, J., Jackrel, M. E., Hesketh, C. D., Carman, P. J., Mack, K. L., Weitzman, R., Gambogi, C., Hernandez Murillo, O. A., Sweeny, E. A., Gurpinar, E., Yokom, A. L., Gates, S. N., Yee, K., Sudesh, S., Stillman, J., Rizo, A. N., Southworth, D. R., & Shorter, J. (2019). Mining Disaggregase Sequence Space to Safely Counter TDP-43, FUS, and α-Synuclein Proteotoxicity. *Cell Rep, 28*(8), 2080-2095.e2086.
- Tashiro, Y., Urushitani, M., Inoue, H., Koike, M., Uchiyama, Y., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Yamazaki, M., Abe, M., Misawa, H., Sakimura, K., Ito, H., & Takahashi, R. (2012). Motor neuron-specific disruption of proteasomes, but not autophagy, replicates amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Biol Chem*, 287(51), 42984-42994.
- Tavella, D., Zitzewitz, J. A., & Massi, F. (2018). Characterization of TDP-43 RRM2 Partially Folded States and Their Significance to ALS Pathogenesis. *Biophys J, 115*(9), 1673-1680.
- Taylor, L. M., McMillan, P. J., Liachko, N. F., Strovas, T. J., Ghetti, B., Bird, T. D., Keene, C. D., & Kraemer, B. C. (2018). Pathological phosphorylation of tau and TDP-43 by TTBK1 and TTBK2 drives neurodegeneration. *Mol Neurodegener, 13*(1), 7.
- Tollervey, J. R., Curk, T., Rogelj, B., Briese, M., Cereda, M., Kayikci, M., Konig, J., Hortobagyi, T., Nishimura, A. L., Zupunski, V., Patani, R., Chandran, S., Rot, G., Zupan, B., Shaw, C. E., & Ule, J. (2011). Characterizing the RNA targets and position-dependent splicing regulation by TDP-43. *Nat Neurosci,* 14(4), 452-458.
- Tong, J., Huang, C., Bi, F., Wu, Q., Huang, B., Liu, X., Li, F., Zhou, H., & Xia, X. G. (2013). Expression of ALSlinked TDP-43 mutant in astrocytes causes non-cell-autonomous motor neuron death in rats. *EMBO J*, 32(13), 1917-1926.
- Tran, H. T., Chung, C. H., Iba, M., Zhang, B., Trojanowski, J. Q., Luk, K. C., & Lee, V. M. (2014). A-synuclein immunotherapy blocks uptake and templated propagation of misfolded α-synuclein and neurodegeneration. *Cell Rep*, 7(6), 2054-2065.
- Tremblay, C., St-Amour, I., Schneider, J., Bennett, D. A., & Calon, F. (2011). Accumulation of transactive response DNA binding protein 43 in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, *70*(9), 788-798.
- Treusch, S., Cyr, D. M., & Lindquist, S. (2009). Amyloid deposits: protection against toxic protein species? *Cell Cycle*, 8(11), 1668-1674.
- Trinklein, N. D., Murray, J. I., Hartman, S. J., Botstein, D., & Myers, R. M. (2004). The role of heat shock transcription factor 1 in the genome-wide regulation of the mammalian heat shock response. *Mol Biol Cell*, 15(3), 1254-1261.
- Tripathi, V., Ellis, J. D., Shen, Z., Song, D. Y., Pan, Q., Watt, A. T., Freier, S. M., Bennett, C. F., Sharma, A., Bubulya, P. A., Blencowe, B. J., Prasanth, S. G., & Prasanth, K. V. (2010). The nuclear-retained noncoding RNA MALAT1 regulates alternative splicing by modulating SR splicing factor phosphorylation. *Mol Cell*, 39(6), 925-938.
- Tsuiji, H., Inoue, I., Takeuchi, M., Furuya, A., Yamakage, Y., Watanabe, S., Koike, M., Hattori, M., & Yamanaka, K. (2017). TDP-43 accelerates age-dependent degeneration of interneurons. *Sci Rep*, 7(1), 14972.
- Tsuji, H., Arai, T., Kametani, F., Nonaka, T., Yamashita, M., Suzukake, M., Hosokawa, M., Yoshida, M., Hatsuta, H., Takao, M., Saito, Y., Murayama, S., Akiyama, H., Hasegawa, M., Mann, D. M., & Tamaoka, A. (2012). Molecular analysis and biochemical classification of TDP-43 proteinopathy. *Brain, 135*(Pt 11), 3380-3391.
- Tsuji, H., Nonaka, T., Yamashita, M., Masuda-Suzukake, M., Kametani, F., Akiyama, H., Mann, D. M., Tamaoka, A., & Hasegawa, M. (2012). Epitope mapping of antibodies against TDP-43 and detection

of protease-resistant fragments of pathological TDP-43 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 417*(1), 116-121.

- Turner, M. R., Cagnin, A., Turkheimer, F. E., Miller, C. C., Shaw, C. E., Brooks, D. J., Leigh, P. N., & Banati, R. B. (2004). Evidence of widespread cerebral microglial activation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an [11C](R)-PK11195 positron emission tomography study. *Neurobiol Dis*, 15(3), 601-609.
- Turner, M. R., Al-Chalabi, A., Chio, A., Hardiman, O., Kiernan, M. C., Rohrer, J. D., Rowe, J., Seeley, W., & Talbot, K. (2017). Genetic screening in sporadic ALS and FTD. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 88(12), 1042-1044.
- Udan-Johns, M., Bengoechea, R., Bell, S., Shao, J., Diamond, M. I., True, H. L., Weihl, C. C., & Baloh, R. H. (2014). Prion-like nuclear aggregation of TDP-43 during heat shock is regulated by HSP40/70 chaperones. *Hum Mol Genet, 23*(1), 157-170.
- Ulamec, S. M., Brockwell, D. J., & Radford, S. E. (2020). Looking Beyond the Core: The Role of Flanking Regions in the Aggregation of Amyloidogenic Peptides and Proteins. *Front Neurosci, 14*, 611285.
- Urushitani, M., Sato, T., Bamba, H., Hisa, Y., & Tooyama, I. (2010). Synergistic effect between proteasome and autophagosome in the clearance of polyubiquitinated TDP-43. *J Neurosci Res, 88*(4), 784-797.
- Uryu, K., Nakashima-Yasuda, H., Forman, M. S., Kwong, L. K., Clark, C. M., Grossman, M., Miller, B. L., Kretzschmar, H. A., Lee, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Neumann, M. (2008). Concomitant TAR-DNAbinding protein 43 pathology is present in Alzheimer disease and corticobasal degeneration but not in other tauopathies. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, *6*7(6), 555-564.
- Van Deerlin, V. M., Sleiman, P. M., Martinez-Lage, M., Chen-Plotkin, A., Wang, L. S., Graff-Radford, N. R., Dickson, D. W., Rademakers, R., Boeve, B. F., Grossman, M., Arnold, S. E., Mann, D. M., Pickering-Brown, S. M., Seelaar, H., Heutink, P., van Swieten, J. C., Murrell, J. R., Ghetti, B., Spina, S., Grafman, J., Hodges, J., Spillantini, M. G., Gilman, S., Lieberman, A. P., Kaye, J. A., Woltjer, R. L., Bigio, E. H., Mesulam, M., Al-Sarraj, S., Troakes, C., Rosenberg, R. N., White, C. L., 3rd, Ferrer, I., Lladó, A., Neumann, M., Kretzschmar, H. A., Hulette, C. M., Welsh-Bohmer, K. A., Miller, B. L., Alzualde, A., Lopez de Munain, A., McKee, A. C., Gearing, M., Levey, A. I., Lah, J. J., Hardy, J., Rohrer, J. D., Lashley, T., Mackenzie, I. R., Feldman, H. H., Hamilton, R. L., Dekosky, S. T., van der Zee, J., Kumar-Singh, S., Van Broeckhoven, C., Mayeux, R., Vonsattel, J. P., Troncoso, J. C., Kril, J. J., Kwok, J. B., Halliday, G. M., Bird, T. D., Ince, P. G., Shaw, P. J., Cairns, N. J., Morris, J. C., McLean, C. A., DeCarli, C., Ellis, W. G., Freeman, S. H., Frosch, M. P., Growdon, J. H., Perl, D. P., Sano, M., Bennett, D. A., Schneider, J. A., Beach, T. G., Reiman, E. M., Woodruff, B. K., Cummings, J., Vinters, H. V., Miller, C. A., Chui, H. C., Alafuzoff, I., Hartikainen, P., Seilhean, D., Galasko, D., Masliah, E., Cotman, C. W., Tuñón, M. T., Martínez, M. C., Munoz, D. G., Carroll, S. L., Marson, D., Riederer, P. F., Bogdanovic, N., Schellenberg, G. D., Hakonarson, H., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2010). Common variants at 7p21 are associated with frontotemporal lobar degeneration with TDP-43 inclusions. Nat Genet, 42(3), 234-239.
- van Dyck, C. H., Swanson, C. J., Aisen, P., Bateman, R. J., Chen, C., Gee, M., Kanekiyo, M., Li, D., Reyderman, L., Cohen, S., Froelich, L., Katayama, S., Sabbagh, M., Vellas, B., Watson, D., Dhadda, S., Irizarry, M., Kramer, L. D., & Iwatsubo, T. (2023). Lecanemab in Early Alzheimer's Disease. N Engl J Med, 388(1), 9-21.
- van Eersel, J., Ke, Y. D., Gladbach, A., Bi, M., Gotz, J., Kril, J. J., & Ittner, L. M. (2011). Cytoplasmic accumulation and aggregation of TDP-43 upon proteasome inhibition in cultured neurons. *PLoS One*, *6*(7), e22850.
- van Es, M. A., Veldink, J. H., Saris, C. G., Blauw, H. M., van Vught, P. W., Birve, A., Lemmens, R., Schelhaas, H. J., Groen, E. J., Huisman, M. H., van der Kooi, A. J., de Visser, M., Dahlberg, C., Estrada, K., Rivadeneira, F., Hofman, A., Zwarts, M. J., van Doormaal, P. T., Rujescu, D., Strengman, E., Giegling, I., Muglia, P., Tomik, B., Slowik, A., Uitterlinden, A. G., Hendrich, C., Waibel, S., Meyer, T., Ludolph, A. C., Glass, J. D., Purcell, S., Cichon, S., Nöthen, M. M., Wichmann, H. E., Schreiber, S., Vermeulen, S. H., Kiemeney, L. A., Wokke, J. H., Cronin, S., McLaughlin, R. L., Hardiman, O., Fumoto, K., Pasterkamp, R. J., Meininger, V., Melki, J., Leigh, P. N., Shaw, C. E., Landers, J. E., Al-Chalabi, A., Brown, R. H., Jr., Robberecht, W., Andersen, P. M., Ophoff, R. A., & van den Berg, L. H. (2009). Genome-wide association study identifies 19p13.3 (UNC13A) and 9p21.2 as susceptibility loci for sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat Genet, 41*(10), 1083-1087.
- van Es, M. A., Hardiman, O., Chio, A., Al-Chalabi, A., Pasterkamp, R. J., Veldink, J. H., & van den Berg, L. H. (2017). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet*, *390*(10107), 2084-2098.
- van Lengerich, B., Zhan, L., Xia, D., Chan, D., Joy, D., Park, J. I., Tatarakis, D., Calvert, M., Hummel, S., Lianoglou, S., Pizzo, M. E., Prorok, R., Thomsen, E., Bartos, L. M., Beumers, P., Capell, A., Davis,

S. S., de Weerd, L., Dugas, J. C., Duque, J., Earr, T., Gadkar, K., Giese, T., Gill, A., Gnörich, J., Ha, C., Kannuswamy, M., Kim, D. J., Kunte, S. T., Kunze, L. H., Lac, D., Lechtenberg, K., Leung, A. W., Liang, C. C., Lopez, I., McQuade, P., Modi, A., Torres, V. O., Nguyen, H. N., Pesämaa, I., Propson, N., Reich, M., Robles-Colmenares, Y., Schlepckow, K., Slemann, L., Solanoy, H., Suh, J. H., Thorne, R. G., Vieira, C., Wind-Mark, K., Xiong, K., Zuchero, Y. J. Y., Diaz, D., Dennis, M. S., Huang, F., Scearce-Levie, K., Watts, R. J., Haass, C., Lewcock, J. W., Di Paolo, G., Brendel, M., Sanchez, P. E., & Monroe, K. M. (2023). A TREM2-activating antibody with a blood-brain barrier transport vehicle enhances microglial metabolism in Alzheimer's disease models. *Nat Neurosci, 26*(3), 416-429.

- Vance, C., Rogelj, B., Hortobágyi, T., De Vos, K. J., Nishimura, A. L., Sreedharan, J., Hu, X., Smith, B., Ruddy, D., Wright, P., Ganesalingam, J., Williams, K. L., Tripathi, V., Al-Saraj, S., Al-Chalabi, A., Leigh, P. N., Blair, I. P., Nicholson, G., de Belleroche, J., Gallo, J. M., Miller, C. C., & Shaw, C. E. (2009). Mutations in FUS, an RNA processing protein, cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis type 6. *Science*, *323*(5918), 1208-1211.
- Vassilakopoulou, V., Karachaliou, C. E., Evangelou, A., Zikos, C., & Livaniou, E. (2021). Peptide-Based Vaccines for Neurodegenerative Diseases: Recent Endeavors and Future Perspectives. *Vaccines* (*Basel*), 9(11).
- Velebit, J., Horvat, A., Smolič, T., Prpar Mihevc, S., Rogelj, B., Zorec, R., & Vardjan, N. (2020). Astrocytes with TDP-43 inclusions exhibit reduced noradrenergic cAMP and Ca(2+) signaling and dysregulated cell metabolism. *Sci Rep, 10*(1), 6003.
- Verde, F., Otto, M., & Silani, V. (2021). Neurofilament Light Chain as Biomarker for Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Frontotemporal Dementia. *Front Neurosci,* 15, 679199.
- Vidarsson, G., Dekkers, G., & Rispens, T. (2014). IgG subclasses and allotypes: from structure to effector functions. *Front Immunol, 5*, 520.
- Vilchez, D., Saez, I., & Dillin, A. (2014). The role of protein clearance mechanisms in organismal ageing and age-related diseases. *Nat Commun, 5*, 5659.
- Volkening, K., Leystra-Lantz, C., Yang, W., Jaffee, H., & Strong, M. J. (2009). Tar DNA binding protein of 43 kDa (TDP-43), 14-3-3 proteins and copper/zinc superoxide dismutase (SOD1) interact to modulate NFL mRNA stability. Implications for altered RNA processing in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Brain Res, 1305, 168-182.
- Walker, A. K., Spiller, K. J., Ge, G., Zheng, A., Xu, Y., Zhou, M., Tripathy, K., Kwong, L. K., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2015). Functional recovery in new mouse models of ALS/FTLD after clearance of pathological cytoplasmic TDP-43. Acta Neuropathol, 130(5), 643-660.
- Walker, A. K., Tripathy, K., Restrepo, C. R., Ge, G., Xu, Y., Kwong, L. K., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2015). An insoluble frontotemporal lobar degeneration-associated TDP-43 C-terminal fragment causes neurodegeneration and hippocampus pathology in transgenic mice. *Hum Mol Genet, 24*(25), 7241-7254.
- Wang, A., Conicella, A. E., Schmidt, H. B., Martin, E. W., Rhoads, S. N., Reeb, A. N., Nourse, A., Ramirez Montero, D., Ryan, V. H., Rohatgi, R., Shewmaker, F., Naik, M. T., Mittag, T., Ayala, Y. M., & Fawzi, N. L. (2018). A single N-terminal phosphomimic disrupts TDP-43 polymerization, phase separation, and RNA splicing. *EMBO J*, 37(5).
- Wang, C., Duan, Y., Duan, G., Wang, Q., Zhang, K., Deng, X., Qian, B., Gu, J., Ma, Z., Zhang, S., Guo, L., Liu, C., & Fang, Y. (2020). Stress Induces Dynamic, Cytotoxicity-Antagonizing TDP-43 Nuclear Bodies via Paraspeckle LncRNA NEAT1-Mediated Liquid-Liquid Phase Separation. *Mol Cell*, 79(3), 443-458.e447.
- Wang, G., Yang, H., Yan, S., Wang, C. E., Liu, X., Zhao, B., Ouyang, Z., Yin, P., Liu, Z., Zhao, Y., Liu, T., Fan, N., Guo, L., Li, S., Li, X. J., & Lai, L. (2015). Cytoplasmic mislocalization of RNA splicing factors and aberrant neuronal gene splicing in TDP-43 transgenic pig brain. *Mol Neurodegener, 10*, 42.
- Wang, H. Y., Wang, I. F., Bose, J., & Shen, C. K. (2004). Structural diversity and functional implications of the eukaryotic TDP gene family. *Genomics*, 83(1), 130-139.
- Wang, I. F., Reddy, N. M., & Shen, C. K. (2002). Higher order arrangement of the eukaryotic nuclear bodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 99*(21), 13583-13588.
- Wang, I. F., Wu, L. S., Chang, H. Y., & Shen, C. K. (2008). TDP-43, the signature protein of FTLD-U, is a neuronal activity-responsive factor. J Neurochem, 105(3), 797-806.

- Wang, I. F., Guo, B. S., Liu, Y. C., Wu, C. C., Yang, C. H., Tsai, K. J., & Shen, C. K. (2012). Autophagy activators rescue and alleviate pathogenesis of a mouse model with proteinopathies of the TAR DNAbinding protein 43. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109(37), 15024-15029.
- Wang, P., Wander, C. M., Yuan, C. X., Bereman, M. S., & Cohen, T. J. (2017). Acetylation-induced TDP-43 pathology is suppressed by an HSF1-dependent chaperone program. *Nat Commun, 8*(1), 82.
- Wang, S. J., Wang, K. Y., & Wang, W. C. (2004). Mechanisms underlying the riluzole inhibition of glutamate release from rat cerebral cortex nerve terminals (synaptosomes). *Neuroscience*, 125(1), 191-201.
- Wang, W., Wang, L., Lu, J., Siedlak, S. L., Fujioka, H., Liang, J., Jiang, S., Ma, X., Jiang, Z., da Rocha, E. L., Sheng, M., Choi, H., Lerou, P. H., Li, H., & Wang, X. (2016). The inhibition of TDP-43 mitochondrial localization blocks its neuronal toxicity. *Nat Med*, 22(8), 869-878.
- Wang, X., Fan, H., Ying, Z., Li, B., Wang, H., & Wang, G. (2010). Degradation of TDP-43 and its pathogenic form by autophagy and the ubiquitin-proteasome system. *Neurosci Lett, 469*(1), 112-116.
- Wang, X., Ma, M., Teng, J., Che, X., Zhang, W., Feng, S., Zhou, S., Zhang, Y., Wu, E., & Ding, X. (2015). Valproate Attenuates 25-kDa C-Terminal Fragment of TDP-43-Induced Neuronal Toxicity via Suppressing Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Activating Autophagy. *Int J Biol Sci*, *11*(7), 752-761.
- Wang, Y. T., Kuo, P. H., Chiang, C. H., Liang, J. R., Chen, Y. R., Wang, S., Shen, J. C., & Yuan, H. S. (2013). The truncated C-terminal RNA recognition motif of TDP-43 protein plays a key role in forming proteinaceous aggregates. *J Biol Chem, 288*(13), 9049-9057.
- Watanabe, S., Inami, H., Oiwa, K., Murata, Y., Sakai, S., Komine, O., Sobue, A., Iguchi, Y., Katsuno, M., & Yamanaka, K. (2020). Aggresome formation and liquid-liquid phase separation independently induce cytoplasmic aggregation of TAR DNA-binding protein 43. *Cell Death Dis, 11*(10), 909.
- Watts, G. D., Wymer, J., Kovach, M. J., Mehta, S. G., Mumm, S., Darvish, D., Pestronk, A., Whyte, M. P., & Kimonis, V. E. (2004). Inclusion body myopathy associated with Paget disease of bone and frontotemporal dementia is caused by mutant valosin-containing protein. *Nat Genet*, *36*(4), 377-381.
- Wave Life Sciences. (23 May 2023). Wave Life Sciences Announces Topline Results from Phase 1b/2a FOCUS-C9 Study of WVE-004 for C9orf72-associated Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Frontotemporal Dementia. Wave Life Sciences. Retrieved December 6 2023 from https://ir.wavelifesciences.com/news-releases/news-release-details/wave-life-sciences-announcestopline-results-phase-1b2a-focus-c9
- Weber, F., Bohrmann, B., Niewoehner, J., Fischer, J. A. A., Rueger, P., Tiefenthaler, G., Moelleken, J., Bujotzek, A., Brady, K., Singer, T., Ebeling, M., Iglesias, A., & Freskgård, P. O. (2018). Brain Shuttle Antibody for Alzheimer's Disease with Attenuated Peripheral Effector Function due to an Inverted Binding Mode. *Cell Rep, 22*(1), 149-162.
- Wegorzewska, I., Bell, S., Cairns, N. J., Miller, T. M., & Baloh, R. H. (2009). TDP-43 mutant transgenic mice develop features of ALS and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106*(44), 18809-18814.
- Williams, K. L., Topp, S., Yang, S., Smith, B., Fifita, J. A., Warraich, S. T., Zhang, K. Y., Farrawell, N., Vance, C., Hu, X., Chesi, A., Leblond, C. S., Lee, A., Rayner, S. L., Sundaramoorthy, V., Dobson-Stone, C., Molloy, M. P., van Blitterswijk, M., Dickson, D. W., Petersen, R. C., Graff-Radford, N. R., Boeve, B. F., Murray, M. E., Pottier, C., Don, E., Winnick, C., McCann, E. P., Hogan, A., Daoud, H., Levert, A., Dion, P. A., Mitsui, J., Ishiura, H., Takahashi, Y., Goto, J., Kost, J., Gellera, C., Gkazi, A. S., Miller, J., Stockton, J., Brooks, W. S., Boundy, K., Polak, M., Muñoz-Blanco, J. L., Esteban-Pérez, J., Rábano, A., Hardiman, O., Morrison, K. E., Ticozzi, N., Silani, V., de Belleroche, J., Glass, J. D., Kwok, J. B., Guillemin, G. J., Chung, R. S., Tsuji, S., Brown, R. H., Jr., García-Redondo, A., Rademakers, R., Landers, J. E., Gitler, A. D., Rouleau, G. A., Cole, N. J., Yerbury, J. J., Atkin, J. D., Shaw, C. E., Nicholson, G. A., & Blair, I. P. (2016). CCNF mutations in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia. *Nat Commun*, *7*, 11253.
- Wils, H., Kleinberger, G., Janssens, J., Pereson, S., Joris, G., Cuijt, I., Smits, V., Ceuterick-de Groote, C., Van Broeckhoven, C., & Kumar-Singh, S. (2010). TDP-43 transgenic mice develop spastic paralysis and neuronal inclusions characteristic of ALS and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A, 107(8), 3858-3863.
- Winton, M. J., Igaz, L. M., Wong, M. M., Kwong, L. K., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2008). Disturbance of nuclear and cytoplasmic TAR DNA-binding protein (TDP-43) induces disease-like redistribution, sequestration, and aggregate formation. *J Biol Chem*, 283(19), 13302-13309.

- Wischik, C. M., Novak, M., Thøgersen, H. C., Edwards, P. C., Runswick, M. J., Jakes, R., Walker, J. E., Milstein, C., Roth, M., & Klug, A. (1988). Isolation of a fragment of tau derived from the core of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 85(12), 4506-4510.
- Witzel, S., Maier, A., Steinbach, R., Grosskreutz, J., Koch, J. C., Sarikidi, A., Petri, S., Günther, R., Wolf, J., Hermann, A., Prudlo, J., Cordts, I., Lingor, P., Löscher, W. N., Kohl, Z., Hagenacker, T., Ruckes, C., Koch, B., Spittel, S., Günther, K., Michels, S., Dorst, J., Meyer, T., & Ludolph, A. C. (2022). Safety and Effectiveness of Long-term Intravenous Administration of Edaravone for Treatment of Patients With Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol*, *79*(2), 121-130.
- Woerner, A. C., Frottin, F., Hornburg, D., Feng, L. R., Meissner, F., Patra, M., Tatzelt, J., Mann, M., Winklhofer, K. F., Hartl, F. U., & Hipp, M. S. (2016). Cytoplasmic protein aggregates interfere with nucleocytoplasmic transport of protein and RNA. *Science*, 351(6269), 173-176.
- Wolozin, B. (2012). Regulated protein aggregation: stress granules and neurodegeneration. *Mol Neurodegener*, 7, 56.
- Wu, L. S., Cheng, W. C., Hou, S. C., Yan, Y. T., Jiang, S. T., & Shen, C. K. (2010). TDP-43, a neuropathosignature factor, is essential for early mouse embryogenesis. *Genesis*, 48(1), 56-62.
- Wu, L. S., Cheng, W. C., & Shen, C. K. (2012). Targeted depletion of TDP-43 expression in the spinal cord motor neurons leads to the development of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-like phenotypes in mice. J Biol Chem, 287(33), 27335-27344.
- Xia, Q., Wang, H., Hao, Z., Fu, C., Hu, Q., Gao, F., Ren, H., Chen, D., Han, J., Ying, Z., & Wang, G. (2016). TDP-43 loss of function increases TFEB activity and blocks autophagosome-lysosome fusion. *EMBO J*, 35(2), 121-142.
- Xiao, S., Sanelli, T., Dib, S., Sheps, D., Findlater, J., Bilbao, J., Keith, J., Zinman, L., Rogaeva, E., & Robertson, J. (2011). RNA targets of TDP-43 identified by UV-CLIP are deregulated in ALS. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 47(3), 167-180.
- Xiao, S., Sanelli, T., Chiang, H., Sun, Y., Chakrabartty, A., Keith, J., Rogaeva, E., Zinman, L., & Robertson, J. (2015). Low molecular weight species of TDP-43 generated by abnormal splicing form inclusions in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and result in motor neuron death. *Acta Neuropathol*, 130(1), 49-61.
- Xu, L., Liu, T., Liu, L., Yao, X., Chen, L., Fan, D., Zhan, S., & Wang, S. (2020). Global variation in prevalence and incidence of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Neurol*, 267(4), 944-953.
- Xu, M., Zhu, L., Liu, J., Yang, Y., Wu, J. Y., & Wang, C. (2013). Characterization of beta-domains in C-terminal fragments of TDP-43 by scanning tunneling microscopy. *J Struct Biol, 181*(1), 11-16.
- Yamashita, M., Nonaka, T., Hirai, S., Miwa, A., Okado, H., Arai, T., Hosokawa, M., Akiyama, H., & Hasegawa, M. (2014). Distinct pathways leading to TDP-43-induced cellular dysfunctions. *Hum Mol Genet*, 23(16), 4345-4356.
- Yamashita, T., Hideyama, T., Hachiga, K., Teramoto, S., Takano, J., Iwata, N., Saido, T. C., & Kwak, S. (2012). A role for calpain-dependent cleavage of TDP-43 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis pathology. *Nat Commun, 3*, 1307.
- Yang, C., Tan, W., Whittle, C., Qiu, L., Cao, L., Akbarian, S., & Xu, Z. (2010). The C-terminal TDP-43 fragments have a high aggregation propensity and harm neurons by a dominant-negative mechanism. *PLoS One*, *5*(12), e15878.
- Yang, C., Wang, H., Qiao, T., Yang, B., Aliaga, L., Qiu, L., Tan, W., Salameh, J., McKenna-Yasek, D. M., Smith, T., Peng, L., Moore, M. J., Brown, R. H., Jr., Cai, H., & Xu, Z. (2014). Partial loss of TDP-43 function causes phenotypes of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111(12), E1121-1129.
- Yang, H., & Hu, H. Y. (2016). Sequestration of cellular interacting partners by protein aggregates: implication in a loss-of-function pathology. *Febs j, 283*(20), 3705-3717.
- Yang, Z., Lin, F., Robertson, C. S., & Wang, K. K. (2014). Dual vulnerability of TDP-43 to calpain and caspase-3 proteolysis after neurotoxic conditions and traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 34(9), 1444-1452.

- Yin, P., Guo, X., Yang, W., Yan, S., Yang, S., Zhao, T., Sun, Q., Liu, Y., Li, S., & Li, X. J. (2019). Caspase-4 mediates cytoplasmic accumulation of TDP-43 in the primate brains. *Acta Neuropathol*, 137(6), 919-937.
- Yu, H., Lu, S., Gasior, K., Singh, D., Vazquez-Sanchez, S., Tapia, O., Toprani, D., Beccari, M. S., Yates, J. R., 3rd, Da Cruz, S., Newby, J. M., Lafarga, M., Gladfelter, A. S., Villa, E., & Cleveland, D. W. (2021). HSP70 chaperones RNA-free TDP-43 into anisotropic intranuclear liquid spherical shells. *Science*, 371(6529).
- Zacco, E., Martin, S. R., Thorogate, R., & Pastore, A. (2018). The RNA-Recognition Motifs of TAR DNA-Binding Protein 43 May Play a Role in the Aberrant Self-Assembly of the Protein. *Front Mol Neurosci, 11*, 372.
- Zacco, E., Graña-Montes, R., Martin, S. R., de Groot, N. S., Alfano, C., Tartaglia, G. G., & Pastore, A. (2019). RNA as a key factor in driving or preventing self-assembly of the TAR DNA-binding protein 43. *J Mol Biol, 431*(8), 1671-1688.
- Zelko, I. N., Mariani, T. J., & Folz, R. J. (2002). Superoxide dismutase multigene family: a comparison of the CuZn-SOD (SOD1), Mn-SOD (SOD2), and EC-SOD (SOD3) gene structures, evolution, and expression. *Free Radic Biol Med*, *33*(3), 337-349.
- Zhang, K., Donnelly, C. J., Haeusler, A. R., Grima, J. C., Machamer, J. B., Steinwald, P., Daley, E. L., Miller, S. J., Cunningham, K. M., Vidensky, S., Gupta, S., Thomas, M. A., Hong, I., Chiu, S. L., Huganir, R. L., Ostrow, L. W., Matunis, M. J., Wang, J., Sattler, R., Lloyd, T. E., & Rothstein, J. D. (2015). The C9orf72 repeat expansion disrupts nucleocytoplasmic transport. *Nature*, *525*(7567), 56-61.
- Zhang, K., Daigle, J. G., Cunningham, K. M., Coyne, A. N., Ruan, K., Grima, J. C., Bowen, K. E., Wadhwa, H., Yang, P., Rigo, F., Taylor, J. P., Gitler, A. D., Rothstein, J. D., & Lloyd, T. E. (2018). Stress Granule Assembly Disrupts Nucleocytoplasmic Transport. *Cell*, *173*(4), 958-971.e917.
- Zhang, P., Fan, B., Yang, P., Temirov, J., Messing, J., Kim, H. J., & Taylor, J. P. (2019). Chronic optogenetic induction of stress granules is cytotoxic and reveals the evolution of ALS-FTD pathology. *Elife*, 8.
- Zhang, R., Chen, Y., Wang, X., Tian, H., Liu, H., Xiang, Z., Qi, D., Huang, J. H., Wu, E., Ding, X., & Wang, X. (2021). Spreading of pathological TDP-43 along corticospinal tract axons induces ALS-like phenotypes in Atg5(+/-) mice. *Int J Biol Sci, 17*(2), 390-401.
- Zhang, W., Tarutani, A., Newell, K. L., Murzin, A. G., Matsubara, T., Falcon, B., Vidal, R., Garringer, H. J., Shi, Y., Ikeuchi, T., Murayama, S., Ghetti, B., Hasegawa, M., Goedert, M., & Scheres, S. H. W. (2020). Novel tau filament fold in corticobasal degeneration. *Nature*, *580*(7802), 283-287.
- Zhang, Y. J., Xu, Y. F., Dickey, C. A., Buratti, E., Baralle, F., Bailey, R., Pickering-Brown, S., Dickson, D., & Petrucelli, L. (2007). Progranulin mediates caspase-dependent cleavage of TAR DNA binding protein-43. *J Neurosci, 27*(39), 10530-10534.
- Zhang, Y. J., Xu, Y. F., Cook, C., Gendron, T. F., Roettges, P., Link, C. D., Lin, W. L., Tong, J., Castanedes-Casey, M., Ash, P., Gass, J., Rangachari, V., Buratti, E., Baralle, F., Golde, T. E., Dickson, D. W., & Petrucelli, L. (2009). Aberrant cleavage of TDP-43 enhances aggregation and cellular toxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *106*(18), 7607-7612.
- Zhang, Y. J., Gendron, T. F., Xu, Y. F., Ko, L. W., Yen, S. H., & Petrucelli, L. (2010). Phosphorylation regulates proteasomal-mediated degradation and solubility of TAR DNA binding protein-43 C-terminal fragments. *Mol Neurodegener, 5*, 33.
- Zhang, Y. J., Caulfield, T., Xu, Y. F., Gendron, T. F., Hubbard, J., Stetler, C., Sasaguri, H., Whitelaw, E. C., Cai, S., Lee, W. C., & Petrucelli, L. (2013). The dual functions of the extreme N-terminus of TDP-43 in regulating its biological activity and inclusion formation. *Hum Mol Genet*, *22*(15), 3112-3122.
- Zhang, Y. J., Gendron, T. F., Grima, J. C., Sasaguri, H., Jansen-West, K., Xu, Y. F., Katzman, R. B., Gass, J., Murray, M. E., Shinohara, M., Lin, W. L., Garrett, A., Stankowski, J. N., Daughrity, L., Tong, J., Perkerson, E. A., Yue, M., Chew, J., Castanedes-Casey, M., Kurti, A., Wang, Z. S., Liesinger, A. M., Baker, J. D., Jiang, J., Lagier-Tourenne, C., Edbauer, D., Cleveland, D. W., Rademakers, R., Boylan, K. B., Bu, G., Link, C. D., Dickey, C. A., Rothstein, J. D., Dickson, D. W., Fryer, J. D., & Petrucelli, L. (2016). C9ORF72 poly(GA) aggregates sequester and impair HR23 and nucleocytoplasmic transport proteins. *Nat Neurosci, 19*(5), 668-677.
- Zhang, Z., Almeida, S., Lu, Y., Nishimura, A. L., Peng, L., Sun, D., Wu, B., Karydas, A. M., Tartaglia, M. C., Fong, J. C., Miller, B. L., Farese, R. V., Jr., Moore, M. J., Shaw, C. E., & Gao, F. B. (2013).

Downregulation of microRNA-9 in iPSC-derived neurons of FTD/ALS patients with TDP-43 mutations. *PLoS One, 8*(10), e76055.

- Zhao, P., Zhang, N., & An, Z. (2022). Engineering antibody and protein therapeutics to cross the blood-brain barrier. *Antib Ther*, *5*(4), 311-331.
- Zhao, W., Beers, D. R., Bell, S., Wang, J., Wen, S., Baloh, R. H., & Appel, S. H. (2015). TDP-43 activates microglia through NF-κB and NLRP3 inflammasome. *Exp Neurol*, *273*, 24-35.
- Zhou, F., Dong, H., Liu, Y., Yan, L., Sun, C., Hao, P., Liu, Y., Zhai, J., & Liu, Y. (2018). Raloxifene, a promising estrogen replacement, limits TDP-25 cell death by enhancing autophagy and suppressing apoptosis. *Brain Res Bull, 140*, 281-290.
- Zhou, Q., Lehmer, C., Michaelsen, M., Mori, K., Alterauge, D., Baumjohann, D., Schludi, M. H., Greiling, J., Farny, D., Flatley, A., Feederle, R., May, S., Schreiber, F., Arzberger, T., Kuhm, C., Klopstock, T., Hermann, A., Haass, C., & Edbauer, D. (2017). Antibodies inhibit transmission and aggregation of C9orf72 poly-GA dipeptide repeat proteins. *EMBO Mol Med*, 9(5), 687-702.
- Zhou, Q., Mareljic, N., Michaelsen, M., Parhizkar, S., Heindl, S., Nuscher, B., Farny, D., Czuppa, M., Schludi, C., Graf, A., Krebs, S., Blum, H., Feederle, R., Roth, S., Haass, C., Arzberger, T., Liesz, A., & Edbauer, D. (2020). Active poly-GA vaccination prevents microglia activation and motor deficits in a C9orf72 mouse model. *EMBO Mol Med*, *12*(2), e10919.
- Zhou, X., Sumrow, L., Tashiro, K., Sutherland, L., Liu, D., Qin, T., Kato, M., Liszczak, G., & McKnight, S. L. (2022). Mutations linked to neurological disease enhance self-association of low-complexity protein sequences. *Science*, 377(6601), eabn5582.
- Zhu, L., Xu, M., Yang, M., Yang, Y., Li, Y., Deng, J., Ruan, L., Liu, J., Du, S., Liu, X., Feng, W., Fushimi, K., Bigio, E. H., Mesulam, M., Wang, C., & Wu, J. Y. (2014). An ALS-mutant TDP-43 neurotoxic peptide adopts an anti-parallel β-structure and induces TDP-43 redistribution. *Hum Mol Genet, 23*(25), 6863-6877.
- Zhuo, X. F., Wang, J., Zhang, J., Jiang, L. L., Hu, H. Y., & Lu, J. X. (2020). Solid-State NMR Reveals the Structural Transformation of the TDP-43 Amyloidogenic Region upon Fibrillation. J Am Chem Soc, 142(7), 3412-3421.
- Zielinski, M., Röder, C., & Schröder, G. F. (2021). Challenges in sample preparation and structure determination of amyloids by cryo-EM. *J Biol Chem, 297*(2), 100938.
- Zou, Z. Y., Zhou, Z. R., Che, C. H., Liu, C. Y., He, R. L., & Huang, H. P. (2017). Genetic epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 88(7), 540-549.
- Zu, T., Gibbens, B., Doty, N. S., Gomes-Pereira, M., Huguet, A., Stone, M. D., Margolis, J., Peterson, M., Markowski, T. W., Ingram, M. A., Nan, Z., Forster, C., Low, W. C., Schoser, B., Somia, N. V., Clark, H. B., Schmechel, S., Bitterman, P. B., Gourdon, G., Swanson, M. S., Moseley, M., & Ranum, L. P. (2011). Non-ATG-initiated translation directed by microsatellite expansions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(1), 260-265.
- Zu, T., Liu, Y., Bañez-Coronel, M., Reid, T., Pletnikova, O., Lewis, J., Miller, T. M., Harms, M. B., Falchook, A. E., Subramony, S. H., Ostrow, L. W., Rothstein, J. D., Troncoso, J. C., & Ranum, L. P. (2013). RAN proteins and RNA foci from antisense transcripts in C9ORF72 ALS and frontotemporal dementia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *110*(51), E4968-4977.

## Acknowledgements

Writing the last and undoubtedly the most important chapter of my thesis also marks the end of a wonderful adventure. Looking back over the past few years, I remember many joyful and some challenging moments, all of which I am incredibly grateful for. During my time in the Eddie lab, I have been fortunate to meet a lot of great people and fantastic scientists from whom I have learned a lot both inside and outside the lab. So now is the time to say thank you.

**Eddie**, I am very grateful that you finally answered my emails and made me a part of your lab ③. Thank you for all the freedom you granted me, for your patience when my perfectionism drove you crazy again, for the long conversations about scientific and non-scientific topics that made us both laugh. But most of all, I want to thank you for always being human and very understanding, even during stressful times. Your curiosity is definitely contagious. It was an amazing time, and as unbelievable as it may sound, I loved coming to the lab every single day.

I would also like to express my gratitude to **Prof. Christian Haass** for his guidance and for setting up such a fantastic lab infrastructure. I feel it is a great privilege to work in an environment where scientists can focus exclusively on their research. For young people, it is truly motivating to see your enduring passion for science.

Of course, I would also like to thank all the current and former members of the Eddie Lab, whose support has carried me through my PhD studies. **Carina**, without your help I would have been lost in the beginning. Thank you for teaching me so much and for always remaining friendly and humorous despite my countless questions. **Martin** (*"A bissel was geht immer"*), thank you for standing up for me and sharing your *in vivo* expertise with me (in an adorably chaotic way). **Daniel**, you lovable madman, you supported me whenever and wherever you could. This included providing me with more than enough sweets. I couldn't have imagined a better person to sit next to, not only because of (or rather "in spite of") this. I would like to thank **Hanne** (aka *Piefke*), especially for all the funny and nonsense chats in the lab. **Mareike** (aka *Zenzi*), thank you for tolerating me in the lab for so long and for "stealing some of Eddie's attention" while we finished our publications. **Katie**, thank you for sharing your wisdom on TDP-43 and for being such a cordial and thoughtful person. **Qihui**, I have always been grateful for your advice on all experimental challenges and immunological questions - I am sure you will continue on your successful path. Many thanks also to **Bahram** for the great time we spent together in the lab and at the retreat in Garmisch.

**Ali**, I have very much appreciated your advice on all kinds of PC issues, your critical thinking, and the many interesting conversations. **Eszter**, thank you so much for your support, not only with the immunoassays, but also with all my questions beyond that. Thank you, **Francesca**, for establishing the numerous *in vitro* assays in our lab and for being an amazing guide in

Trieste. Furthermore, I would also like to thank **Virág** (don't panic, everything will work out eventually!), **Meike**, **Niko** (I wish you would have stayed longer!), **Elisabeth**, **Berkcan**, **Jonas**, **Miki**, **Chao** and **Jianxin** for all their support. Thanks also to **Alexa** for being such a great help - I really hope I was able to show you that the lab can be a fun place to work.

Beyond the Eddie lab, I would like to thank everyone in the **Behrends** group (especially **Franzi**, **Karsten**, **Laura**, **Julia**, **Alex**, **Lukas** and **Susa** - thank you for the first aid and holding up the Hessian flag; what a nice coincidence that we met here again), the **Haass** group (especially **Georg**, **Anika**, **Brigitte**, **Marvin**) and the **Steiner** group (particularly **Johannes** - thank you for the first mountain tour in the Alps!, **Lukas**, **Nadine**) and everyone else on the 3<sup>rd</sup> floor for the excellent working atmosphere, the willingness to help with seemingly unsolvable problems and the uncomplicated exchange of material and knowledge.

A special thanks goes to the animal caretakers as well as to **Sabine**, **Marcel** (*"Ei Gude, wie?"*) and **Willi** for their logistical support, especially in "urgent cases" (and there were more than enough of those). I would also like to thank all our collaborators, especially **Rubén** (I'm glad you didn't let me down with the proof-reading) and **Qiang** as well as **Doro** (I am very grateful for your constant support!), **Saskia** and **Lara**.

Finally, I would like to thank my **family** from the bottom of my heart. Thank you for supporting me in pursuing my goals, for tolerating my stubbornness, and for always being there for me, even though there are hundreds of kilometers between us. By far the most important person on this journey has been my **wife Jana** - thank you for accepting me for who I am, for having my back, for putting up with the long days and weekends in the lab, and for listening to my complaints when things didn't go as planned.

I could never have done this without your endless support and love - thank you for everything.

V

I will truly miss the Eddie lab and the environment it is embedded in...





## **Eidesstattliche Versicherung**

Riemenschneider, Henrick

Name, Vorname

Ich erkläre hiermit an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation mit dem Thema

## Exploring cellular toxicity mechanisms and immunotherapeutic potential of TDP-43 in ALS/FTD

selbständig verfasst, mich außer der angegebenen keiner weiteren Hilfsmittel bedient und alle Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen sind, als solche kenntlich gemacht und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen habe.

Ich erkläre des Weiteren, dass die hier vorgelegte Dissertation nicht in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form bei einer anderen Stelle zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht wurde.

München, den 31.07.2024

Henrick Riemenschneider

Unterschrift Doktorandin/Doktorand

Ort, Datum